
CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are invited to attend a Meeting of the 

PLANNING COMMITTEE

At: Council Chamber, Guildhall, Swansea

On: Tuesday, 7 February 2017

Time: 2.00 pm

Chair: Councillor Paul Lloyd

Membership:
Councillors: P M Black, A C S Colburn, D W Cole, A M Cook, M H Jones, 
E T Kirchner, H M Morris, P B Smith, M Thomas, D W W Thomas and T M White

The use of Welsh is welcomed.  If you wish to use Welsh please inform us by noon 
on the working day before the meeting.

AGENDA
Page No.

1  Apologies for Absence.

2  Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.
www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests

3  Minutes. 1 - 5
To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 
record.

4  Items for Deferral / Withdrawal.

5  Application to Register Land at Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses, 
Swansea as a Town or Village Green.

6 - 77

6  Determination of Planning Applications under the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990.

78 - 106

7  Planning Application 2016/1604 - 3 Lewis Street, St Thomas, 
Swansea.

107 - 119

8  Former Century Works - Appeal Decision. 120 - 128

9  Exclusion of the Public. 129 - 132

10  Enforcement Action. 133 - 134

www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests


Next Meeting: Tuesday, 7 March 2017 at 2.00 pm

Huw Evans
Head of Democratic Services 
Tuesday, 31 January 2017
Contact: Democratic Services - 636923



CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

HELD AT COUNCIL CHAMBER, GUILDHALL, SWANSEA ON TUESDAY, 
10 JANUARY 2017 AT 2.00 PM

PRESENT: Councillor P Lloyd (Chair) Presided

Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s)
P M Black A C S Colburn D W Cole
A M Cook M H Jones H M Morris
P B Smith D W W Thomas T M White

Also Present:
Councillors N J Davies, J A Hale, C E Lloyd, L J Tyler-Lloyd & C L Philpott

Apologies for Absence
Councillor(s): E T Kirchner and M Thomas

48 DISCLOSURES OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS.

In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City & County of Swansea, 
no interests were declared.

49 MINUTES.

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Planning Committee held on 6 December 2016 
be approved as a correct record.

50 ITEMS FOR DEFERRAL / WITHDRAWAL.

None.

51 GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES ON PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY.

The Head of Planning & City Regeneration presented a “for information” report which 
outlined the Welsh Government’s latest guidance on Public Rights of Way.

52 PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY - ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH ALONG HEOL 
RHYD, CRAIG CEFN PARC IN THE COMMUNITY OF MAWR.

Sandie Richards, Principal Lawyer presented a report on behalf of the Interim Head 
of Legal & Democratic Services to consider whether to accept or reject the 
application to make a Modification Order to record a public footpath along Heol 
Rhyd, Craig Cefn Parc on the Council’s Definitive Map and Statement of Public 
Rights of Way.

The background history, appraisal of the evidence submitted, objections and 
representations in support received were all outlined in the report. 

RESOLVED that the application be accepted and that modification order be made.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Planning Committee (10.01.2017)
Cont’d

53 DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS UNDER THE TOWN & 
COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990.

A series of planning applications were presented on behalf of The Head of Planning 
& City Regeneration.

Amendments to this schedule were reported and are indicated below by (#)

RESOLVED that:

(1) the undermentioned planning applications BE APPROVED subject to the 
conditions in the report and/or indicated below:

(Item 1) Planning Application 2016/1860 – 115 Rhydings Terrace, Brynmill, 
Swansea

Councillor Nick Davies (Local Ward Councillor) addressed the Committee and spoke 
against the application.

A visual presentation was provided.

#(Item 3) Planning Application 2016/1553 – 101 & 101A, Port Tennant Road, 
Swansea

Councillors C E Lloyd & J A Hale (Local Members) also addressed the Committee 
and spoke against the application.

A visual presentation was provided.

(Item 5) Planning Application 2016/1523 – Sun Alliance House, St Helen’s 
Road, Swansea

A visual presentation was provided.

Application approved in accordance with recommendation subject to the completion 
of a Section 106 agreement and the conditions outlined in the report.

2) the undermentioned planning applications BE REFUSED for the reasons set out 
below:

(Item 2) Planning Application 2016/3076/FUL – 124 St Helens Avenue, Brynmill, 
Swansea

Councillor Nick Davies (Local Ward Councillor) addressed the Committee and spoke 
against the application.

A visual presentation was provided.

Application REFUSED contrary to officer recommendations for the following reasons:
Page 2



Minutes of the Planning Committee (10.01.2017)
Cont’d

The proposal, in combination with existing Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
within St Helen’s Avenue will result in a harmful concentration and intensification of 
HMOs in the street and wider area. This cumulative impact will result in damage to 
the character of the area and social cohesion with higher levels of transient residents 
and fewer long term households and established families. Such impact will lead in 
the long term to communities which are not balanced and self-sustaining. As a result 
the proposal is contrary to Policy HC5 criterion (ii) of the Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan (2008) and the National Policy aims set out in Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 9, November 2016) of creating sustainable and inclusive mixed 
communities.

(3) the undermentioned planning application BE APRROVED and REFERRED to 
CADW subject to the amended conditions indicated below:

#(Item 4) Planning Application 2016/3287/LBC – Roman Bridge, Mill Lane, 
Mayals, Swansea

Gordon Gibson and Tim McCarthy (objectors) addressed the committee and spoke 
against the application.

Chris Grigson (applicant) addressed the committee and spoke in support of the 
application.

Councillors Linda Tyler-Lloyd and Cheryl Philpott (Local Ward Councillors) 
addressed the Committee and spoke in support of the application.

A visual presentation was provided.

Report Updated as follows:
1 late letter of observation reported. 1 late letter of objection reported. 8 late letters of 
support reported.

Conditions 1 & 2 amended to read as follows:

1. Within 3 months of the date of this decision a strategy for rectifying the 
planted side slopes, which shall include a plan for managing the vegetation, 
shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented on site within 3 months of the date of the 
approval of the details and planting shall thereafter take place in accordance 
with the approved strategy.

2. Within 3 months of the date of this decision a plan showing the re-siting of the 
gates and fence to a location outside the listed area, shall be submitted in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented on site within 3 months of the date of the approval of the details.

Page 3



Minutes of the Planning Committee (10.01.2017)
Cont’d

54 PLANNING APPLICATION 2016/1604 - CHANGE OF USE FROM RESIDENTIAL 
(CLASS C3) TO HMO FOR 4 PEOPLE (CLASS C4) - 3 LEWIS STREET, ST 
THOMAS, SWANSEA.

An updated report was presented on behalf of the Head of Planning & City 
Regeneration.  The application had been deferred under the two stage voting 
process at the Planning committee held on 6 December 2016 so that further advice 
could be provided with regard to the potential reasons for refusal raised by Members.

The main issues relating to the potential reasons for the refusal were detailed in the 
report, as well as the advice relating to the lawfulness or otherwise of the reasons 
and the advice relating to costs from the Welsh Office.

It was indicated that the officer recommendation of approval remained unchanged.

A visual presentation was provided.

Councillors Clive Lloyd and Joe Hale (Local Ward Councillors) addressed the 
Committee and spoke against the application.

RESOLVED the planning application BE DEFERRED  under the two stage voting 
process in order to require a parking survey of the street to be undertaken and 
consideration of impact of the development upon amenity by virtue of ‘other 
disturbance’ under Policy HC5 criteria (i).

55 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE ON HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION AND PURPOSE BUILT STUDENT ACCOMMODATION - DRAFT 
FOR CONSULTATION.

The Director of Place presented a report which provided an overview of the draft 
Houses in Multiple Occupation and Purpose Built Student Accommodation 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) document and sought authorisation to 
undertake a public and stakeholder consultation exercise.

The background to the proposed SPG, the Planning and Policy Context, the 
evidence base, proposed recommendations, areas to be affected and timescale of 
the consultation exercise were outlined

RESOLVED that the Draft SPG as attached at Appendix A to the report be approved 
for the purpose of public consultation. 

56 ADOPTION OF SHOP FRONT & COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE DESIGN GUIDE AS 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE.

The Director of Place presented a report which provided information to the 
Committee on the representations received during the recent consultation on the 
Shop Front & Commercial Frontage Design Guide and to agree the proposed 
amendments to the draft guide and adopt it as supplementary planning guidance 
(SPG).

Page 4



Minutes of the Planning Committee (10.01.2017)
Cont’d

RESOLVED that

1) the proposed amendments to the Shop Front & Commercial Frontage Design 
Guide as set out in appendix B to the report be agreed.

2)  the SPG, as amended, be approved.

3)  the Shop Front & Commercial Frontage Design Guide as Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) be agreed and adopted

The meeting ended at 4.20 pm

CHAIR

Page 5



Report of the Interim Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Planning Committee – 7 February 2017

APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AT TIRMYNYDD ROAD, THREE CROSSES,  
SWANSEA AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

Purpose: To inform the Committee of the recommendation 
of the Inspector 

Policy Framework: None

Statutory Tests: Section 15 Commons Act 2006

Reason for the Decision: The Authority has a statutory duty to determine 
the application

Consultation: Legal, Finance, Planning and Local Members

Recommendation It is recommended that: 
1) the application for the above registration be 

GRANTED other than the part of the 
application land consisting of a length of 
public highway known as Orchard Drive.;

2) that the land of the application site OTHER 
THAN the part of the application land 
consisting of a length of public highway 
known as Orchard Drive be added to the 
Register of Town or Village Greens under 
Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.

3)       that a note be included in the Register of 
Common Land that the land of the 
amended application site is also included in 
the Register of Town or Village Greens, and 
that a corresponding note be included with 
the new entry to be inserted in the Register 
of Town or Village Greens.

Report Author: Sandie Richards

Finance Officer: Paul Roach

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Phil Couch

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Council has received an application by the Three Crosses Community 
Council.  The application seeks to register land as a Town or Village Green.  
A plan of the land in question appears as Appendix 1.

2.0 History of the Application

2.1 The land is owned by the Somerset Trust and is already registered as 
common land.  There have been a number of objections to the application, 
one from Geraint John Planning Limited, on behalf of both the Somerset Trust 
and Edenstone Homes Limited and a separate one on behalf of the Gower 
Commoners’ Association.  

2.2 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services has delegated authority to 
instruct Counsel to act as Inspector and to advise on the application and the 
appropriate procedure to be adopted in determining the application including 
whether a public inquiry would be necessary to consider the application.  Mr. 
Alun Alesbury, MA, Barrister-at-law was instructed to advise.

3.0 The Remit of the Inspector

3.1 The role of the Inspector was to act on behalf of the Council solely in its role 
as Commons Registration Authority.  The Inspector had no involvement with 
the Council in its capacity of landowner. 

3.2 Mr. Alesbury is a recognised expert in this area of law and has been 
appointed on numerous occasions to advise on applications and to hold public 
inquiries in relation to village green applications both by the City & County of 
Swansea and other local authorities throughout England and Wales.

3.3 A public inquiry took place over two days on 25th and 26th October 2016 to 
consider the evidence.

4.0 The Role of this Committee

4.1 The Inspector’s findings are not binding on this Committee.  It is for the 
Committee to reach its own determination on the matters of fact and law 
arising as a result of the Application.

4.2 It is for this Committee to determine the Application fairly, putting aside any 
considerations for the desirability of the land being registered as a Town or 
Village Green or being put to other uses.

4.3 However, the Inspector has had the opportunity to assess the written 
evidence of all parties in light of the legislation and relevant case law.  He has 
also had the opportunity of listening to evidence presented on oath at the 
public inquiry.  It is therefore not appropriate for this Committee to re-open 

Page 7



issues regarding the quality of the evidence unless they have extremely 
strong reasons to do so.

5.0 The Legal Tests to be Satisfied

5.1 The Commons Act 2006 is the statutory regime governing village greens.  
Section 15 of the Act sets out the requirements which must be met if the land 
is to be registered.  Registration of town and village greens is determined by 
the Council in its capacity as Commons Registration Authority.  The process 
of determination of any application is focused on whether a village green has 
come into existence as a matter of law.

5.2 The tests to be satisfied in respect of an application for town or village green 
status are completely different to those involved for a planning application.  
The criteria relevant to the granting of a planning permission are, as a matter 
of law, completely different from those relevant to a Commons Act 
determination.  A Commons Act determination is entirely dependent on 
matters of fact relating to the past history of the land concerned and the legal 
consequences of those facts, once the facts have been established.  Views as 
to what ought to happen (or be permitted to happen) on the site in the future 
are completely irrelevant.

5.3 The application in this case was made under s.15(2) of the Commons Act 
2006.  That section applies where:

“a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years”

and

b) “they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 

5.4 The test can be broken down as follows:

“a significant number of the inhabitants . . . “

It is sufficient to show a general use by the local community as opposed to 
mere occasional use by trespassers.  It is not assessed by a simple 
headcount of users.

5.5 “. . . of the inhabitants of any locality or any neighbourhood within a locality”

This is not defined by any arbitrary margins and must be a recognised county 
division such as a borough, parish or manor.  An ecclesiastical parish can be 
a locality. It is acceptable for the users of the land to come ‘predominantly’ 
from the locality.  A neighbourhood must be clearly defined and have a 
sufficient cohesiveness.  It must also be within a locality.

5.6 “ . . . have indulged as of right . . . “

Page 8



Use ‘as of right’ is use without permission, secrecy or force.  The key issue in 
user ‘as of right’ is not the subjective intentions of the users but how the use of 
the land would appear, objectively, to the landowner.  Use is ‘as of right’ if it 
would appear to the reasonable landowner to be an assertion of a right.  
Permission by the landowner, perhaps in the form of a notice on the land, 
would mean that the use is not ‘as of right’.  Equally use by force, such as 
where the user climbs over a fence or other enclosure to gain access to the 
land would not be use ‘as of right’.

5.7 If the use of the land is not sufficient in terms of frequency or regularity to 
reasonably bring it to the attention of a landowner, then it may be a secret use 
and have direct consequences upon it.  Another example of a secret use 
could be where the use takes place exclusively under the cover of darkness 
such that it would not be reasonable to expect a landowner to become aware 
of it.

5.8 “in lawful sports and pastimes on the land . . .”

This is broadly interpreted so that general recreational use including walking 
with or without dogs and children’s play would all be included.

5.9 “. . . for a period of at least 20 years. . . .”

The application was dated 12th November 2015, and received by the Council 
as Registration Authority on or about that date, so that date represents the 
‘time of the application’, from which the relevant 20 year period needs to be 
measured (backwards) – subject only to the consideration which is given in 
the Inspector’s report whether Section 15(7)(b) of the 2006 Act relating to 
permission given after 20 years use already established, has any application 
to the present case.

6.0 Burden and Standard of Proof

6.1 In order for an application to be successful each aspect of the requirements of 
Section 15(2) must be strictly proven and the burden of proof in this regard is 
firmly upon the Applicant.  The standard of proof to be applied is ‘on the 
balance of probabilities’.  Therefore the Applicant must demonstrate that all 
the elements contained in the definition of a town or village green in section 
15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 have been satisfied.

6.2 This Committee must be satisfied based on the evidence and the report of the 
Inspector that each element of the test has been proven on the balance of 
probabilities.  In other words, it must be more likely than not that each element 
of the test is satisfied.

7.0 The Inspector’s Findings

7.1 The Inspector addresses each of the elements of the test in a Report dated 
21st December 2016 (which is attached as Appendix 2) and these are set out 
below.

Page 9



7.4 ”A significant number of the inhabitants”

This is addressed in paragraphs 11.7 to 11.10 of the Inspector’s Report.  He 
concludes (at paragraph 11.9) that the Applicant has produced ample 
evidence that significant, as opposed to ‘isolated’ or ‘sporadic’ numbers of the 
people of Three Crosses claim either to have used or seen others using the 
application land recreationally over considerable periods.
 

7.5 “Locality” or “neighbourhood within a locality”

These two criteria are addressed together in paragraphs 11.11 to 11.12 of the 
Inspector’s Report.  He concludes that the Applicant had defined the 
boundaries of the suggested neighbourhood of Three Crosses village on a 
plan in what appeared to him to be an entirely sensible way.

7.6 “Lawful sports and pastimes on the land”

This criteria is addressed in paragraphs 11.13 to 11.42 of the Inspector’s 
report.  The Inspector noted that a number of the major topics in dispute came 
under this sub-heading.

It is noted in the report that much of the application site was overgrown when 
visited by the Inspector in October 2016.  In coming to his recommendation 
the Inspector considered the collective impression given by all of the evidence 
which has been given by individuals, as to their own use, and the use of the 
land which they have seen being made by others, including oral evidence and 
evidence questionnaires 

He has formed the judgment (at paragraphs 11.24) that there was abundant 
evidence of significant use of the application land by residents of Three 
Crosses for “lawful sports and pastimes”, over several decades, going back 
much further than 20 years from the application.  However, he also states (at 
paragraph 11.25)  that it is clear that such use has undoubtedly become less 
intensive over the more recent decades, as vegetation has tended to grow up 
after the installation of cattle grids on the outer edge of the village which 
brought to an end the regular grazing of this land by most free-roaming 
animals.  

The Inspector takes the view (at paragraph 11.26) that changes over time 
(and in particular the general trend towards more overgrown-ness) in the 
vegetation on the land did cause a change in the pattern of usage of the land 
by local people.

He also takes the view (at paragraph 11.34) that use of the north-west to 
south-east public footpath across the land must be discounted from the claim, 
along with any activities which were merely incidentally to path usage.  
Likewise, the Inspector found that there was no evidence at all that the public 
carriageway (with pavements) of part of Orchard Drive which crosses the 

Page 10



south-eastern part of the site was ever used for any other purpose than that of 
public highway.

7.7 “As of right”
“. . . for a period of at least 20 years”
“. . . continue to do so at the time of the application”

All three of these criteria are considered together by the Inspector at 
paragraphs 11.43 to 11.54.  When considering the “as of right” criterion 
specific consideration is made by the Inspector of one licence granted on 28th  
September 2013 to the Common Good Trust of Three Crosses to cut/mow the 
land during the licence period and to take away the grass and trimmings.

Consideration is also given to another licence granted in the summer of 2014 
by letter to enable the re-installation at the extreme northern tip of the 
application land of replica fittings relating to an historic well which had 
previously been operational there.

The Inspector is of the view (at paragraph 11.49) that it seems to him 
impossible reasonably to construe a formal Licence given to a Common Good 
Trust merely to “cut/mow the Premises” as representing a sufficient 
‘permission’ to local inhabitants as a whole to use the land recreationally, so 
as to transform the position from the previously occurring ‘as of right’ use to 
use by permission, or ‘by right’.

Similarly, he finds it impossible to see how on any basis the second licence 
could have been argued expressly or implicitly to have given local people 
‘permission’ to use the application land generally for recreation, or ‘lawful 
sports and pastimes.’

The Inspector concludes (at paragraph 11.52) that on the balance of the 
evidence the ‘as of right’ recreational use of the land by the local people of 
Three Crosses has taken place continuously for a period going back much 
further than 1993, right through to September 2013 and beyond.

8.0 Formal Conclusion and Recommendations

8.1 The Inspector makes his formal conclusion and recommendations in 
paragraphs 11.61 to 11.62 of his report.  

8.2 It is his clear conclusion (at paragraph 11.61) that on the evidence and 
submissions in this case that the Applicant has succeeded in showing, on the 
balance of probabilities, that the criteria requisite for registration under section 
15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 are met.

8.3 The only exception to this relates to the part of the original application site 
consisting of a length of the public highway (carriageway plus footways either 
side) known as Orchard Drive.

 

Page 11



9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is RECOMMENDED that the application for registration be GRANTED for 
the reasons set out in Mr. Alesbury’s Advice and Recommendations other 
than the part of the application land consisting of a length of public highway 
known as Orchard Drive.;

2) that the land of the application site OTHER THAN the part of the application 
land consisting of a length of public highway known as Orchard Drive be 
added to the Register of Town or Village Greens under Section 15 of the 
Commons Act 2006.

3)       that a note be included in the Register of Common Land that the land of the 
amended application site is also included in the Register of Town or Village 
Greens, and that a corresponding note be included with the new entry to be 
inserted in the Register of Town or Village Greens

10.0 Equality and Engagement Implications

10.1 There are no Equality and Engagement implications to this report.

11.0 Financial Implications

11.1 The application land is not owned by this Council and as such there are no 
financial implications.

12.0 Legal Implications

12.1 None over and above those included in the body of the report.

Background papers:  Application file.

Appendices: Appendix 1: Plan of the original application site

Appendix 2: Advice and Recommendations of the Inspector, Mr. 
Alun Alesbury, M.A., Barrister at Law, dated 21st December 2016

Appendix 3: Plan showing area of land to be excluded from the 
application area.

Page 12



 

Area subject to application

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEACITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
Application for Registration of Town or Village GreenApplication for Registration of Town or Village Green

Section 15 Commons Act 2006Section 15 Commons Act 2006
Land at Three Crosses, SwanseaLand at Three Crosses, Swansea

Application No. 2733(S)Application No. 2733(S)

(c) Crown Copyright and Database Right 2015 Ordnance Survey 
100023509

(c) Hawlfraint a hawl cronfa ddata'r Goron 2015 Yr Arolwg Ordnans 
100023509Scale: 1:2500

Page 13



1 
 

COMMONS ACT 2006, Section 15 

 

 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA  

(Registration Authority) 

 

 

RE:  LAND AT TIRMYNYDD ROAD  

THREE CROSSES, SWANSEA 

 

 
 

 

 

REPORT OF THE INSPECTOR 

MR ALUN ALESBURY, M.A., Barrister at Law 

 

 

into 

 

 

AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER THE  

ABOVE-NAMED AREA OF LAND 

 

 

as 

 

 

TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



2 
 

CONTENTS: 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 

2. The Applicant and Application 

3. The Objector(s) 

4. Directions 

5. Site Visits 

6. The Inquiry 

7. THE CASE FOR THE APPLICANT – Evidence 

8. The Submissions for the Applicant 

9. THE CASE FOR THE OBJECTOR(S) – Evidence 

10. The Submissions for the Objector(s) 

11. DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

Appendix I   Appearances at the Inquiry 

Appendix II   List of new Documents produced in evidence 

Appendix III          Plan showing adopted public highway land near site 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. I have been appointed by the Council of the City and County of Swansea (“the 

Council”), in its capacity as Registration Authority, to consider and report on an 

application dated 12
th

 November 2015, and received by the Council on or very 

shortly after that date, for the registration of an area of open land to the east of 

Tirmynydd Road, and to the north of Chapel Road, Three Crosses, as a Town or 

Village Green under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  The site, and the 

whole of Three Crosses, are within the administrative area for which the Council is 

responsible. 

 

1.2. I was in particular appointed to hold a non-statutory Public Local Inquiry into the 

application, and to hear and consider evidence and submissions in support of it, and 

on behalf of those who had objected to the application (“the Objectors”).  Hence I 

was provided with copies of the original application and the material which had 

been produced in support of it, the objections duly made to it, and such further 

correspondence and exchanges as had taken place in writing from the parties.  Save 

to the extent that any aspects of that early material may have been modified by the 

relevant parties in the context of the Public Inquiry, I have had regard to all of it in 

compiling my Report and recommendations. 

 

 

2. THE APPLICANT AND APPLICATION 
 

2.1. The Application, accompanied by various documents, including letters, statements 

and completed evidence questionnaires in support, etc. was, as already noted, dated 

12
th

 November 2015; it was made on behalf of the Three Crosses Community 

Council (“the Community Council”).  The Community Council is therefore “the 

Applicant” for the purposes of this Report.  I will therefore generally refer to it as 

‘the Applicant’ or ‘the Community Council’ in the Report, according to which 

seems the more appropriate for the context.  The application form indicated that the 

application was based on subsection (2) of Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  

 

2.2. The application form put forward the area covered by the Three Crosses 

Community as the ‘locality’ relevant to the application, and the village of Three 

Crosses (whose boundaries were shown on a map accompanying the application) 

was proposed as the relevant ‘neighbourhood’ within that locality.  By the time of 

the Inquiry which I was appointed to hold, it had become apparent that the 

Community and Community Council of Three Crosses had only come into formal 

existence pursuant to a Statutory Instrument made in December 2011.  However 

evidence was given, and not challenged, to the effect that the area now covered by 

the Community of Three Crosses is the same as that which had been covered for 

several previous decades by an officially defined Polling District for the purpose of 

local elections.  In the event no party pursued an argument that the area covered by 

the present Community Council was incapable of being a legally recognised 

‘locality’.  Nor was any material issue raised as to the acceptability, in a legal 

sense, of the suggested ‘neighbourhood’ 

 

Page 16



4 
 

2.3. As far as the application site itself was concerned, reasonably clear boundaries 

were shown on a plan which accompanied the application.  However it became 

apparent during the Inquiry, and was confirmed visually at the formal site visit, that 

within the boundaries of the site as shown there exists a short, curving length of 

publicly adopted all-purpose highway (i.e. a vehicular carriageway with 

pavements/footways either side of it).  This forms part of the residential street or 

cul-de-sac known as Orchard Drive, and runs from Chapel Road at the southern 

end of the application site, around to serve the residential part of Orchard Drive, 

which is outside the application site, to the east (or more accurately north-east) of 

it. 

 

2.4. The Council, as well as being the Registration Authority for Commons Act 

purposes, is also the highway authority for the area including Three Crosses, and as 

such is in possession of plans showing the extent of publicly adopted highway in 

the vicinity.  With the agreement of the parties who participated in the Inquiry, 

such a plan covering the relevant area was obtained from the highway authority, 

and I will refer to it later in this Report, in the context of considering the precise 

extent and definition of any land here which could properly be registered as a town 

or village green in consequence of this application. 

 

2.5. As for the application site itself (apart from the small part of Orchard Drive which I 

have just referred to), it is an approximately triangular piece of open, generally 

unfenced land.  Its short southern side fronts the edge of Chapel Road.  Its long 

western side similarly fronts onto the edge of the carriageway of Tirmynydd Road.  

Only its long eastern (or north-eastern) side generally abuts the enclosed curtilages 

of residential properties.  A small number of those properties in fact gain vehicular 

(and no doubt also pedestrian) access via generally unmade-up tracks from 

Tirmynydd Road, across the northern part of the application site.  The more 

northerly of these tracks is in effect a single track, whereas the more southerly has 

a fork in it a little to the east of Tirmynydd Road, and appears thus to serve a 

number of properties off the application site to the east.  There is also a duly 

registered public footpath running up from Chapel Road at the south-eastern corner 

of the site to Tirmynydd Road close to the northern extremity of the site.  This 

footpath is close to, but not for the most part directly adjacent to, the eastern 

boundary of the site as a whole.  This public footpath also (inevitably) crosses the 

line of the publicly adopted Orchard Drive, which I have referred to above. 

 

2.6. It is appropriate that I should note here that the entirety of the application site is 

(and long has been) also already registered under the Commons Act, and its 

predecessor legislation, as ‘common land’, a circumstance which I shall address 

further, later in this Report.  

 

2.7. At the time(s) when I saw the site, much of it was (apart from the public footpath I 

have referred to, and a few other noticeable paths) fairly heavily covered with 

vegetation.  Some of this consisted of established (but mostly fairly small to 

medium-sized) trees and bushes, but the rest of it contained substantial amounts of 

bracken, brambles, and other assorted but generally low vegetation, typical of an 

area which has undergone a period without much maintenance or management  

having taken place. 

Page 17



5 
 

3. THE OBJECTOR(S) 
 

3.1. When the Council publicised the application, two letters of objection were received 

(as well as one representation in support). The first objection was submitted jointly 

on behalf of the Somerset Trust, understood to be the freehold owners of the 

application site, and Edenstone Homes Limited.  The other objection (which was 

extremely brief) was made on behalf of the Gower Commoners’ Association.  

 

3.2. By the time the Registration Authority proposed that an Inquiry should be held into 

this application, and in response to the Directions which are referred to below, it 

had appeared that the Somerset Trust had intended to play no further part in the 

proceedings (but to rely on the [joint] written objection which had been submitted 

on its behalf); whereas Edenstone Homes Limited, represented by solicitors, did 

intend to participate in the Inquiry, albeit calling no evidence, but relying on the 

original [joint] objection, and further written material, both evidential and by way 

of submissions/argument, which had been submitted on behalf of the company.  In 

the event however, Edenstone Homes Limited were not in fact represented at the 

Inquiry which I held, whereas the Somerset Trust were represented by Counsel 

(and instructing solicitors), who participated for the purpose of cross-examining the 

witnesses called for the Applicant, and the making of submissions on the case 

generally. 

 

3.3. Apart from making their original (brief) objection, the Gower Commoners’ 

Association played no further part in the proceedings. 

 

3.4. In explaining later in this Report what I understand to be the cases advanced on 

behalf of the Objectors, I shall, in the light of the somewhat unusual procedural 

circumstances outlined above, endeavour to summarise and consider the significant 

points eventually taken on behalf of all of the objectors, whether in their written 

submissions or material, or orally at the Inquiry. 

 

 

4.     DIRECTIONS 
 

4.1. Once the Council as Registration Authority had decided that a local Inquiry should 

be held into the application [and the objection(s) to it], it issued Directions to the 

parties, drafted by me, as to procedural matters in July 2016.  Matters raised 

included the exchange before the Inquiry of additional written and documentary 

material, such as any further statements of evidence, case summaries, legal 

authorities, etc.  The Applicant did indeed produce material in all these categories, 

in broad accordance with the Directions.   

 

4.2. As noted above, one of the Objectors (Edenstone Homes Limited) produced 

reasonably extensive further written material in response to the Directions, albeit 

without intending to call any oral evidence.  The other main Objector (the 

Somerset Trust) did not produce any new or expanded material in response to the 

Directions, but was in the event represented and participated substantially at the 

Inquiry.  These circumstances did not however cause any significant problems in 

terms of the smooth running of the Inquiry, or the obtaining of a proper 

Page 18



6 
 

understanding of all of the parties’ respective positions; in particular they did not in 

my view cause material unfairness to any of the parties, e.g. by making it difficult 

for them to understand the opposing case(s) which they were expected to meet. 

 

5. SITE VISITS 
 

5.1. As I informed the parties represented at the Inquiry, I had the opportunity on the 

day before the Inquiry commenced to see the application site, unaccompanied, 

albeit in poor weather.  I also observed the surrounding area generally. 

 

5.2. After the close of the Inquiry, on 26
th

 October 2016, I made a formal site visit to 

the site, accompanied by representatives of both the Applicant and the Somerset 

Trust (the Objector represented at the Inquiry).  In the course of doing so, I was 

able to observe the site more fully than I had previously been able to, and also once 

again to note parts of the surrounding area more generally.  The Inquiry venue was 

quite close to the application site, so I was also able to familiarise myself in a 

general way with the area on other occasions during the inquiry period. 

 

 

6. THE INQUIRY 
 

6.1. The Inquiry was held at the Crwys Primary School, Three Crosses, on 25
th

 and 26
th

 

October 2016. 

 

6.2. At the Inquiry submissions were made on behalf of both the Applicant and the 

Somerset Trust; oral evidence was heard from witnesses on behalf of the 

Applicant, and subjected to cross-examination and questions from me as 

appropriate.  With the agreement of the parties participating in the Inquiry, all of 

the oral evidence was heard on oath, or solemn affirmation.   

 

6.3. As well as the oral evidence, and matters specifically raised at the Inquiry, I have 

had regard in producing my Report to all of the written and documentary material 

submitted by the parties, including (as noted above) the material submitted in the 

earlier stages of the process by people or organisations who did not in the event 

appear at the Inquiry itself.  I report on the evidence, and the submissions of the 

parties, in the following sections of this Report, before setting out my conclusions 

and recommendation. 

 

 

7. THE CASE FOR THE APPLICANT – EVIDENCE 

Approach to the Evidence 

 

7.1. As I have already noted above, the original Application in this case was supported 

and supplemented by a number of documents; these included plans, statements, 

completed evidence questionnaires, and some other supporting material.  

 

7.2. Other written or documentary material was submitted on behalf of the Applicant 

[and also some of the Objectors], both in the early stages of the process, and in the 

run-up to the Inquiry.  Some of this consisted of written statements from witnesses 

Page 19



7 
 

for the Applicant who would in due course give evidence at the Inquiry itself.  

Additionally, the Applicant had provided a large number of further completed 

evidence questionnaires, in much greater number than those originally filed with 

the application. 

 

7.3. I have read all of the written material, and also looked at and considered the 

photographs and other documentary items with which I was provided, and have 

taken it all into account in forming the views which I have come to on the totality 

of the evidence. 

 

7.4. However, as is to be expected, and as indeed was mentioned in the pre- Inquiry 

Directions, and at the Inquiry itself, on some aspects of a case of this kind, more 

weight is likely to be accorded (where matters are in dispute) to evidence which is 

given in person by a witness, who is then subject to cross-examination and 

questions from me, than will necessarily be the case for mere written statements, 

etc., where there is no opportunity for challenge or questioning of the author. 

 

7.5. With these considerations in mind, I do not think it is generally necessary for me 

specifically to summarise in this Report such personal evidence as was contained 

in statements, letters, completed evidence questionnaires, etc., by individuals who 

gave no oral evidence.  In general terms it was broadly consistent with the tenor of 

the evidence given by the oral witnesses, and nothing stands out as particularly 

needing to have special, individual attention drawn to it by me. 

 

7.6. In any event all of the written and documentary material I have referred to is 

available to the Registration Authority as supplementary background material to 

this Report, and may be referred to as necessary. 

 

 

The oral evidence for the Applicant 

7.7. Ms Vanessa Cashmore lives at 22 Chapel Road, Three Crosses.  She had 

completed one of the later batch of evidence questionnaires which had been 

supplied in support of the Application. 

 

7.8. She has lived in Three Crosses since August 2001, and has enjoyed using the green 

space at the bottom of Chapel Road and Tirmynydd Road (the application site) 

since that time.  Her four children, her husband and she herself enjoy walking 

through that area with their dog nearly every day.  As the site is free from traffic 

her children are safe to play on the land, and enjoy the wild flowers that grow 

there.  The site is also of historic significance to Three Crosses, as it is the site of 

one of the two wells that used to serve the village. 

 

7.9. She and her family also use the paths on the site as a safe route to walk to the 

village shop, and she knows that many others do too.  As part of the 

Parent/Teachers Association for the local school, and as organiser of the annual 

village treasure hunt and barbecue, she has used the application site land to send 

Page 20



8 
 

children and their parents safely through the area following clues, for many years.  

Many other people use the application site land in the ways she has mentioned.   

 

 

7.10. She started working with the Parent/Teachers Association in 2003, when her 

children attended nursery.  There is an annual treasure hunt and barbecue event, 

part of which takes place on this land.  However the barbecue itself is held at the 

school or the community centre, not on the application site. 

 

7.11. She and her family walk their dogs regularly on the land.  They walk off the 

footpaths, and use the area to wander round.  Their children go off the path, for 

example chasing the dog, or playing hide and seek and so forth.  She herself is a 

geography teacher by occupation. 

 

7.12. In cross-examination Ms Cashmore said that the paths on the application site are a 

safe route.  She herself lives 100 metres down Chapel Road from the site, on the 

south side.  The village shop is further to the north than the application site, up 

Tirmynydd Road. 

 

7.13. Her family like to use the path that was cut through the vegetation on the site.  

They sometimes go on the area that has been cut near the edge of the road, but 

usually on the grassy area.  They are probably more likely to walk on the area of 

cut grass near the public right of way that crosses the land.  Or they might walk on 

a newly cut path on the land, which has been there since about 2013. 

 

7.14. The application site is quite beautiful at some times of the year, she said.  She 

thought that the vegetation on the land had been cut before 2013 as well.  It was 

mowed before 2013, for example when she had her baby Esther in 2008, she 

thought.  However she had no photos of the land.  She thought that the Council had 

used to cut the land. 

 

7.15. The local treasure hunt she was involved with had taken place for at least five years 

and has continued to exist since then.  It had re-started in 2003/4 she thought.  It 

was brought back then in association with the village fete.  The treasure hunt would 

follow a route around the village.  It generally follows footpaths rather than roads, 

for the safety of the children.   

 

7.16. The application site would generally be regarded as the centre of Three Crosses.  

There had also been scavenger hunts held which made use of the land.  In these 

children would be asked to collect items, for example cones.   

 

7.17. The grassy part of the application near Tirmynydd Road is quite a wide area.  

Children play particularly on the grassy areas of the application site, near the 

western and southern boundaries.  They would play all sorts of games jumping or 

leaping about.  Children also play in the area near the well at the northern end of 

the site, and by the tracks across the land, opposite Cilonnen Road. 

Page 21



9 
 

 

7.18. In  re-examination Ms Cashmore said that they had not usually placed ‘treasures’ 

for the treasure hunt in amongst the vegetation on the land, but the children might 

have to go off the paths to scavenge things, for example to obtain blackberries or 

perhaps a feather. 

 

7.19. Mr Wynne Griffiths lives at 17 Joiners Road, Three Crosses.  He had completed 

one of the original group of evidence questionnaires lodged in support of the 

application.  He had lived in Three Crosses since November 1955, the time of his 

birth.   

 

7.20. Having been a resident of Three Crosses since his birth, he grew up and spent all 

his formative years in and around the village, and attended the village school.  His 

mother and father had both been born within the village, as were both of his 

grandfathers; indeed his great grandfather had founded the Chapel in the village in 

the 19
th

 century. 

 

7.21. The application site, which is sometimes as referred to as Tirmynydd Green, has 

been used regularly by residents of the village throughout all his lifetime.   The 

area has always had open access, and no attempt has ever been made to prevent its 

use.  No-one has ever to his knowledge had to seek permission to use the land. 

 

7.22. In his youth the land was regularly grazed by, at various times, sheep, cattle, horses 

and geese.  He could even remember some tethered goats on there.  Large parts of 

the site were in those days clear enough and dry enough for all sorts of games, 

rugby and football being the most common.  There were some bramble and gorse 

patches which lent themselves to hide and seek, cowboys and Indians or war 

games.  It was also a good area for flying kites.  He had friends at that end of the 

village, and played there most days when in primary school.  His friends had lived 

near the application site. 

 

7.23. At various times village carnival floats were set up there on the land, as the 

community came together for fun.  For a number of years large bonfires would be 

built there, sometimes weeks in advance, ready for communal celebrations on 

November 5
th

.  As children they collected anything they could find that would 

burn, and added it to the pyre.  No-one ever complained or tried to prevent this, and 

indeed the village police constable often attended the event. 

 

7.24. Since the enclosure of the area of the village from the rest of the wider area of 

common, with the associated installation of a cattle grid, grazing on the application 

site more or less ceased, except for a few tethered goats for a while.  Some thickets 

prospered on the land, but most of the area was still cut.  At the end of the summer 

it was a great place for blackberries.  The Girl Guides and Brownies used the area 

for woodcraft skills and for practising outdoor cooking.  He himself used to help 

with that.   

Page 22



10 
 

 

7.25. The remains of the old well and pump always had a pool of water, which was 

excellent for frogspawn and tadpoles.  Having been brought up in a cottage 

adjoining that area before the First World War, his mother and her family had 

fetched all of their water from the pump on this land.  There was free access to the 

pump, and no-one paid for the water.  That pump had fallen into disuse in about 

1924 because of a colliery flooding, which had polluted the water. 

 

7.26. He used to take his dog to the site to run around sniffing for rabbits and chasing 

thrown sticks.  His own three children have all played there in a similar fashion, as 

they grew up within the village.  By their time the land was less open, but there 

was still plenty of access via cut or worn paths, making it ideal for hide and seek or 

racing around on a mountain bike.  The land was regularly used by most of their 

friends in the same way.  The land was also used as part of a regular route home 

from school by the children.  His own children were born in 1989, 1991 and 1996. 

 

7.27. When in the past the area had been generally cut with some regularity, not every 

single part of it was cut every time.  Similarly when the general cutting of the land 

stopped quite a few of the local residents still used to cut it.  This would happen 

especially on the eastern side of the site, to the east of the public footpath.   This 

cutting by residents also happened on the west side of Tirmynydd Road, off the 

present application site.  People also used to cut vegetation near the path in the 

northern part of the site by the village pump.   The goats he had referred to used to 

graze in the central part of the site, a little to the south of the access tracks leading 

to various properties across the site.  The goats were on a chain. 

 

7.28. He does not have any photographs of his children or others using the land.  People 

did not use to carry cameras around regularly or photograph ordinary playing 

activities.  Going around taking photographs might well have disturbed the 

neighbours.   

 

7.29. In cross-examination Mr Griffiths was asked to look at some photographs of the 

land included in a report by Geraint John Planning in January 2016 (part of the 

objection for the principal objectors).  He (Mr Griffiths) said that the northern or 

top end of the triangular site is one of the parts that used to be cut.  He confirmed 

that the part grazed by the goats had been near to the access tracks leading to some 

houses across the site.   

 

7.30. He agreed that many of the activities he had referred to in his evidence 

questionnaire as having been seen on the land related back to his own childhood in 

the 1960s.  There used to be a small pond near the pump.  That was not a pond that 

he had gone fishing in, however; there had been another pond off the site where he 

did that. 

 

Page 23



11 
 

7.31. The last bonfire that he could remember having taken place on the application site 

would have been in the 1970s, and his recollection of fetes being held on the land 

would probably have been from before the 1980s.   

 

7.32. As for bicycle riding on the land, that took place on the cut and worn paths on the 

land.  In his view, in the 1999 aerial photograph one could see little footpaths or 

tracks through the brambles.  These tracks would typically be a couple of feet 

wide.  His own son used to race around through all of those paths.   

 

7.33. He was not surprised at the lack of photographs of the land, because people used 

not to do the sort of activities which took place here, accompanied by a camera.  

Photography was kept for special occasions in those days. 

 

7.34. The bicycle riding he had seen on the land was generally on small mountain bikes 

or BMX-type bikes.  The small tracks through the land were more popular than the 

main official footpath, both with his own children and other children. 

 

7.35. The activities of the Girl Guides and Brownies that he had referred to were not 

from before the 1980s.  He thought they happened around 1999, the time of the 

earliest of the photographs in the Geraint John Report.  The children used to collect 

sticks, perhaps light a fire and do a bit of cooking of things held on a stick.  

However he had not taken photographs of the activity.  He had simply been one of 

the small number of helpers.   

 

7.36. There had been no local name which was specific for this green (the application 

site).  He had only seen names used for it in connection with this current 

application.  He had not known about any permission being given for cutting the 

vegetation on the land.  He himself had not been on the Community Council. 

 

7.37. In re-examination Mr Griffiths said that on the rougher parts of the application site, 

activities such as blackberrying would take place.  People out with dogs, especially 

small dogs like Terriers, would let those dogs go in and out through the brambles.  

His own son had had an action man doll with a parachute, which always seemed to 

end up in the brambles.  There were always people about on the land.   

 

7.38. As for the questions about the lack of photographs, he recalled that some time ago 

paranoia set in about taking pictures of other people’s children.  In his view there 

had been regular ‘non-organised’ use of this land.  There had never been any signs, 

and no-one ever thought of asking permission to use the land.  People just used it.  

This towards the latter part of the period had been mainly with dogs, or children 

playing, or people blackberrying.  When he himself had been a youngster the land 

was more usable as a sort of playing field.  The other playing field in the village 

had not existed then.   

 

Page 24



12 
 

7.39. In further cross-examination Mr Griffiths said that organised sports had moved 

south to the new playing field when that had been provided.  However that field is 

more out of the way.  The application site is more ‘on the way’ to places where 

people want to go.  Children would sometimes play there for a few hours, and 

perhaps go in and out of their houses and come out to play again.  This site is much 

nearer to houses than the formal playing field.  The very fact that there were 

organised games on the playing field would mean that children would play 

informally on the application site. 

 

7.40. In further re-examination Mr Griffiths said that children would play regularly on 

the land, most days, weather permitting, especially on their way to or from school.  

The land would also be used more informally on summer evenings, or during the 

school holidays. 

 

7.41. Mr David Phillips lives at Woodside View, 43 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses.  

He has been a resident of Three Crosses since 1960.  He had completed one of the 

original group of evidence questionnaires lodged with the application. 

 

7.42. The land in question is not fenced off in any way, and has been used by himself, 

family members and neighbours as long as he can remember.  He had been born 

and bred in the village, from 1960.  The land has been accessed freely without the 

need to seek permission at any time.  He has also witnessed other people enjoying 

the use of the land from the 1960s through to the present day.   

 

7.43. As a child he recalled the land being mainly well kept, with very little growth on it, 

aided by it being regularly grazed by horses and cattle.  The land was regularly 

used as a play area for local children including himself, where they regularly 

participated in games such as football and cricket, as well as cycling and general 

play.  The area was also regularly used for walking to school by himself and others.  

Families would use the area for local organised events such as annual bonfire night 

celebrations.  He had witnessed other people regularly using the land for dog 

walking and horse riding. 

 

7.44. As an adult he has witnessed his own children enjoying free unhindered access to 

the land as a play area with their friends, participating in team games, and also in 

general play and cycling.  School treasure hunts have also made use of the area, for 

the benefit of family and children’s entertainment. 

 

7.45. Since the installation of a cattle grid at the entrance to the village on Tirmynydd 

Road the use of the land for grazing has ceased.  That has allowed growth to 

develop on the land.  However the land is still regularly used by himself for dog 

walking, running and cycling.  He regularly sees others enjoying use of the land for 

horse riding, children playing and dog walking.  More recently it has been used by 

cycling clubs as a meeting point which can be regularly seen there, more so in the 

summer months. 

 

Page 25



13 
 

7.46. In summary, he has both used and witnessed the regular use of this land for many 

varied activities for over 50 years, through until the present day.  While the 

vegetation growth on the land has changed over the years, along with its use by 

himself and others, regular access to it has not.  It would be a great loss to the 

community if the continued free access to the land for the benefit were to be lost. 

 

7.47. As for people cutting the vegetation on the land, up until about 1999 it had been cut 

a number of times; he was not sure who had cut it but it certainly happened on a 

number of occasions.  The area in the middle part of the site near to the access 

tracks across it was regularly cut by neighbours through the 1990s and on into the 

2000s.  He personally lives on the west side of Tirmynydd Road.  Therefore it is a 

natural shortcut to go across the application land from his house.   

 

7.48. His own children were born in 1984 and 1988, and they regularly used the land on 

the application site as a shortcut to the village school.  They also used the land as a 

play area.  Even though it has been more overgrown in recent years, it still has 

been used as a play area, for the making of dens etc.  His own daughter fell out of a 

tree there either in the late 1990s or early 2000s.  There is also regular use of the 

land for dog walking. 

 

7.49. In cross-examination Mr Phillips said that while growing up he had lived next door 

to where he now lives.  Children crossing the site often go straight across from 

opposite Cilonnen Road to the south east corner of the land.  They go through the 

bracken, not down the public footpath.  His own children and other children he has 

seen do regularly go on such routes through the middle of the site.  The running on 

the site which he had mentioned is running to keep fit.  As part of this running he 

would cut across the application site.  More recently he has followed a cut track 

which has been made on the land.  Prior to that he would either run down the 

public footpath on the land or down the small paths within the site that the children 

also tended to use.  It would depend on how wet everything was.   He engages in 

cross-country running rather than road running. 

 

7.50. The land on the application site has been cut on a number of times over the years.  

When he goes on the site he does not go through the middle of clumps of gorse 

bushes, but there are always routes around brambles and gorse on the land.  

Cycling on the land would be more on the tracks which have existed on it.  His 

children on their BMX bikes cycled in and around the land generally.  Children 

tend to play within the land in question, i.e. all over it, whereas he when using the 

land nowadays would tend to look for a longer, more comfortable route.   

 

7.51. He has seen road cycling clubs meeting on the land, in the area near the tracks 

crossing the land to the houses on the east.  As for children playing team games on 

the land, or kicking a ball around, that too had typically been in the area just to the 

south of the access tracks across the land.  That area to the south of those access 

tracks was generally kept rather clearer than some other parts of the land.  Other 

areas generally kept clearer of vegetation have been the areas near the public 

Page 26



14 
 

footpath, to the west of it, as well as the area to the south of the cross track; that 

had been an area quite well used by children for playing ball games.  Children 

would build dens or climb trees and so forth, generally in among the growth on the 

site. 

 

7.52. The cycling clubs that he had seen on the site he thought were probably not local 

people from Three Crosses.  He had also seen horse riders on the land who he did 

not recognise, so they also might not be local people.  

 

7.53. In re-examination Mr Phillips said that the vegetation on the land is not the same 

the whole year through.  It is easier to access the land more widely in the winter 

than during the summer months. 

 

7.54. Mr (Henry) John Hobbs lives at 41 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses.  He had 

completed one of the original evidence questionnaires lodged with the application. 

 

7.55. He had been resident in Three Crosses since 1967.  Before the cattle grid was 

installed children, including his three boys, had used the application site to play 

football, and as a general play area.  Since the vegetation had grown up on the land, 

he and others have used the tracks on the site to walk.  He had observed people 

horse riding, using the pathways, and dog walkers exercising their animals.  In 

season he uses the land to pick blackberries, and he has seen many other people 

doing the same.  The land has also proved useful for children to ride their bikes 

around, avoiding the busy road. 

 

7.56. His boys had been born in 1966, 1968 and 1970.  Nowadays his grandchildren 

when they visit use the area of the application site quite regularly to cycle about on.   

 

7.57. As for picking blackberries, the whole area is in fact quite easily accessible.  He 

had used it a lot during the last summer, and saw other people doing the same.  He 

lives on the west side of Tirmynydd Road; the area in front of his house (not within 

the application site) is regularly cut by himself and three others.  They had never 

asked permission to do that. 

 

7.58. In cross-examination Mr Hobbs said that he had used the land openly, in a manner 

which could be seen by any owner, or anyone else on the owner’s behalf, if they 

cared to look.  His grandchildren are now aged 13, 12 and 9.  The 12 and 13 year 

olds live in the village and use the site on most days.  This is associated with their 

catching a bus to go to Bishopston School. 

 

7.59. He himself regularly uses the application land for walking on, for exercise.  He 

also carries on to other land, or around the village.  When using the land he mostly 

follows the tracks on it.  He would use the public footpath, but in conjunction with 

Page 27



15 
 

the other areas of the land.  There have always been small paths through the area of 

the site which are accessible.   

 

7.60. One picks blackberries where the brambles are on the site, and they are all over the 

place there.  As for children playing, the site is next to quite a busy road, so the 

ability to be off the road is an advantage.  The fact of being near a busy road might 

be a problem for 4 or 5 year olds, but not for 10-13 year olds, say.  In his 

experience a lot of children do not go onto the formal football field (to the south) in 

order to play.   

 

7.61. When in his evidence questionnaire he had referred to wildlife on the land as one 

of his uses of it, he had been essentially referring to bird watching there.  However 

he has no photographs of this activity. 

 

7.62. Bonfire parties on the land had taken place, but quite some time ago. Village fetes 

are now held over on the playing field.  He was not sure if they had been held on 

the application land in the past. 

 

7.63. In re-examination Mr Hobbs said that from where he lives he can see the 

application land clearly.  He probably sees horse riders on the land about once a 

month, but children playing there and dog walking happening on the land, he 

probably sees daily. 

 

7.64. To me Mr Hobbs said that generally where he sees children playing would be on 

the cut paths or tracks through the middle of the land, and not the official public 

footpath.  He believes that the paths which have been cut recently have followed 

old tracks which were already on the land.  They may have been widened by recent 

cutting to make them of a more accessible width.  They were there beforehand 

anyway.  Nowadays there are not many other obvious paths than the cut paths.  The 

previous paths, which were rather like animal tracks, had either been cut wider or 

have tended to overgrow in recent times.   

 

7.65. Ms Joanne Rees-Thomas lives at 46 Dunvant Road, Three Crosses.  She had been 

resident in Three Crosses from 1967 to 1989, and then from 1998 to date.  She had 

completed one of the second block of evidence questionnaires lodged on behalf of 

the Applicant, after the original application had been submitted. 

 

7.66. She has lived in the village for over 40 years, initially with her family, farming at 

Crwys Farm, and subsequently while living on Dunvant Road.  Her recollections of 

the application site are of it being utilised for a variety of reasons, primarily by 

residents of the village.  She recalled participating in group activities such as 

treasure hunts, hide and seek and general recreational activities, and also recalled 

bonfires being lit there as part of village celebrations. 

 

Page 28



16 
 

7.67. Her late father, having lived in the village from 1930 to 2011, had also spoken of 

his use of the land, and his memories of playing a variety of sports there, such as 

football.  The family also owned a farm in Cilonnen, and as such they always have 

to drive on the roads around the application site to access their other farm.  She 

could vividly recall, both during her own childhood and then later on with her son, 

other friends playing on the land when she would be driving past to help on the 

other farm. 

 

7.68. Prior to the cattle grids being installed in the late 1970s or early 1980s, this land 

was grazed by farm animals, including her own family’s.  However, since that time 

the land has at times become overgrown, but that has enabled her and her family to 

pick blackberries there, which she has done over many years. 

 

7.69. After her childhood at Crwys Farm, she had got married in 1989 and moved away 

for a while, but was still a very frequent visitor.  There was the family farm 

business in which she was involved.  She had to pass this land daily even at that 

time, and indeed she used to have to visit this land daily, or every other day.  Then 

she returned later on, from 1998 onwards, to Dunvant Road.  Her son was aged 5 

when she came back to Three Crosses in 1998. 

 

7.70. Her parents farmed in the village until 2003, when they moved into a bungalow in 

the village.  Then her father died in 2011. 

 

7.71. The village has been and is a focal point in her life.  Her sister for example lives in 

the village.  She and her family continue to use this land on a daily basis. 

 

7.72. In cross-examination Ms Rees-Thomas said that when she had moved away in 

1989 that had been 5 miles away, but she remained a very frequent visitor.  Her 

father had developed Parkinson’s disease, and she was very frequently back in 

Three Crosses during that time. 

 

7.73. The activities she had referred to in her evidence questionnaire were in her 

childhood.  However she does use the application land now most days for dog 

walks.  Her son and his friend in particular used to gravitate there, to that land.   

 

7.74. Her own dog walking is usually on a route which may go through this land.  When 

there she does not tend to follow the official footpath, but uses the tracks through 

the ground more widely.   

 

7.75. She remembered her father leaving agricultural equipment on this land in the past.  

For example he had left an 8ft roller on the land.  This would have happened in the 

time before 2002.  She also recalled him parking a tractor on this site at some time 

in the past.  However she could not swear as to whether he had used the tractor on 

this land.  She believed that he had had commoner’s rights on the land.  They as a 

Page 29



17 
 

family did have commoner’s rights on the common more widely, and grazed cattle 

there.  The cattle grids which were installed on the edge of the village would in fact 

have kept their own cattle in rather than out of the village. 

 

7.76. On reflection she was sure her father had in fact kept the growth down on the 

application site.  She did recall the area being periodically cleared.  This was not 

necessarily the whole area at once, but the purpose was to make the land more 

accessible.   

 

7.77. She did not have any photographs of use of this land.  In fact they as a family did 

not use to own a camera.  The farm was their upbringing, and they did not tend to 

have days out or holidays, typically. 

 

7.78. In re-examination Ms Rees-Thomas said that her son had gone to a Welsh speaking 

school out of the village.  He and his friend would gravitate to the application site 

to play.  They used the land there for hide and seek, riding their BMX bikes etc.  

As for herself, she picked blackberries there.  She was aware that garlic grows 

there, and it has always been a pleasant area to be on.  She would see plants on the 

land and would be interested in knowing what they were.  Their other farm outside 

Three Crosses is in an area of scientific importance, and she is interested in such 

things.  She used to have a net for frogspawn.  She did recall paths on the land, not 

only being tarmac or official paths. 

 

7.79. Mrs Mary Hobbs lives at 41 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses.  She has lived in 

Three Crosses since 1967.  She had completed one of the original evidence 

questionnaires lodged with the application.  She had moved into the last house in 

Pant y Dwr Road in 1967, and moved to her present address in 1982.  Cows, horses 

and donkeys used to roam freely around the village, and kept the vegetation on the 

application land short, making it into an open safe play area. 

 

7.80. Crossing the land was the school route for her three boys, before the top of Pant y 

Dwr was developed.  The village pump created a pond area, much to the delight of 

the inquisitive minds of children, who would find all sorts of pond life, and plenty 

of mud to bring home.  The village pump has recently been restored and looks 

wonderful. 

 

7.81. She remembered the area of the application land being used by the Cubs and 

Scouts for their activities.  One of their leaders lived in the village.  Football was a 

favourite game on the land, and children cycled around the area.  They used to 

have bonfire nights there which were enjoyed by all.  Her grandchildren now cycle 

the cut paths on the land, and walk the family dog.  Walking for exercise, horse 

riding and generally enjoying the wildlife there are activities which continue. 

 

Page 30



18 
 

7.82. She could recall that it must have been Joanne Rees-Thomas’s father who had cut 

the ground on the application site occasionally.  Additionally, vegetation on the 

land was occasionally burned off in the past. 

 

7.83. Children play on this land a great deal, and she can see them from her house.  

Twice a day one would see dog walkers on the land, or horse riders.  Children can 

be seen on bikes there, and children going to and from school.  People pick 

blackberries there, and children generally can be seen messing around on the land. 

 

7.84. In cross-examination Mrs Hobbs said that as for the bikes and horses she sees on 

the land (from her house), she does not know if they are on the paths.  She just sees 

the horses, for example.  She thought that cyclists and dog walkers do generally 

use paths on the land.   

 

7.85. She acknowledged that some of the things she had referred to in her questionnaire 

related to earlier periods, rather than more recently.  As for walking on the land and 

observing wildlife, it is quite common to see bats in the evening.  She goes across 

to the land and sees them, depending on the weather.  She often sees them also 

from outside her house.   

 

7.86. It would also be quite normal for her to cross the land to meet friends who live on 

the other side of it.   

 

7.87. When walking on the land nowadays she would generally use the cut paths.  This 

would be for exercise as part of a recreational walk, which might continue through 

the woods, for example.  As for the change in the vegetation on the land, the 

vegetation was low at the time the cows had been grazing there, until they stopped.  

It then took a few years for the vegetation to grow up.  The land was not always as 

it is today.  Since the cattle grids went in at the edge of the village, the vegetation 

on the land has been cut down quite a few times.  The burning of vegetation on the 

land also happened on occasions between the 1980s and 2013.  She has no 

photographs of these things occurring on the land. 

 

7.88. In re-examination Mrs Hobbs said that the land has been used more again since the 

paths had been cut in relatively recent times.  More people use the land again, now 

that it is better cut.  People do use bikes on the land.  They tend to use BMX or 

mountain bike types of bicycle. 

 

7.89. Mr Daniel Pugh Jones lives at 17 Pant y Dwr, Three Crosses.  He had lived there 

between 1976 and 1979, and then again from 1982 to the present.  He had 

completed one of the original group of evidence questionnaires lodged with the 

application.   

 

Page 31



19 
 

7.90. He could remember as a child playing with friends, games such as hide and seek 

and making dens or forts to play in, all of this on the application land.  Also they 

used the area to pick blackberries with his grandparents, so that his grandmother 

could make a pie.  To this day he uses the land to walk his dogs on, and his 

children have also used the land up to the present time, with other children from 

the village.  They have used the land for various activities like cycling, playing 

games etc.   

 

7.91. The village school use the land to take their pupils there for field trips.  The area of 

land is a big asset to the village, as a village green. 

 

7.92. He remembered playing on the land as a child; and that, as well as blackberry 

picking, people would pick daffodils on the land.  He used as a child to ride a 

bicycle there.  His own children had been born in 1995, 1996 and 2002.  They also 

used to go down there, and would play there similarly to how he had.  They do still 

walk the family’s two dogs on the land.     

 

7.93. He could recall that as school children they had been down to the land to the south 

of the application site in order to plant trees, but nevertheless the school used the 

application land for field trips.   

 

7.94. In cross-examination Mr Pugh Jones said that in his experience the land is well 

used now.  It has in fact seen more use since the cut paths had been made.  It was 

always used before, but now it is used more than when it was more overgrown.  As 

a family they walk dogs on this land daily.  He personally walks there a couple of 

times a week.   

 

7.95. When on the land one goes past children playing there all the time, or perhaps 

every other time one is on the land.  Children would play both on the tracks and in 

the middle of the land.  It really depends on whether the children are in school or 

not.  He has seen children playing on the land there (off the path), when their 

parents might be walking on the path.  He has seen children making or playing in 

dens on the land quite often while walking on the land.  He had seen that both since 

2013 and before that.   

 

7.96. Sometimes when visiting the land he would see children playing off the paths, over 

in the bracken, and sometimes not.   

 

7.97. He can remember seeing tractors there, cutting back the growth on the land in the 

1990s, though not in more recent times.  He had seen that happening while driving 

past, so that would have been in the 1990s.  It was not as long ago as the 1980s that 

he would have seen that, because in the 1990s he had worked in Swansea and went 

past the site to go to work.   

 

Page 32



20 
 

7.98. As far as his own use is concerned, he uses the cut paths as they are now.  There 

were paths on the land that existed previously, which he used to walk on as well. 

 

7.99. In re-examination Mr Pugh Jones said that in the last few years he had seen 

children playing hide and seek on the land, or using their bikes there.  He walks on 

the land at different times of the day, and in different weathers.  When the children 

are not in school, and the weather is fine, he would almost invariably expect to see 

children playing on the land.   

 

7.100. The cutting of paths on the land in relatively recent times had not increased or 

decreased the extent of children playing there, but it has probably increased the 

extent of other people walking on the land.  The children who are down there with 

their bikes might typically be on the grassy areas, or in among the undergrowth; 

they might be making dens or playing other games there.  He did not know if any 

dens were currently visible on the land. 

 

7.101. Ms Sally McGregor (Mrs Sally Hailey) lives at 40 Joiners Road, Three Crosses.  

She has lived in Three Crosses since 1998.  She had completed, with her husband, 

one of the second block of evidence questionnaires which were lodged after the 

application itself had been made. 

 

7.102. She and her husband had moved into the village of Three Crosses in 1998, when 

they bought their first house.  They felt very settled and happy in the village and 

they had their first child in 2000.  Their second child was born in 2005.  The 

village community became increasingly important as they became a family with 

young children.  They made friends, attended the local mother and toddler group, 

started exploring the local environment, and the children became pupils at Crwys 

Primary School. 

 

7.103. They have always been an active family.  They like to run, walk and cycle around 

the village.  They love the opportunity this provides, as they often bump into other 

residents and friends.  The application site is an important aspect of the village 

environment.  Their children have picked blackberries, watched the butterflies and 

birds and practised their cycling skills on this green area.  In the past they have 

participated in school activities such as a treasure hunt that has taken place on and 

around the site.   

 

7.104. During the last couple of years the green has become increasingly overgrown, and 

therefore less accessible.  However the paths which are now regularly mowed 

provide good access points to the Trim Trail and the public footpath to the west of 

the village.  Now her children are older, and she has an active dog, she uses the 

green area of the application site differently.  She walks across it through the 

mowed areas, something between 8 and 12 times a week. 

 

Page 33



21 
 

7.105. In cross-examination Ms McGregor said that although she had used the term “the 

village green” to describe the site, it is not generally referred to as that by local 

people.  She personally lives on Joiners Road, which is on the other side of the 

village.  

 

7.106. She acknowledged that there are other open areas around the village, for example 

the playing field and the area of community woodland.  The latter had been created 

more recently than when her children were using open land to play on.   

 

7.107. Nowadays she walks with her child to school and back home via the application 

land.  In fact she accesses most green spaces around the village.  The Trim Trail 

she had referred to is mainly part of the woodland area.  Thus she uses the 

application site as part of her wider walking route around the village.  This site is 

part of her dog walk.  She has an active dog, an English Pointer.  She does cover 

quite a distance.  The site is part of her enjoyment of the open areas around the 

village.   

 

7.108. She has found that as her children have got older the world gets bigger for them.  

She now meets elderly people on the site, and around the village.  As for 

blackberry picking, there is quite a lot of that to be done on the application site; it 

is an excellent site.  One is more likely to see diverse wildlife on this land now that 

it is somewhat overgrown.  When she is on the site, she is sometimes on the mown 

paths and sometimes on the public footpath.  The mown paths she had referred to 

are the paths which had been mown during the last couple of years.  Before that 

however she did not remember the generality of the site being as overgrown as it is 

now.   

 

7.109. In re-examination Ms McGregor said that when her children were little they would 

come as a family onto this site, and generally watch what was going on.  They 

would look at the well, they would pick blackberries, look at wildlife, and the 

children would get muddy.  The children could practise there on their bicycles 

because it was quite a safe area.  They would just play and investigate on this land. 

 

7.110. To me Ms McGregor said that the brambles had grown up on the land, and had 

made access more difficult than it used to be.  She remembered the land being 

more open than it is now.  When her son was in the infant school about 3 or 4 years 

ago, they would hide clues in that area for him and other children to find.  They 

used to go around the village with the children more widely than they do now.  The 

local Brownies used to go on this land, and the parent/teachers association would 

use it for events.  She could not say on oath whether she had seen other people 

doing all the things that she and her family did on the land.    

 

7.111. She does see elderly people on the footpath on the edge of the site, and 

occasionally on some of the main areas of it.  Care is needed to walk on the land if 

people are unsteady on their feet.  However it is away from the traffic, and on the 

main open areas of the land it is quite level. 

Page 34



22 
 

 

7.112. Mr Warren Smart lives at 28 Llwyn Derw, Three Crosses.  He had been brought 

up in the general area between 1966 and 1985, in Blue Anchor.  From 1979 to 

1985 he used to come up to Three Crosses to play with friends.  They used the area 

of the application site for childhood pastimes, such as building dens, playing 

generally, riding bikes, looking for snakes etc.   

 

7.113. He then left the area in 1986, and returned in 2001 to where he now lives and has 

been here since.  When he moved into the village in 2001 he had one child aged 3, 

and another child was born in 2001.   

 

7.114. As a family they used to go around the village depending on what they wanted to 

do.  They went to various open areas in the village, the one called the Banc, the 

area known as the Duke Field (the playing field), and to the application site.  The 

use made of these various pieces of land depended on the age of the family at the 

relevant time.   

 

7.115. On the application site they would stop in the area and exercise their dog, and their 

older boy would run around and play.  The children would typically use the main 

area near the footpath.  He would throw a ball for their dog in the area of 

undergrowth.  They would always stop in that area (rather than just walking 

through). 

 

7.116. They would also go blackberry picking in the area, because it is the best area for 

blackberries around the village.  One has to walk into the centre of the site to pick 

blackberries. 

 

7.117. He does and did see other people on the land, perhaps not every time but quite 

often.  It depends on the time of day, and what day it is, etc.   

 

7.118. As for community activities on the land, he could remember one occasion of a 

treasure hunt being partly on this land, and an occasion when there had been a 

community bat walk which was partly on this land. 

 

7.119. The undergrowth on the site has varied over the years.  He believed that the Gower 

Commoners had cut it back from time to time; he thought this had been to prevent 

fire.   

 

7.120. People use the site to walk on because the road is busy.  He had seen children there 

on their bicycles, and people walking on the land.  Most times one is there one sees 

people walking on the land.  They might be blackberry picking, or just crossing the 

land.  He had seen people cutting the grass, and he had seen horses going past, 

although he did not know who was riding them.  However if he goes to the land in 

the evenings it might just be him who is there.  When he was there with his young 

Page 35



23 
 

children they would generally see older children playing there.  That would mainly 

be in the years 2001 to 2007 for him. 

 

7.121. In cross-examination Mr Smart said that he had seen local residents cutting the 

grass on the application site.  People who were on the land with their dogs tend to 

keep their dogs away from any horses that might be there.  There are some stables 

in the village, but he did not know where the people come from who ride the horses 

from those stables.   

 

7.122. His own family would go to different areas around the village for different 

activities.  This depended on the age of the children at the time.  When they were 

older, the area known as the Banc was perhaps more a draw for the children, when 

they were by themselves.  The application site was more of a draw when they were 

walking dogs, because one could let the dogs off the lead there.  So they went there 

when the children were younger.  The Duke Field was more for formal games.   

 

7.123. They as a family would typically be on the site as part of a walk around the village.  

They would stop on the various open areas around the village with the children.  

There are no footpaths on some of the busy roads through the village.  The fact that 

the road is busy does encourage people onto the land.   

 

7.124. The community bat walk he had referred to was a one-off event.  In fact it was a 

great event, and it took in the area of the application site. 

 

7.125. In his recollection the cutting back of vegetation on the land had not been regular, 

but nevertheless it happened fairly frequently.  When everything is not growing 

vigorously the land becomes more accessible, as the growth tends to die back.  It is 

quite commonly used in the winter season on weekends, for example. 

 

 

Other Evidence 

 

7.126. In addition to the oral evidence which I have summarised above, I have already 

noted in passing that a considerable number of evidence questionnaires in support 

of the application had been lodged by the Applicant.  Eleven such questionnaires 

were lodged with the original application, many of them made by people who 

subsequently came as witnesses to the Inquiry.  In addition some 101 further 

completed evidence questionnaires were lodged in support of the application at a 

later date.  A small number of them were also from people who subsequently came 

to give oral evidence to the Inquiry.  I do not here need to set out or summarise the 

specific contents of all of those numerous evidence questionnaires, but I have 

looked at all of them. 

 

7.127. In addition to material of that character, the Applicant produced some photographic 

material in support of the application (dating from between summer 2014 and 

February 2016 (the latter date post-dating the application), and a considerable 

Page 36



24 
 

volume of further material in support of the proposition that the Community area of 

Three Crosses is an appropriate area to be regarded as a “locality” for the purposes 

of the Commons Act.  However, this last issue subsequently proved to be non-

controversial as between the parties, so it is unnecessary for me to say any more 

about this material. 

 

 

 

8. The Submissions For The Applicant 
 

8.1. Submissions or arguments were in fact advanced on behalf of the Applicant on a 

number of separate occasions, and in view of the way that this particular 

application proceeded, including the fact that not all of the Objectors to the 

application participated in the Inquiry, it is appropriate here to set out some record 

of the main points made in the earlier submissions lodged on behalf of the 

Applicant. 

 

8.2. In the justification for the application included within the application itself it was 

said that the application site is land which had been used for recreation by the 

village residents for decades.  It was pointed out that up until cattle grids were 

installed around the village in the late 1980s, the land had been grazed by the 

livestock of the Gower Commoners.  Prior to the cattle grids the vegetation was 

kept short, as it still is along the western and eastern edges, being cut regularly by 

local residents.  The grazing and cutting enabled villagers to use the area for play, 

events and other recreational activities. 

 

8.3. When the cattle grids were put in, the land became somewhat overgrown, but 

children continued to play there.  The Community Council, formed in May 2012, 

see this land as a community asset, and requested a licence from the Somerset 

Trust to cut and maintain the area.  That was granted in September 2013, and the 

area has been regularly cut, taking into account seasonal and varied biodiversity.  

Grass paths meandering through it have been created for all to enjoy. 

 

8.4. In a further statement lodged at that time on behalf of the Applicant, the general 

location of Three Crosses was pointed out, as was the point that the Gower Way, a 

long distance footpath route, passes through the village.  The village was 

essentially a farming community originally, with a number of working farms 

around it.  Around the village there are a number of small parcels of land still 

owned by the Somerset Trust.  Those are generally kept tidy and maintained by 

local residents.  There are two areas around the village however which had been 

bought from the Somerset Trust (or the Duke of Beaufort’s Estate) already, for the 

good of the community.  One of those is an area known locally as the Banc, across 

the road from the village school.  That is now regularly cut by the Community 

Council, and contains a small recreation area for children.  There is another piece 

of land to the south of the present application site, which was purchased from the 

Beaufort Estate in the 1970s.  This is immediately to the south of the present 

application site, on the other side of Chapel Road.  It now contains a sports field 

and an area of community woodland. 

Page 37



25 
 

 

8.5. The Applicant wishes to register the application site, to the north of Chapel Road.  

The land here is of a different character to the Banc.  This area is dotted with trees, 

brambles and so forth.  Many local residents recall this area well, and have 

memories of regularly playing on it, going back many decades.   

 

8.6. Many different types of games used to be played on this land, as well as things like 

kite flying and blackberry picking.  Before the grazing ended and the vegetation 

grew back, the area was a focal point for bonfire night celebrations, and barbecues 

were held on it.  Since the late 1980s the land has continued to be used regularly 

and frequently by residents.   

 

8.7. In response to the objections which had been lodged to the application, the 

Applicants made some further written submissions.  It was noted that the Gower 

Commoners Association had objected to the application.  It was said that local 

residents are grateful that the Commoners Association had agreed many years ago 

that the playing field site to the south of the present application site should be used 

for the benefit of the village.  However there seems to be little substantive reason 

for the Commoners Association’s present objection.  That objection in fact refers to 

use which has been made of the application land, which tends to confirm the fact 

that the land has continued to be used, up to the time of the village green 

application.   

 

8.8. The Association also states that its members have cut back the growth on the land 

for a number of years.  In fact that work was done by an organisation who applied 

to the Gower AONB Sustainable Development Fund for a grant for a project called 

“East Gower Fire Breaks”.  As a result of being successful in the grant application 

that organisation implemented the project, and part of the work was cutting back 

the growth on this piece of land.  Therefore (it was argued) in reality the 

Commoners Association’s objection had in fact supported the arguments of the 

present Applicant.   

 

8.9. The Applicant made more lengthy submissions in response to the objection 

submitted jointly on behalf of Edenstone Homes Limited and the Somerset Trust.  

It was suggested that this objection had relied heavily on the proposed future use of 

the land, and that this was because the Objectors had weak grounds to object in 

relation to the history of the land.  It was argued that it was patently clear from the 

evidence questionnaires that the land has been used for recreational purposes for a 

considerable period of time, in some cases as far back as residents’ memories go, 

and that such usage has continued to this day.  While it can be argued that the 

frequency of use will have lessened as a result of the land not being grazed, no 

evidence of non-continuous use had been presented by the Objectors.  The witness 

statements tend to indicate that this land has continued to be used.   

 

8.10. It was acknowledged that since the cattle grids were installed the land has tended to 

return back to long grass and scrub, which makes it more difficult but by no means 

Page 38



26 
 

impossible for residents to gain access to all the land.  Nevertheless there would be 

considerable parts of the land that remained easily accessed, and also growth would 

die back in late autumn and winter making access easier.  Moreover in the current 

century the land has been cut at least once per annum on at least seven occasions.  

Indeed in 2003 the Somerset Trust arranged for the cutting to take place. 

 

8.11. In 2013 the newly formed Village of Three Crosses Common Good Trust applied 

to the Somerset Trust for a licence to cut the vegetation, and was grateful when it 

was granted.  It had been a long held ambition of the village’s Community Council 

for this to happen.  It was clear that was also the desire of a large number of 

residents.   

 

8.12. The Community Council had had discussions with the local agent for the Somerset 

Trust on many occasions, about the possibility of the Community Council leasing 

or indeed purchasing this land.  Those discussions were effectively in abeyance, 

pending the outcome of the Swansea Local Development Plan process.   

 

8.13. Since the licence to cut was granted in September 2013, pathways have been cut 

and maintained throughout the land. 

 

8.14. The Applicant noted that the Objectors had stated that a development proposal on 

the subject land would provide much needed local housing to meet the acute 

demand.  It had also been suggested that suitable replacement land (for the 

application land in terms of its status as common land) had been identified on the 

edge of Three Crosses.  The Applicant noted that as a matter of fact no application 

to deregister the present application site as common land and replace it with 

another area had in fact been submitted, in spite of the Objectors saying that such 

an application had been prepared. 

 

8.15. It was noted that at various places in the objection document it had been stated that 

the land had been used for agricultural purposes.  In reality the land had not been 

used as agricultural land since the cattle grids were put in on Tirmynydd Road in 

the late 1980s, and the grazing ceased.  The photographs which the Objectors had 

submitted show no signs of livestock, nor any arable farming.  One photograph 

from 2011 did show a tractor cutting scrub on the land.  In 2003, following a 

request, the Somerset Trust agreed to arrange for the scrub to be cut back, and that 

was done.  There were subsequent occasions in the following years to 2014 when 

this process was repeated.  The March 2011 photograph shows a contractor 

undertaking that work, which of course facilitated further access to the area for 

residents. 

 

8.16. It is understood also that there were occasions when the scrub was cut back to 

control and reduce the risk of fire, due to the close proximity of people’s houses, 

and the power utility lines that border or cross the land.  There is a strong argument 

therefore that the Somerset Trust can be said to have been doing this work 

regularly.   

Page 39



27 
 

 

8.17. It was noted that all of the aerial photographs produced by the Objectors had been 

taken in December, at a time of year when usage is lower than normal, due to 

weather conditions and the often marshy nature of some of the tracks.  Reference 

was made to the pump which had been reinstalled at the northern corner of the 

application land, with the agreement and consent of the Somerset Trust. 

 

8.18. It was noted that in spring 2014 the Three Crosses Common Good Trust 

commissioned a Biodiversity Audit around the village, to survey the existing 

biodiversity and produce an ecological baseline, as part of a report with 

recommendations.  The survey was undertaken by the Wildlife Trust of South and 

West Wales.  In respect of the application land the report which was produced 

recommended a rotational cutting system, where only sections of grassland are cut 

each year.  That would leave refuges for various species which had been identified 

on the land.  That is one of the main reasons why Three Crosses Community 

Council has never had the scrub cut right back, and instead cut grassy paths into 

the area to enhance access.   

 

8.19. A number of points were made about the potential planning status of the 

application land, but I shall not record them as they are not relevant to the present 

proceedings under the Commons Act. 

 

8.20. The Applicants noted that the Objectors had commented on the fact that only 11 

evidence questionnaires had been lodged in support of the original application.  It 

was acknowledged that that was correct, but a further 101 evidence questionnaires 

were submitted later.  That would represent approximately 20% of the households 

in Three Crosses.  These additional evidence questionnaires patently demonstrate 

that this land has been well used by residents for the whole of living memory.  

They also demonstrate that people have continued to use the land for recreational 

purposes after the cattle grids were installed. 

 

8.21. It is obvious that the nature of the land has changed since the grazing of it ceased, 

and about 80% - 85% of it became scrub.  However while that made accessing that 

part of the land more difficult, it has never precluded it.  Moreover the 15% - 20% 

of mown area on the land can be used by anyone.  There is a public footpath on the 

land, but that is used by people to access the remainder of the land.  Indeed there 

are a number of other paths and tracks on the land.   

 

8.22. Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 makes no mention of constant or regular 

use of land, but of continuous use.  Continuous means without interruption, and 

there never has been a period when it has been impossible to access the site for 

recreational purposes.  Consequently it has been continuously available for access.  

No-one has ever stopped people using the land at any time.  In that sense access 

has been continuous.  While the change in the vegetation of the land will have 

moved usage towards the lower end of the range of possible use, that has plainly 

not been sufficiently so to mean that usage has not been continuous. 

Page 40



28 
 

 

8.23. The fact that there are other areas of open recreational land in Three Crosses is not 

relevant to the argument about whether this land should be registered as a town or 

village green.   

 

8.24. On the question of whether the land has been used “as of right”, there is no 

argument that a licence was sought and granted that allowed for the cutting and 

mowing of the land.  However the licence was not obtained for any recreational 

purpose.  The licence was obtained to enable work to be carried out to facilitate 

and enhance the residents’ ability to enjoy their recreational activities on the land, 

which they exercise as of right.  The licence granted by the Somerset Trust for 

cutting and mowing does not change residents’ recreational use as of right to being 

a ‘by right’ use.  It is equivalent to a contractor being allowed onto the land to 

carry out work there.  That does not have any effect on the as of right nature of 

local residents’ use of the land for recreational purposes. 

 

8.25. The evidence questionnaires show a good range of recreational activities having 

taken place on the land.  They are also consistent with use having continued in 

spite of the accessibility of the land becoming somewhat restricted as a result of it 

not being grazed. 

 

8.26. The evidence from the questionnaires is clear that use of the land has carried on for 

a period well in excess of 20 years.  In fact the evidence questionnaires show 

continuous use over 80 years or so.   

 

8.27. In further submissions presented in writing in the run-up to the Inquiry, the 

Applicant argued that the evidence was clear that the usage of the land here has 

met the ‘as of right’ tests as established by the case-law.  The Objectors appear to 

accept that the land has been used without force or secrecy, but to assert that the 

land was used by deemed permission, rather than without permission.   

 

8.28. Argument was advanced that this cannot be a piece of land to which the public had 

access rights by virtue of Section 193(1) of the Law of Property Act 1925.  That 

only applied to common land within areas which were boroughs or urban districts 

prior to 1974, and it is clear that common land that was in a rural district prior to 

that date was specifically excluded.  Three Crosses lay within the Rural District of 

Gower before 1974.  Considerable documentary evidence was attached to establish 

that point. 

 

8.29. It was accepted that under the original scheme of registration for both commons 

and town or village greens, under the Commons Registration Act 1965, it was 

initially provided that it was not possible for the same piece of land to be registered 

as both common land and a town or village green.  However since the Commons 

Act 2006 had been in force, common land can be registered also as a village green.   

 

Page 41



29 
 

8.30. As had been argued before, the licence granted by the Somerset Trust to the 

Common Good Trust of Three Crosses, and the permission given to Three Crosses 

Community Council to install a replica village pump do not change the position. 

 

8.31. Argument was advanced, supported by documentary evidence, to show that Three 

Crosses Community Council had come into existence in 2012, pursuant to a 

statutory instrument made in late 2011.  However the area covered by the new 

Community Council was contiguous with a previously existing polling district, 

which had been established from at least 1974.   

 

8.32. In opening at the Inquiry itself it was acknowledged on behalf of the Applicant that 

the land here is already registered common land, in the ownership of the Somerset 

Trust.  It was also acknowledged that it is crossed by a publicly adopted highway 

called Orchard Drive, and also a public right of way in the nature of a footpath, 

designated LH56.  It is accepted that under current legislation residents have 

deemed permission to use both the public right of way and the highway, and 

therefore their use of those two features on the land is ‘by right’. 

 

8.33. Various local residents also have rights of access to their residences across the 

application site, to houses on the east boundary of the land.  Such access use is not 

‘as of right’ use for lawful sports and pastimes.   

 

8.34. It was repeated that prior to the installation of cattle grids around Three Crosses 

this land was regularly grazed by farm animals, which kept the land comparatively 

clear and easy of access.  Since then only rarely has the land had any maintenance 

work carried out on it.  Consequently the land to the west of the footpath has 

tended to revert to scrubland, and ease of access has diminished.  The land to the 

east of the footpath has in fact been regularly maintained by the residents whose 

land it borders, and is fully accessible to residents. 

 

8.35. The application has to satisfy what are essentially two criteria.  The first is that the 

land has been used by a significant number of inhabitants for recreational purposes 

as of right for at least 20 years.  The second criterion is that the use should have 

been continuous up to the time of the application. 

 

8.36. From the objections, it had appeared that the only substantive objection was the 

argument that residents use of the land was ‘by right’ and not ‘as of right’.  There 

had not appeared to be any argument to the effect that residents had not actually 

been using the land sufficiently.  The Objectors had referred to the case-law about 

what constituted as of right use.   

 

8.37. It was striking also that the written submissions provided for the purpose of the 

Inquiry came only from Edenstone Homes Limited, and neither the landowners nor 

the Gower Commoners contributed to the submission.  None of the Objectors, it 

appeared, were going to present any evidence to the Inquiry. 

Page 42



30 
 

 

8.38. The formal status of Three Crosses as an appropriate locality was reiterated, as 

were the points about Section 193 of the Law of Property Act 1925 not being 

applicable here. 

 

8.39. The application land at Three Crosses is privately owned; the owners have done 

absolutely nothing to provide facilities for residents on the land, or to encourage 

their use of the land.  Consequently cases such as the notable Barkas decision do 

not have any relevance in this case. 

 

8.40. The argument was reiterated that the licences or permissions given by the Somerset 

Trust, either for the installation of a replica village pump on the land, or for the 

carrying out of some minimal maintenance on the area, did not constitute 

permissions to local residents to use the land for air and exercise.  To carry out the 

works on the land the Community Council have obviously employed contractors.  

In doing that they did much the same as the Somerset Trust itself has employed 

contractors from time to time to carry out maintenance on the land.  It is not 

appropriate for the Objectors to contend that by carrying out maintenance work on 

the land that somehow amounts to a permission to local residents to use it.  It was 

obviously right and proper and courteous to ask permission to go onto the land to 

carry out maintenance.  The Community Council however has not been the only 

organisation which has used contractors to carry out work on the land.  The 

Applicant submits that there has been nothing by way of legislation or anything 

else that has deemed permission for local residents to use the land; consequently 

their use has always been, and remains ‘as of right’. 

 

8.41. There appears to be no disagreement that residents have used the land for air and 

recreation, or lawful sports and pastimes, for more than 80 years, and within the 

last 20 years.  The Applicant argues that the pattern of usage has remained fairly 

constant over the years, with the exception of activities such as team games which 

require relatively large areas of clear land.  The installation of the cattle grids, 

which meant that this land was no longer grazed, tended to preclude those team 

games, but there has never been any questioning of residents’ usage of this land.  It 

is obvious for example that the Gower Commoners Association had acknowledged 

that there had been use of the land by local residents. 

 

8.42. In closing at the Inquiry, the Applicant addressed the point that the public road 

known as Orchard Drive had been included within the application site, where it 

crosses the relevant land.  It was pointed out that in the case of Alfred McAlpine 

Homes Limited v Staffordshire County Council, decided in May 2001, the judge 

had concluded that provided a site boundary is not altered in such a way as to 

defeat the purpose of defining the land in the application form, there can be no 

sensible objection to the Registration Authority cutting down the extent of the land 

to be registered.  It would therefore appear that the Registration Authority have the 

authority to make the appropriate decision about removing the relevant part of 

Page 43



31 
 

Orchard Drive from the application site, and the Applicant will happily abide by 

any decision to do so.   

 

8.43. The general criteria for the registration of land as a town or village green were 

again discussed.  It was noted that there are now a number of points of agreement.  

One is that Section 193 of the Law of Property Act 1925 has no relevance, given 

that Three Crosses was in the Gower Rural District until 1974.  Additionally there 

had been no argument at the Inquiry over locality or neighbourhood considerations. 

 

8.44. The argument was also restated that there is no statutory bar on land which is 

already registered as common land being also registered as town or village green. 

 

8.45. It was noted that from all the material provided by Objectors up to the time of the 

Inquiry, it had appeared that there was no argument over sufficiency of the usage 

which local residents had made of the land, from the point of view of satisfying the 

statutory criteria.  However the Objector represented at the Inquiry (the Somerset 

Trust) had at the Inquiry sought to argue that the usage had been insufficient.  As a 

result of that the residents who had submitted further written evidence were 

required to present their evidence orally, and were subjected to cross-examination.  

They all confirmed that they had used the land, and seen it being used by residents 

on a regular basis.  It was true that there was no personal photographic evidence of 

usage, but witnesses who were cross-examined on the subject had explained the 

probable reasons for that.   

 

8.46. Most of the witnesses had referred to the fact that they had definite knowledge of 

the land being used by children and young people, notably for BMX cycling, and 

children’s ad-hoc games.  These are purposes for which some relatively accessible 

land, together with undergrowth, provides the ideal environment.  The witnesses 

also confirmed that the land was used by themselves and other adults for 

recreational purposes.  It was clear from the evidence that the land could be crossed 

by working one’s way around larger scrub obstacles, even when parts of the land 

looked as if they might not be particularly passable. 

 

8.47. It was also apparent that increasing the width of paths on the land had increased 

usage.  However witnesses who live in the vicinity had confirmed that those paths 

had originally been narrower worn paths which had always been passable by 

people.  In general the oral evidence complemented and supported the general and 

detailed written submissions, and confirmed that the land continued to be used after 

the grazing had stopped. 

 

8.48. It should be noted that the Applicant’s analysis of the questionnaires provided by 

people who had arrived in the village after 1986 indicated that the pattern of 

activities which they had observed very closely aligned with that which had been 

seen by the whole sample, including people who had lived here longer.  This 

tended to show that the land had continued to be used, albeit with a slightly 

different patterns of activities. 

Page 44



32 
 

 

8.49. In fact it was the recommendation of the Wildlife Trust not to cut the whole area 

back once a year which led to the decision only to widen the old tracks on the land.  

It has always been recognised that the use of the land had decreased since the cattle 

grids were installed, and indeed the Applicants acknowledged that their analysis of 

usage showed that there had been a reduction in those activities which required a 

relatively large open space. 

 

8.50. Nevertheless there were a number of occasions from 2003 on when the land had 

been cut.  The Somerset Trust itself paid for that work in 2003, and the land was 

also cut on a number of occasions by the East Gower Fire Breaks project.  Indeed 

the photographs provided in the Geraint John document include one showing land 

which had obviously been recently cut, and another with a contractor cutting the 

undergrowth.  Therefore it is clear that the land was cut relatively frequently. 

 

8.51. It was not surprising that the aerial photographs produced on behalf of the 

Objectors had failed to show the old narrow paths on the land, when they also 

failed to show the widened paths which everybody acknowledged were present in 

December 2015.  Consequently there was no way in which those small 

photographs would have identified narrower trails.  Those photographs simply do 

not show clearly land which was either accessible or inaccessible.  The witnesses 

on the other hand were able to identify land which was readily accessible, from 

their own knowledge of the land. 

 

8.52. Moreover it is clear that the amount of vegetation on the land varies from season to 

season.  Obviously it peaks during the summer months, and then dies back through 

the autumn and winter before starting to grow again in the late spring.  Winter 

weather might make use less easy, but does not stop it.  Bad weather would merely 

reduce frequency of use.  Indeed frequency of use is very variable depending on 

the conditions.  The Gower Commoners Association had in fact confirmed that the 

land is used.  Therefore the Applicants believe that they have clearly demonstrated 

that the land has been used by a significant number of the inhabitants for 

recreational purposes for at least 20 years, and that such use was continuing at the 

time of the application. 

 

8.53. The case of McAlpine Homes v Staffordshire County Council was referred to 

again, in the context of what is required to constitute a significant number of 

people.  It is clear that it does not equate to a considerable or substantial number of 

people.  A neighbourhood may contain only a limited number of inhabitants.  It is a 

matter of impression and judgment.  There needs to have been general use by the 

local community, rather than use by individuals acting as trespassers.  In the 

present case there had been 9 oral witnesses backing up significantly over 100 

written statements.   

 

8.54. The question of the permission that had been given from the Somerset Trust to 

install a replica village water pump, and the licence that was received to carry out 

Page 45



33 
 

some minimal maintenance on the land, were further discussed.  The employing of 

contractors on the land to carry out works cannot possibly constitute a permission 

to local residents to use it.  If there was any permission granted, it was only 

permission to carry out that work on the land, as opposed to any permission being 

given to residents to use the land. 

 

8.55. It was noted that in his opening submissions Counsel for the represented Objector 

(the Somerset Trust) had accepted that if the granting of those licences or 

permissions to do things on the land had amounted to permissions to local people 

to use the land generally, that would only have the result of pushing back the 

period of 20 years which needed to be established until the 20 years before those 

permissions were given.  This was because of Section 15(7)(b) of the Commons 

Act 2006.  In this case the evidence showed that the use of the land had gone back 

well over 20 years before the date of the application.  The dates of the permissions 

or licences granted in 2013 had been referred to, and if it was necessary to establish 

20 years going back from a 2013 date, then the evidence most clearly did establish 

that, which would provide the Applicants with two arguments in favour of 

registration. 

 

8.56. It is thus argued that the Applicants have most clearly established their case that 

this area of land ought to be registered as a town or village green under Section 

15(2) of the Commons Act 2006.  All the statutory criteria which are relevant have 

been met in this case. 

 

 

9. THE CASE FOR THE OBJECTOR(S) – Evidence 

 

9.1. None of Objectors called any oral evidence at the Inquiry which I held, and no new 

documentary material of an evidential nature was produced on behalf of any of 

them at the Inquiry either. 

 

9.2. The original objections to the application consisted of a reasonably lengthy joint 

objection made on behalf of the Somerset Trust and Edenstone Homes Limited, 

and a short objection statement made on behalf of the Gower Commoners 

Association.  Each of those objections undoubtedly contained some elements of 

evidential material as well as submission, but the two elements were so 

inextricably mixed that I will discuss them within the next section of this report, 

when I consider the submissions made on behalf of the Objectors. 

 

9.3. In addition to the original joint objection statement which I have just referred to, 

solicitors acting for the Objector Edenstone Homes Limited lodged a further set of 

documents in answer to the Applicant’s response to the original objection.  These 

further documents were provided under cover of a letter to the Registration 

Authority dated 27
th

 April 2016.  Most of the contents of that letter consisted of 

further representations or submissions, which I will note in the next section of this 

report.     

 

Page 46



34 
 

9.4. However accompanying that letter there was provided some bulky documentation 

which consisted largely of the Report following from another ‘village green’ 

inquiry in another part of Swansea, and other documentation following on from 

that inquiry.  It is not necessary for me to make any further summary of that 

material. 

 

9.5. In addition, the solicitors then acting for Edenstone Homes Limited lodged a 

further bundle of documents in the period running up to the Inquiry itself.  Some of 

this repeated material which had previously been provided on behalf of the 

Objectors.  It also included documentation relating to what was described as a 

completed application form aimed at deregistering as common land the area of land 

subject to the present application, and offering in substitution for it another area of 

land just outside the village of Three Crosses.  I should note at this point that I was 

given to understand at the Inquiry that by that time no such application had in fact 

been submitted to the Welsh Ministers.  Nevertheless documents were produced 

showing the intended replacement land, and certain other information in relation to 

that intended replacement land.  There was also produced a letter dated 12
th

 August 

2015 from the Gower Commoners Association, apparently expressing support for 

the notion of the replacement of the relevant area of common land (the present 

application site) by another piece of land. 

 

9.6. The only other evidential material produced on behalf of the Objectors which I 

should note specifically as such was a copy of a licence dated 23
rd

 September 2013 

which had been granted by the Somerset Trust as owners, to the Common Good 

Trust of Three Crosses.  This related to what is the present application land, which 

was stated to extend to approximately 3.5 acres.  The licence was to run for two 

years, and granted to the Common Good Trust the right to cut/mow the land 

concerned during the licence period, and to take away the grass trimmings.  It also 

contained a covenant by the licensee to use the land for the exercise of the rights 

granted and for no other purpose whatsoever. 

 

 

 

10. The Submissions for the Objectors 
 

10.1. I shall note first the brief submission of the Gower Commoners Association in its 

Letter of Objection in response to the application.  Apart from stating that the 

Association objected to the application, it pointed out that the application site is in 

close proximity to the playing field which that Association had agreed should be 

used for the benefit of the village.  The objection stated that there had been little 

use made of the land on the application site, and that it was that Association which 

had cut back the growth on the land for a number of years. 

 

10.2. I have already noted that a joint objection was originally lodged on behalf of both 

the Somerset Trust as landowners, and Edenstone Homes Limited.  That objection 

pointed out that the land to which the application related is currently the subject of 

an impending planning application by Edenstone Homes Limited for residential 

Page 47



35 
 

development.  It was suggested that that development would provide much needed 

local housing.   

 

10.3. It was noted that the land is currently common land, and that an application was in 

preparation to deregister that land and offer some exchange land in its place; the 

Gower Commoners Association had confirmed their support to that proposal.  It 

was said that the Highway Authority had also confirmed support to the application.  

It was acknowledged that all of this was purely in relation to the impending 

planning application to develop the land. 

 

10.4. The objection statement noted the point that the land had been used for grazing by 

livestock of the Gower Commoners, up until the cattle grids were installed in the 

late 1980s; that prior to the installation of the cattle grids the vegetation was kept 

short, as it still is along the western and eastern edges, being cut regularly by local 

residents; that it had been asserted that this grazing and cutting enabled the 

villagers to use the area for play/events and other recreation or activities.  Other 

aspects of the material lodged in support of the application were noted.   

 

10.5. The legal tests which need to be satisfied in a case such as this were summarised.  

The site was described, and it was noted that it is currently common land, 

comprising overgrown grassland, marshland and shrubbery.  It was also noted that 

the site is traversed by the adopted highway of Orchard Drive, towards the south-

eastern boundary.  In addition three unmade tracks cross the site from Tirmynydd 

Road and provide access to a number of existing dwellings adjacent to the eastern 

boundary of the site.  It was further noted that there is a public right of way within 

the site, running parallel to the eastern boundary.  The site is also identified as an 

accessible natural green space within Swansea Council’s Open Space Assessment.   

 

10.6. The site is common land owned by the Somerset Trust.  It has been used in the past 

for agricultural purposes, and the Register of Commoners confirms that the land 

was used for grazing by livestock since 1968.  It was suggested in this objection 

that the public do not have a right of access under Section 193 of the Law of 

Property Act.   

 

10.7. The topography of the application site is relatively level, and it is covered by 

grassland, marshland and shrubbery.  There are no boundary features to the west or 

south of the site, simply the edge of the highway.  Images taken from Google Earth 

or Google Maps confirm that the site has historically been used for agricultural 

purposes only.  Some of these photographs were produced as part of the objection.  

There is no evidence to suggest that the site has been used on a regular basis by 

local inhabitants.  For example there are no grass tracks over the site other than the 

public right of way, no evidence to suggest deterioration in the quality of the grass 

as a result of human activity, and no loss of shrubbery or trees.  Thus there are no 

physical signs or characteristics to show that the land has been used on a regular 

basis by inhabitants for recreational purposes for in excess of 20 years, or at all.   

 

Page 48



36 
 

10.8. It is acknowledged that the legal definition of ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ includes 

walking.  However the site is overgrown, and any signs of regular walking or use 

by the public in excess of 20 years would have resulted in salient changes, such as 

the formation of natural tracks or the deterioration of the quality of the land.  There 

is no evidence of such changes or characteristics.  It is appreciated that walking 

would occur on the public right of way on the land; however that would not satisfy 

the legal test, as the use of the public right of way by local inhabitants cannot be 

“as of right”.  The same would also apply to the adopted road and the three access 

tracks, as the use of these routes would be with permission of the landowner and 

therefore ‘by right’ rather than as of right. 

 

10.9. The planning case for developing the application land was also dealt with at some 

length.  It was considered that the application to register the land as a village green 

is opportunistic, and made as a direct result of the impending planning application 

to develop it for dwellings.  Consequently the village green application is merely 

an attempt to thwart the proposed development. 

 

10.10. The various aspects of the statutory criteria under the Commons Act were referred 

to.  It was not considered that sufficient evidence had been produced to prove that 

the land had been in general use by the local community for informal recreation for 

a period of 20 years, or that the use had been sufficient in terms of frequency or 

regularity.  The application had been supported by only 11 evidence 

questionnaires, and therefore represented a very small proportion of the village’s 

population.  If there had been use by a significant proportion of the inhabitants 

there would have been noticeable changes to the appearance and character of the 

land.   

 

10.11. The application made it clear that up until the 1980s the land was used for grazing 

by livestock.  And that use is further supported by the Register of Commoners.  

Indeed the landowners confirm that the land was used for grazing livestock up until 

the late 1980s.  It is noted that many of the residents claimed to have memories of 

regularly playing on the land which extend back to 1938 in one case, but most are 

from the 1950s and 1960s.  It is further noted that many residents recall numerous 

activities, on an almost daily basis over many years.  That implies that those 

activities took place many years ago, and suggest that those activities have not 

carried on to the present day, perhaps apart from the blackberry picking.  

Furthermore some of the activities referred to would have been inconsistent with 

the use of the land for the grazing of livestock, which everybody appeared to have 

accepted took place in those earlier years.   

 

10.12. The application itself had noted that when the cattle grids were installed in the late 

1980s the land then became overgrown.  The information provided with the 

application indicates that the land remained overgrown from the late 1980s up until 

September 2013, when a licence to maintain the area was granted by the Somerset 

Trust.  The Trust have confirmed that the 2013 licence was granted for the purpose 

of clearing the undergrowth (bracken, hawthorn etc) which remained largely 

overgrown until that date.  While it is claimed by the Applicants that the area has 

Page 49



37 
 

been regularly cut, the photographs provided, and the current appearance and 

character of the land, confirm that the site has largely remained overgrown since 

the late 1980s.  This overgrown nature of the land does not lend itself to such 

activities as are claimed to have taken place on a regular basis.  It is accepted that 

the public right of way towards the eastern side of the land provides access to key 

areas such as the village shop to the north of the site, and the school and 

community facility to the east of the site, and the playing fields to the south of it.  

There would therefore be no reason to walk across the overgrown grassland, 

marshland or shrubbery on a regular basis.  Furthermore the site does not lend itself 

as an area for use by children for play on a regular basis, being so overgrown and 

with no play facilities, and no defensible boundaries.  It is open to the road.  

  

10.13. There is a community facility or play area with safe defensible boundaries in 

another part of the village.  As such any regular and frequent play and public 

events would occur on that area, as opposed to the application site.  It would not be 

possible to cycle over the application land, given its overgrown state, and jogging 

over the land would also be difficult for the same reason. 

 

10.14. The application claims that the site was used by the village school parent/teacher 

association for treasure hunts and the like.  However no evidence questionnaires 

were completed from the village school or the local scout group in support of such 

statements.  In any event any such activity would only take place once a year and 

would fail to satisfy the 20 year test, which should be both continued and 

uninterrupted.  Any community activities would in reality have taken place on the 

community facility known locally as the Banc, which lies opposite the primary 

school and away from the site in question.   

 

10.15. The Applicants had acknowledged that there are two areas of land which had been 

bought by the village for the good of the community, including the area known as 

the Banc, and the area which now constitutes the playing field and community 

woodland.  It was felt that community activities and usage would take place on 

those pieces of land, not the application land.   

 

10.16. No issue was taken on the technical question of whether there could be a valid 

locality or neighbourhood in relation to this application.  It was merely commented 

that the number of people who had by then completed evidence questionnaires was 

a very small percentage of the overall population of the village. 

 

10.17. On the question of whether use had been “as of right”, it was noted that in 

September 2013 a licence had been granted by the landowner in order for the land 

to be maintained by members of the community.  That licence was for the purpose 

of clearing the undergrowth, which remained largely overgrown until that date.  

The land had not been usable prior to that clearing of the undergrowth, and after 

that licence had been granted the Applicant failed to satisfy the requirement for use 

having been without permission.  The landowner had consented to the use of the 

land so the question of ‘as of right’ use does not arise.   

 

Page 50



38 
 

10.18. It was accepted that the use of land for lawful sports and pastimes has been broadly 

interpreted by the courts, and that many of the activities claimed within the 

application fell within that definition.  However it was not accepted that the land 

had been so used on a regular basis.  Nor did the evidence signify that there had 

been general use by the local community.  Nor is it accepted that there has been 

regular or general use by the local community for activities for a period in excess 

of 20 years. 

 

10.19. In summary therefore the land became overgrown following the installation of the 

cattle grids in the late 1980s.  It is not accepted that thereafter the land was used on 

a regular basis for the purposes claimed.  In 2013 a licence was granted to maintain 

the land, thereby giving third parties permission to undertake works to the land.  

From 1980 to 2013 therefore the area was not being maintained and remained 

overgrown.  While it is claimed that the area has been regularly cut since the 

granting of the licence, the aerial and street photographs confirm that the site has in 

fact remained largely overgrown.   

 

10.20. The physical characteristics of the land, comprising overgrown grassland, 

marshland and shrubbery with no defensible boundaries, do not lend themselves to 

general use by local residents on a regular basis.  Any such activities would likely 

occur along the designated public right of way, and within the formal play area and 

playing fields on other sites within close proximity.  The sheer nature of this 

unmaintained land would constrain the frequent use of it for recreational purposes.  

While it is claimed that the land has been maintained since the granting of the 

licence in 2013, the current appearance of the land would suggest otherwise, and in 

any event the use of the land since 2013 would not have been for an excess of 20 

years.  The granting of the licence in 2013 would anyway prevent subsequent use 

of the land from meeting the legal test.   

 

10.21. On 27
th

 April 2016, solicitors acting for the Objector Edenstone Homes Limited 

submitted some further representations on behalf of that Objector.  It was noted 

that the response by the Applicant to the original objections had focused largely on 

local people’s use of the land being “as of right”.  That view was disagreed with as 

a matter of law; the Applicant had failed successfully to demonstrate that use of the 

land had always been “as of right”.   

 

10.22. The Objectors’ position is that the use of the land of the application site had been 

“by right”, and that as a consequence the application should fail.  “As of right” 

was defined in the case of R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell 

Parish Council [1999].  The test is a three part one.  An applicant must show that 

use of the land has been (a) without force, (b) without secrecy and (c) without 

permission.  It also needed to be considered whether the activities which had been 

included within the submitted evidence questionnaires fall within the description of 

“lawful sports and pastimes”.   

 

Page 51



39 
 

10.23. It was clear that permission had been granted to the Applicant Community Council 

by the Somerset Trust to install and recreate a pump feature and associated pond on 

part of the land.  The Applicant had therefore carried out such works with the 

permission of the Somerset Trust.  On that basis the Community Council’s 

application should fail, as the third part of the Sunningwell test has not been 

satisfied. 

 

10.24. The Objector disagreed with the Applicant’s assertion that the case of R (Barkas) v 

North Yorkshire County Council [2014] UKSC 31 is irrelevant to the facts of the 

application.  It is not disputed that that was a decision made in relation to publicly 

owned land.  However the Objector does rely on the Supreme Court’s decision in 

that case.  That case established that a statutory right to use a field for recreational 

purposes meant that the public’s use of the land was lawful.  Consequently it is 

irrelevant whether the land was publicly owned or privately owned.  The reason for 

this is the same as had been given in the original objection.   

 

10.25. As noted elsewhere, various documents were produced in relation to an inquiry and 

the consequent decision by this Registration Authority in relation to an earlier 

application on a site known as Picket Mead in the village of Newton.  It was 

pointed out that in the Report in that case the Inspector had found that the land had 

at all material times been subject to an express statutory right given to members of 

the public to use certain areas of common land for air and exercise, a right granted 

by Section 193(1) of the Law of Property Act 1925.  The reason why the present 

Objector relies so heavily on the Supreme Court decision in the Barkas case is 

encapsulated in that earlier Inspector’s Report.  The point is that where the public 

have an actual right or permission to use a piece of land recreationally, there cannot 

be “as of right” use for such a purpose, so as to satisfy the Commons Act test.  The 

Inspector concluded in that Report that the application to register the land 

concerned should fail, as the applicants there had failed to satisfy the “without 

permission” limb of the relevant test.  The Registration Authority had accepted that 

recommendation in that case. 

 

10.26. It was argued on behalf of the Objector that the statutory right under Section 193 of 

the Law of Property Act 1925 assists the site owners and the Objectors in this 

present case as well.   

 

10.27. As had been noted in the original objection, a licence to maintain the application 

land was granted by the Somerset Trust to the Community Council on 28
th

 

September 2013.  That licence was granted for the purpose of clearing the 

undergrowth (bracken, hawthorn etc) which remained overgrown until that date 

due to lack of use.  As the Somerset Trust gave its permission to the Community 

Council to cut and mow the land, the Applicant Council has yet again failed to 

satisfy the ‘without permission’ requirement of the Sunningwell test. 

 

10.28. The application land also includes a public right of way known as Llanrhidian 

Higher Path No.56, towards the eastern boundary of the site.  In consequence the 

Page 52



40 
 

use of the public right of way by the local inhabitants is also with permission, and 

cannot therefore satisfy the ‘as of right’ test.   

 

10.29. It was noted that the evidence questionnaires put forward by the Applicant referred 

to a variety of different activities on the land as being lawful sports and pastimes.  

The following had been referred to: walking and access, children playing, dog 

walking, team games, cricket, kite flying, rounders, bicycle riding, blackberry 

picking, fetes, football, birdwatching, carol singing, and picnicking.  As had been 

stated previously, the Law of Property Act 1925 provides the public with a right of 

access for the purpose of air and exercise over land which is common land.  It was 

argued at that stage that the listed lawful sports and pastimes on the land were all 

included within the remit of Section 193 of the Law Property Act 1925.  

Consequently any use of the land for those purposes would have been by right 

rather than as of right. 

 

10.30. The evidence questionnaires also made reference to the occasional lighting of 

bonfires on the land, which it was acknowledged would not of itself be included 

within the right of access pursuant to Section 193 of the 1925 Act.  The lighting of 

fires is specifically excluded from the rights granted by that section.  On the other 

hand that section also in subsection (4) makes it a criminal offence to camp or light 

fires on common land.  Consequently a pastime such as that would have been 

carried out illegally, and cannot be relied upon by the Applicant.  For all these 

reasons the application should fail. 

 

10.31. The Objector Edenstone Homes Limited provided a further substantial paginated 

bundle of documentary material in the run-up to the Inquiry which I held.  

However in terms of the submissions contained in that bundle, reliance was placed 

on what had already been submitted in the joint letter of 28
th

 January 2016, and the 

subsequent letter of 27
th

 April 2016 which I have summarised above. 

 

10.32. In the event the Objector Edenstone Homes Limited was not represented and did 

not appear at the Inquiry which I held.  On the other hand the other principal 

Objector, the Somerset Trust, was represented by counsel at the Inquiry, albeit 

instructed by the same firm of solicitors who had previously acted for Edenstone 

Homes Limited.  I have noted elsewhere that no new evidence was produced or 

called on behalf of the Somerset Trust, but submissions were made as to the 

conclusions which the Registration Authority should reach on the evidence which 

had been provided by all the relevant parties. 

 

10.33. In opening, the legal framework relevant to the application was set out.  It was 

pointed out by counsel that the application land is in the freehold ownership of the 

Somerset Trust, but is registered as common land with commoners having rights to 

pasture and estovers.  The original joint objection of January 2016 was noted, as 

indeed was the supplementary statement of objection lodged on behalf of the other 

Objector. 

 

Page 53



41 
 

10.34. The Objectors plan to develop the application land, and with that in mind had 

prepared an application to deregister the land and exchange it with an area of 

replacement land which had been agreed to be satisfactory by the Gower 

Commoners Association.  An application for planning permission had also been 

prepared.  However neither application had yet been made. 

 

10.35. The burden of proving that the land has become a town or village green within the 

relevant period lies on the Applicant, on the balance of probabilities.  The case-law 

pointing out that it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land registered as a 

town or village green was referred to.  It is necessary that all ingredients of the 

statutory definition must clearly be met before land can be registered.   

 

10.36. The relevant period for establishing 20 years of appropriate use runs backwards 

from the application.  Any earlier use is effectively irrelevant, if not continued 

through into the relevant period.  The only modification to that is that where 20 

years use as of right has accrued, a landowner who then gives permission for the 

use will not thereby prevent the use being as of right.  That proposition is provided 

for by Section 15(7)(b) of the Commons Act 2006. 

 

10.37. The original application was supported by 11 evidence questionnaires.  Set against 

the claimed size of the locality, that number of questionnaires appears to be 

insignificant.  It was noted however that the Applicant had provided a further 101 

additional evidence questionnaires, which would need to be considered. 

 

10.38. The modern understanding of “lawful sports and pastimes” was considered.  It can 

include relatively informal activities and recreation.  However there are limits to 

that principle.  If use is referable to formal or informal paths, it may not be 

sufficient to found a right to register the land.  The question is one of fact, with the 

critical factor being how the use would appear to a reasonable landlord.  It was 

noted also that there may be cases where the use is so trivial or sporadic as not to 

carry the outward appearance of use as of right. 

 

10.39. The distinction between “as of right” and “of right”, or “by right”, was 

considered.  Where a use is by permission of the landowner it will not be use “as 

of right”.  Any period of use by right or with permission will not give rise to a right 

to register land as a town or village green.  However where the grant of permission 

occurs after the accrual of 20 years of use, then the right to have the land registered 

will not in such circumstances be lost. 

 

10.40. In the light of those principles, attention was drawn to various aspects of the 

Applicant’s evidence.  The application statement suggested that most of the 

recreational activities appeared to have taken place in a period before the late 

1980s, when it was said that cattle grids were installed and the grazing of the land 

ceased.  That period is irrelevant for the purposes of the application, as it fell long 

before the relevant date.  Even if sufficient use had existed in that period it would 

Page 54



42 
 

subsequently have ceased.  On the Applicant’s own case, after the late 1980s it is 

said that vegetation grew back, and activities were limited to children playing hide 

and seek, blackberry picking, dog walkers, horses, joggers, cyclists and 

birdwatchers, and an annual treasure hunt.  That does not appear to have been 

sufficient to demonstrate the use of the whole site.  Also there were aspects of that 

list of activities which were much more likely to have been on the footpath on the 

site. 

 

10.41. In any event the account of events given by the Applicant is not fully supported by 

the questionnaires which the Objector had seen.  They were in general imprecise as 

to geographical extent and chronology (in the sense of when the relevant use was 

claimed to have taken place), and to some extent contradictory as to the quantum of 

user.  Further it appeared that a substantial portion of the use which they described 

must refer to the use of the public footpath on the land, as the other land was 

overgrown and inaccessible from the late 1980s through to 2013.  Use of the public 

footpath must be discounted. 

 

10.42. Despite the apparent desire to bolster the evidence produced in support of the 

application, it was striking that there is no corroborative evidence such as pre-2013 

photographs.  There was really no evidence of use prior to the grant of the licence 

given in 2013.  That must call into question the Applicant’s ability to demonstrate 

the requisite use for the full 20 year period. 

 

10.43. At that initial stage of the Inquiry it was suggested that there is an incompatibility 

between the land already being registered as common land, and the possibility of it 

being additionally registered as town or village green under the Commons Act 

2006 (however see below). 

 

10.44. It was accepted that before April 1974 the site and the village of Three Crosses 

were in the area of the Gower Rural District. 

 

10.45. It is not argued that the public have enjoyed any statutory right to use the land for 

recreational purposes.  It is accepted that there is no right under Section 193  of the 

Law of Property Act 1925.  Although the land might potentially qualify as access 

land under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, it was accepted that the 

whole of the land is likely to be within 20 metres of a dwelling, and therefore 

would be excepted land under that provision.  However at least since 2013 the 

members of the local community of Three Crosses have enjoyed an express 

permission to use the land for recreational purposes.   

 

10.46. It was not suggested that Section 53 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 has any 

relevance to the present case.  Nor is any planning permission in force in relation to 

this land. 

 

Page 55



43 
 

10.47. As the Applicant itself accepts, there was the grant of a licence to cut the 

vegetation on this land in September 2013, which followed discussions about 

leasing the land for use by the community.  That licence was intended to allow the 

local residents to access the land for recreational purposes.  That was strong 

evidence not only that the use of the land after September 2013 was “by right”, but 

also that the local residents did not consider that they had a right to use the land 

prior to 2013. 

 

10.48. Permission to install the replica well pump at the northern corner of the land was 

sought by the Applicant in 2014.  Following on from the grant of a licence to cut 

the grass on the land, this is a further evidence of deference by the inhabitants of 

the locality to the ownership of the Somerset Trust, and further undermines the 

Applicant’s contention that the use of the land was ‘as of right’ before 2013. 

 

10.49. It was reiterated that much of the user evidence given in the questionnaires related 

to use of the public footpath, use of which should be discounted from consideration 

of the wider use (if any) of the land.  Such land is accessed by right, and cannot 

bring about registration under the Commons Act.  The same applies to the adopted 

highway of Orchard Drive. 

 

10.50. No issue was raised as to the identification of the relevant locality for this 

application.   

 

10.51. The Objector accepted that there had been significant use of the land since 2013, 

and there was much photographic evidence for it.  The critical point however was 

that there was a permission to cut or mow the grass from that year.  The September 

2013 licence amounted to a licence to use the wider land.  It was accepted however 

that Section 15(7)(b) did not remove the claim, but moved the 20 years back to 

before 2013.   

 

10.52. In closing submissions, it was said that the Objector, the Somerset Trust, relied on 

all of the earlier representations which had been made both on their behalf and on 

behalf of Edenstone Homes Limited.   

 

10.53. The principal outstanding points between the Objector and the Applicant could be 

summarised as follows:  Whether the Applicant has established the requisite user 

of the land throughout the relevant period; the level of the footpath/rights of way 

use on the land; whether the various permits granted by the Objector gave rise to a 

right to use the land for recreational purposes, so that any use for lawful sports and 

pastimes was ‘by right’ rather than as of right. 

 

10.54. It was expressly acknowledged that the argument that it is not possible to register a 

piece of land as a town or village green when that piece of land is already 

registered as common land, is no longer being pursued. 

 

Page 56



44 
 

10.55. The Objector wished to stress that in its view the application to register the land as 

a village green had been made in response to plans to develop the land.  The 

application therefore was designed to frustrate that development.  While that is 

perhaps not uncommon, it does give rise to a need for proper scrutiny when 

considering the evidence provided by local residents.  Furthermore the oral and 

written evidence needs to be considered in the light of the physical layout of the 

land. 

 

10.56. With regard to the various permissions granted by the Objector in relation to the 

land, a licence to cut/mow the land was granted by the Objector to the Common 

Good Trust of Three Crosses on 23
rd

 September 2013, for a period of two years.  

As is common between the parties, this licence was granted to the Trust following 

talks between the Community Council, as representative of the village inhabitants, 

and Knight Frank, the Objector’s agents, about improving the land so that more 

residents could enjoy it.  The connection between the Trust and the Community 

Council is unknown to the Objector.  It is accepted by the Objector that there had 

been previous informal agreements for the land to be cut, including in 2003. 

 

10.57. Further, in 2014 a licence was granted for the installation of a replica well and 

other associated items on a site at the north-western tip of the land.  That had now 

been installed by the Community Council.  Both of those documented licences 

need to be understood as part and parcel of a broader agreement between the 

Objector and the various groups representing the local community to allow access 

to the land. 

 

10.58. These permissions demonstrate clearly that the use of the land in the period after 

2013 was by permission of the Objector.  That is the view one has to take in the 

light of the discussions which had taken place, rather perhaps than the actual words 

of the licence.  This gives rise to a strong inference that the user of the land in 

general had not in fact been as of right, in that the inhabitants of the locality in 

practice deferred to the rights of the Objector, who from time to time signalled an 

implied permission to use the land. 

 

10.59. The relevant period for establishing 20 years of appropriate use runs backwards 

from the application date.  Any earlier use is effectively irrelevant if not continued 

through into the relevant period.  As had been stated previously, the only 

modification to that is that where 20 years use as of right has occurred, a 

landowner who then gives permission for the use will not thereby prevent the use 

being as of right.  This is significant here because if it is accepted that there was a 

permission for the inhabitants to use the land from 2013, then the relevant period 

should be shifted back so as to cover the years 1993 to 2013.  It was accepted that 

use for lawful sports and pastimes is a single composite class of activity, and is 

capable of including things like dog walking and playing with children.  However 

there are limits to that.  If use is referable to formal or informal paths, it may in 

some instances not found a right to register.  That had been discussed by Lightman 

J at first instance in the case of Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City 

Council [2004] Ch. 253 (approved in the House of Lords in the same case).  So, 

Page 57



45 
 

whereas recreational walking on a defined track may appear to be referable to the 

exercise of a right of way, other uses such as flying kites or leisurely meandering 

are more likely to indicate an assertion of a right to lawful sports and pastimes.  

The question is one of fact and degree, with the critical factor being how the use 

would appear to a reasonable landlord. 

 

10.60. Use also must not have been so trivial or sporadic as not to carry the outward 

appearance of use as of right.   

 

10.61. As had been noted before, the application was initially supported by only 11 

questionnaires, and an issue was raised as to whether that was capable of showing 

that the land was used by a significant number of inhabitants.  It is now accepted 

that the level of evidence provided is capable of establishing a significant number 

of users, in the context of the locality and neighbourhood of Three Crosses.  

However the Registration Authority will have to come to its own view of whether 

the threshold has been reached, in the light of the contents of the questionnaires, 

and particularly having regard to the need to deduct from the total any use referable 

to lawful use of the public footpath and access ways. 

 

10.62. As for the evidence which the oral witnesses had given, that was consistent with 

the concessions given by the Applicant that the pattern of use of the land had 

changed over time, and that the greatest use had been for access.  The oral 

witnesses confirmed that their access to the land is normally part of a longer 

journey, and can be to get to other parts of the village.  Although some of the 

witnesses suggested that the paths do not restrict where they walk on the land, or 

that this is only at some times of the year, most of them indicated that they do 

primarily use the paths, whether the ones cut since 2013 or the public footpath.  

This is unsurprising, given the overgrown nature of the bulk of the land since the 

late 1980s.  This more limited view of the use of the land is consistent with much 

of the evidence contained in the questionnaires.  They tend to show that the focus 

is on using the paths. 

 

10.63. In line with the case-law that had been cited, real care must be taken to separate out 

that portion of the use which amounted to use for lawful sports and pastimes, and 

that portion of use which amounted to exercise of a right of way.  The Registration 

Authority must consider how the actions of the inhabitants of the locality would 

have appeared to a reasonable landowner.  Were they of such a character as to 

indicate that the inhabitants were asserting a right to use the land for lawful sports 

and pastimes?  Use attributable to the exercise of a right of way must be 

discounted.  As will be clear from the evidence which had been referred to, that 

would mean that a great deal of the land’s use since about 1993 would need to be 

discounted. 

 

10.64. Additionally, evidence of use before the late 1980s should not be taken into 

account.  Again that amounts to a substantial portion of the evidence that had been 

given.  Much of the evidence given by each of the witnesses related to the historic 

use of the land, before the installation of the cattle grid at the entrance to the village 

Page 58



46 
 

stopped the commoners (with the possible exception of Ms Rees-Thomas’s father) 

from accessing the land and grazing on it.  For example, it was generally accepted 

that the use of the land for bonfires, fetes, cub and scout events, football, rugby and 

cricket, and the use of the pond for fishing/exploring wildlife, while it had once 

taken place, was confined to the period before the cattle grid was installed and the 

land became more overgrown. 

 

10.65. Although Ms Rees-Thomas’s evidence was to some extent inconsistent with the 

general account, in that she suggested that a cultivation use had continued on the 

land in the 1990s, the general picture has been of a clear contrast between the use 

in and before the 1980s, and the use then from about 1990 to 2013, and further 

again the use from 2013 to the present day.  In terms of the period since 1993, it is 

argued that the non-access uses reported were too sporadic or trivial to give rise to 

a right to registration of this land. 

 

10.66. Ms Cashmore and other witnesses had referred to a treasure hunt run by the school 

or the parent/teachers association, which would use the paths across the land as 

part of its overall circuit of the village.  However she was clear that the barbecue 

and fete elements of this annual use (which would in any event be too infrequent to 

establish continuous use on its own) took place elsewhere in the village.  The same 

difficulties of infrequency would apply to blackberry picking. 

 

10.67. In terms of the remainder of the uses described by the witnesses, such as informal, 

unorganised children’s play, dog walking, etc, there are issues both of quantum and 

of geography.  In terms of quantum the witnesses were in general clear that there 

was less use of the land prior to 2013, but there was little clarity as to the extent of 

that change.  That appears to have been primarily because the land, or most of it, 

was inaccessible.  Although there was some disagreement from some witnesses as 

to how overgrown the area had become, this needs to be assessed in the light of the 

only contemporaneous corroborative evidence relating to the period before 2013 

provided by any of the parties to the Inquiry.  This was a reference to the aerial 

photographs submitted by Geraint John Planning with its objection material.  

Those photographs appear to show that a substantial portion of the site was covered 

by bracken and long grass, much as appears to be the case, minus the cut paths, 

today.   

 

10.68. Many of the witnesses had struggled to quantify their impression of the level of 

use.  Mr Jones agreed there had been a substantial increase from pre-2013 to post-

2013, but suggested that the change was primarily in relation to dog walking and 

recreational walking, rather than children’s play.  Some witnesses accepted that the 

land was used as part of a wider circuit of the village on areas of open space, which 

suggests that the land itself was not a destination for recreation.   Use of this land 

was more for access. 

 

10.69. The evidence of the aerial photographs potentially explains the evidence from a 

number of witnesses that the use of the land for play was focused on particular 

Page 59



47 
 

areas within it.  Mr Phillips had identified that an area had been used just to the 

south of the more southerly access way across the site, and that another area 

between the public footpath and the overgrown area to the south and west had been 

used.  Likewise Mr Griffiths had referred to the areas to the east of the footpath, 

and to the west of Tirmynydd Road (and hence outside the application site) being 

kept short by local residents for amenity purposes.  That evidence suggests that 

they were specific areas of the land which were used, but not that the whole of the 

land was in use as a village green within the period 1993 to 2013. 

 

10.70. In relation to the overgrown area, it is notable that there was considerable variation 

in the accounts given of the history of the footpaths on the land prior to 2013.  

There was an inconsistency in the accounts as to whether this area has been cut 

back.  Further, although Mr Hobbs indicated that the current cut paths in the 

otherwise overgrown area to the south of the land followed previously existing 

animal tracks, other witnesses suggested that there were other little tracks which 

had been lost.  Those points all go to the weight that can be given to the evidence 

produced in support of  the Applicant. 

 

10.71. Overall, evidence of a continuous and regular amenity use of the land, beyond 

walking the footpaths, had been insufficient to establish it across the land for the 

period since 1993.  In this regard it was specifically argued that the evidence 

showed that any use of the so-called overgrown area prior to 2013 was trivial and 

sporadic.  While it is right that a common sense approach is to be adopted in 

considering whether the whole of the site is used for town or village green 

purposes, it is important to note that the overgrown area represents the bulk of the 

land in this case.  It is however accepted that the approach indicated in the House 

of Lords in the Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council case was a 

valid one.  Nevertheless it is argued that the Applicant has failed to establish a 

town or village green use for the relevant period for the land here as a whole. 

 

10.72. It was confirmed that no issue was pursued by the Objector in relation to matters of 

locality or neighbourhood.   

 

10.73. The Objector has argued that much of the use evidenced by the questionnaires 

related to use of the public footpath access, which should be discounted from 

consideration of the wider use, if any, of the land.  While it is right that there is no 

express bar on such areas being included within a town or village green, it is the 

Objector’s view that areas of that character (i.e. public footpaths and highways) 

should be excluded from any registered area, even if the application succeeds in 

principle.  The use of the public right of way over the footpath, and indeed of the 

highway of Orchard Drive, cannot on the evidence be a town or village green use. 

 

10.74. Furthermore it was argued that the small patch of land to the south east of Orchard 

Drive, and somewhat enclosed by it, should be excluded from the site as there was 

no real evidence to show that that area had been used for lawful sports and 

Page 60



48 
 

pastimes.  Therefore, applying a common sense approach, that particular area 

should be excluded from the land to be registered. 

 

10.75. The overall submission is that the Applicant has not done enough to establish 

sufficient use of the land for the relevant period of 20 years, which it was accepted 

may need to be the period 1993 to 2013, when permission was granted.  As such 

the application should be refused. 

 

10.76. There should be a concept of continuity in the test under Section 15 of the 

Commons Act.  In other words, there had to be continuity of use for at least 20 

years.  Thus, if there was a period when a reasonable landlord could not discern 

any use, that represents abandonment of the use.  The Objector here says there has 

clearly been a period of some years with only trivial or sporadic use.  Even if there 

had been use in an earlier period, the use would not be resurrected, as it were, by 

being resumed later after a period of abandonment.  It would be rare, and not 

relevant in this present case, for the extent of use in an earlier period than the 

relevant 20 year period to be relevant to the determination whether the statutory 

test had been met.  It did not assist the Applicant’s case here that there might be 

evidence of a greater extent of use of the land at a time considerably more than 20 

years before the application. 

 

 

 

11. DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATION 
 

11.1. The application in this case was made under Subsection (2) of Section 15 of the 

Commons Act 2006.  That section applies where: 

 

"(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any 

locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have 

indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the 

land for a period of at least 20 years.” 

and 

"(b) they continue to do so at the time of the 

application.” 

 

The application in this case was dated 12
th

 November 2015, and received by the 

Council as Registration Authority on or about that date, so that date represents the 

‘time of the application’, from which the relevant 20 year period needs to be 

measured (backwards) – subject only to the consideration (see below) whether 

Section 15(7)(b) of the 2006 Act [permission given after 20 years use already 

established] has any application to the present case. 

 

 

Assessing the Facts 

 

11.2. In this case, although the only oral evidence given was that called on behalf of the 

Applicant, there was nevertheless some dispute in relation to aspects of the 

Page 61



49 
 

underlying factual background as to the history and extent of the use of this site 

over the relevant years.  The law in this field puts the onus on an applicant to prove 

and therefore justify his/its case that all of the various aspects of the statutory 

criteria set out in Section 15(2) have in reality been met on the piece of land 

concerned. 

 

11.3. To the extent that any of the facts were in dispute, it is necessary to reach a 

judgment as to the disputed aspects of the evidence given, insofar as that evidence 

was relevant to the determination whether the statutory criteria for registration have 

been met or not. 

 

11.4. Where there were any material differences, or questions over points of fact, the 

legal position is quite clear that they must be resolved by myself and the 

Registration Authority on the balance of probabilities from the totality of the 

evidence available.  In doing this one must also bear in mind the point canvassed 

briefly at the Inquiry itself (and mentioned by me earlier in this Report) that more 

weight will (in principle) generally be accorded to evidence given in person by 

witnesses who have been subjected to cross-examination, and questioning by me, 

than would necessarily be the case for written statements, completed ‘evidence 

questionnaire’ forms and the like, which have not been subjected to any such 

opportunity for challenge. 

 

11.5. I do not think that the nature of the evidence given to me in this case necessitates 

my setting out in my Report, in a formal, preliminary way, a series of ‘findings of 

fact’.  Rather, what I propose to do, before expressing my overall conclusions, is to 

consider in turn the various particular aspects of the statutory test under Section 

15(2) of the 2006 Act, and to comment on how my conclusions (on the balance of 

probabilities) on the facts of this case relate to those aspects.  It should not however 

be assumed that any facts I mention under one heading are only relevant to that 

heading.  I have taken into account the totality of the underlying facts in reaching 

my conclusions under all the headings, and (of course) in reaching my overall 

conclusions as well. 

 

11.6. I will mention at this point that the question whether it is legally possible for a 

piece of land already registered as ‘Common Land’ in the registers now maintained 

under the Commons Act 2006, also to be registered as a ‘town or village green’ 

under Section 15 of that Act, was at one point disputed by the Objector (the 

Somerset Trust) which was in the event represented at the Inquiry.  However that 

argument was later withdrawn by counsel for the Trust, and it had not been pursued 

by either of the other objectors.  I myself am satisfied that it is within the scope of 

the current legislation that the same piece of land might properly appear in both 

registers under the Act.  I do not therefore need to say anything further on this 

point, save that I will (briefly) consider later whether a new registration as ‘town or 

village green’ should have any effect on that which is noted in respect of the same 

land in the formal Register of Common Land. 

 

 

 

Page 62



50 
 

“A significant number of the inhabitants” 

11.7. Although this issue appeared originally to be in dispute, it was accepted at the 

Inquiry, on behalf of the one Objector represented there (the Somerset Trust) that a 

level of evidence had eventually been produced on behalf of the Applicant to show 

that a significant number of the inhabitants of Three Crosses have claimed to have 

used the land here recreationally at some period within their living memory. 

 

11.8. Disputed questions clearly remained about when such use had taken place (in the 

context of the relevant 20 year period), whether it had truly been ‘as of right’ (as 

opposed to with permission) at least for some of the time, whether the use was 

really referable to footpath use, and so forth.  All of these issues I shall consider 

later. 

 

11.9. But in my judgment on the evidence, the Applicant clearly did produce ample 

evidence that significant, as opposed to ‘isolated’ or ‘sporadic’, numbers of the 

people of Three Crosses do claim either to have used or seen others using the 

application land recreationally over considerable periods. 

 

11.10. The concession on behalf of the Somerset Trust in this regard was therefore 

correct, in my opinion.  The other two objectors (Edenstone Homes Ltd and the 

Gower Commoners Association), given their absence from the Inquiry, did not 

formally make such a concession.  However in my judgment it would not on the 

overall evidence eventually produced have been feasible or plausible for them to 

take a different view.  Clearly, in my opinion, the Applicant did not fail on the 

basis of there not having been a ‘significant number’ of claimed users. 

 

 

 

“Locality” or “neighbourhood within a locality” 

11.11. There was not in the event any argument from any objector, to the effect that what 

is now the Community Area of Three Crosses is incapable of being a legally valid 

“locality” for the purposes of the Commons Act.  Similarly no argument was 

raised that the actual village of Three Crosses, which sits in the middle of the 

Community area of the same name, is incapable of being a recognisable 

“neighbourhood” within that locality. 

 

11.12. The Applicant had, on a plan accompanying the application, sought to define the 

boundaries of the suggested neighbourhood of Three Crosses village, in what 

seems to me to have been an entirely sensible way.  There can be no doubt, in my 

judgment, that a valid neighbourhood and locality have been demonstrated in this 

case. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



51 
 

“Lawful sports and pastimes on the land” 

11.13. A number of the major topics which were in dispute come under this sub-heading, 

by itself or in common with my later sub-heading about the relevant period of ‘at 

least 20 years’. 

 

11.14. I note in passing that, perhaps unlike some other sites in respect of which ‘village 

green’ applications are made from time to time, this particular application site does 

in a number of respects have some of the conventional features typically associated 

with a village green.  It is entirely unfenced open land, save where it abuts 

residential curtilages on its eastern side; at any other position it can be accessed at 

any point off the public highway, subject only to the limitations brought about by 

the vegetation on the site.  It is also in a reasonably central position within the 

village of Three Crosses, albeit somewhat to the south-west of what might be 

literally regarded as the geographical centre of the village. 

 

11.15. On the other hand, much of the land, at the time I saw it in late October 2016, was 

fairly overgrown, apart from on (and to some extent around) the several paths or 

tracks which cross it, to the extent of making human access to quite large parts of it 

clearly somewhat  awkward, even if not impossible. 

 

11.16. However, as I noted much earlier in this Report, much of the vegetation on the site 

is not obviously of particularly long standing (apart from various clearly more 

established trees and bushes), so that it gives the visual impression of having 

grown to be in its present state over a relatively small number of years of non (or 

limited) maintenance. 

 

11.17. I make these points to note the appearance of the site, by way of background, not to 

suggest that either the present appearance or the location of the site should be in 

any way determinative of the application.  It is quite clear that determination of the 

application depends not on those matters of appearance, but on whether all of the 

relevant statutory criteria under Section 15(2) of the 2006 Act have been 

established in respect of the land, at least on the balance of probability. 

 

11.18. The only other visual evidence which was provided by the parties were a relatively 

small number of photographs.  Those produced on behalf of the Applicant (as part 

of its ‘response to objections’ documentation) were eight reasonably clear 

photographs of parts of the application site, six of them said to have been taken in 

the summers of 2014 and 2014, but the last two taken in February 2016 (and 

therefore somewhat after the date of the application). 

 

11.19. The photographs produced from the Objectors’ ‘side’ were a number of 

(themselves quite small) aerial and surface based photographs of the application 

land, included within the original ‘Geraint John’ objection statement of January 

2016, on behalf of the Somerset Trust and Edenstone Homes Limited, and said to 

have been taken from the internet (Google Earth or Google Maps).  There were six 

small aerial photographs, said to have been taken (all in the month of December) 

Page 64



52 
 

between the years 1999 and 2015.  As no oral evidence was given by anyone 

responsible for these photographs, there was no opportunity to explore such 

questions as the extent to which the appearance of the vegetation visible on them 

was consistent with the December dates given for all of them.  The other four small 

photographs were said to have been taken (in various months) between October 

2009 and June 2011.  On one of them (March 2011) there is seen a tractor on the 

land, which might have been engaged in cutting back some of the vegetation.  

Certainly the vegetation visible on the land in that photograph is predominantly 

very much shorter than that visible on my site visits in October 2016. 

 

11.20. All that can be said (in my judgment) of the various photographs presented is that 

they show considerable variations in the overall extent and ‘depth’ of vegetation on 

the site, from one time to another, and they all tend to show some substantial parts 

of the overall site with rather more vegetation, while other parts look more cut back 

and ‘grassy’ in appearance. 

 

11.21. The photographs by themselves do not therefore (in my judgment) provide any 

very clear guidance as to how this application should be decided. 

 

11.22. It follows from all this that I and the Registration Authority must form a view as to 

whether a significant number of the local inhabitants have regularly used this land 

for lawful sports and pastimes, based on the collective impression given by all of 

the evidence which has been given by individuals, as to their own use, and the use 

of the land which they have seen being made by others.  I am here referring not just 

to the evidence of the witnesses who attended the Inquiry to give oral evidence, but 

also that contained in the numerous completed evidence questionnaires provided in 

support of the application (albeit untested by any opportunity of challenge or cross-

examination). 

 

11.23. As I have indicated, there does not appear to be any clear ‘external’ corroborative 

evidence one way or the other, e.g. the photographic material I have referred to.  

However I must note the point that, apart from the very small amount of internet-

sourced photographic material produced on behalf of the two main Objectors, 

which I have already characterised as inconclusive, there was effectively no 

substantive evidence at all produced by any of the Objectors to this application 

(including the landowner-objector represented at the Inquiry), with the limited 

exception of some documentary material going to the question of whether a 

‘permission’ (in the form of the September 2013 cutting/mowing licence) to use 

the land might have been granted during at least the last few years of the 20 year 

period prior to the application.  This latter point is one I consider under my later 

sub-heading covering the criteria “As of right?” and “for a period of at least 20 

years”. 

 

11.24. The judgment which I have formed on the evidence which I did receive is that 

there was abundant evidence of significant use of the application land by residents 

of Three Crosses for “lawful sports and pastimes”, over several decades, going 

back much further than 20 years from the application.  It is undoubtedly clear from 

Page 65



53 
 

the evidence that use of this kind was considerably more extensive in the earlier 

years of the recollections of many witnesses, during periods when the vegetation 

on the land was kept down much more regularly and/or frequently, whether by 

grazing or cutting.  Indeed the evidence was entirely convincing that in those 

earlier years there was regular use of this land which fully fitted the ‘classic’ 

expectations of the sort of thing one might expect to find going on on a town or 

village green in Wales or England. 

 

11.25. What is equally clear however is that such use has undoubtedly become less 

intensive over the more recent decades, as vegetation has tended to grow up after 

the installation of the cattle grids on the outer edge of the village brought to an end 

the regular grazing of this land by most free-roaming animals.  The evidence was 

less than wholly clear as to exactly how many times, or when, the vegetation on the 

land had been cut back in the period since the cattle grids were installed, but what 

was clear, and not really disputed, was that this had in fact been done on a number 

of occasions, a view which tends to be supported by the photographic evidence I 

was shown.  Indeed, as noted above, one of the photographs provided on behalf of 

the Objectors appeared to show the land in March 2011, at a time when, or just 

after, much of the vegetation on it was being cut back. 

 

11.26. Undoubtedly the changes over time (and in particular the general trend towards 

more overgrown-ness) in the vegetation on the land did cause a change in the 

pattern of usage of the land by local people.  That such change in usage had 

occurred was specifically acknowledged on behalf of the Applicant.  As land 

becomes progressively more overgrown usage naturally tends to become more 

restricted to parts which remain more accessible, whether they be paths or animal 

tracks, or areas near them, or other areas which happen for whatever reason to 

carry less vegetation.  This is exactly what appears on the evidence to have 

happened here, with the extensiveness of use having become gradually more 

restricted during periods of greater overgrown-ness.  There was also evidence of 

some of the narrower ‘animal’ (type) tracks on the land becoming easier to use 

again after the local ‘Common Good Trust’ began to widen them into ‘cut paths’ 

by mowing or cutting (pursuant to ‘licence’ to do so), from late 2013 onwards. 

 

11.27. I am fully aware of the discussions around the topic of how ‘village green’ claims 

should be considered where the land concerned is somewhat overgrown, which 

have taken place within some of the case-law within this area of jurisprudence, and 

indeed this issue was raised in discussion with the parties represented at the Inquiry 

in this case.  It is clear that a ‘common sense’ approach is required; that it is not 

necessary (for example) for a claimant to show that every square inch of an 

application site had been actively used by local people for the relevant period.  It is 

important to consider how the matter would have appeared to a reasonably 

observant landowner who (as it were) ‘kept an eye’ on the land concerned.  It is 

specifically clear that a ‘village green’ claim can succeed on land which is quite 

overgrown and difficult of access over much of its surface, provided the activities 

of local people on the rest of it were sufficient to show that they were using the 

land generally (for lawful sports and pastimes), as far as practicable in the 

Page 66



54 
 

circumstances, rather than (say) just using or diverging slightly from fixed paths or 

routes across the land. 

 

11.28. The question of the significance of fixed routes across the land is of particular 

relevance in this case, and I shall revert to it shortly.  Before doing so however I 

would express the view that, in a case like the present one, previous heavier use by 

local people for recreation (when the land was generally and consistently less 

vegetated) must still be of some relevance, even if that heavier degree of use was 

more than 20 years before the relevant date of the application, as long as that use 

has in fact continued (albeit at a lower level) right through to the date of the 

application.  The statutory requirement is that use must be shown for a period of 

“at least 20 years”, so that activity more than 20 years before an application date is 

not statutorily irrelevant. 

 

11.29. It seems to me, as a matter of judgment, that ‘older’ imputed knowledge (on the par 

of an ‘observant landowner’) of more extensive ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ use, 

when an area was less overgrown, must still be of at least some relevance to how it 

ought to have appeared to an observant landowner in circumstances where, in spite 

of land becoming progressively more overgrown during latter years, local people 

have still persisted in using the land recreationally, as far as practicable, for 

recreational purposes, in spite of the overgrowth.  This must be so, it seems to me, 

even if the overall level of use during the overgrown period(s) was less than it 

might have been in the earlier, more user-friendly times. 

 

11.30. To take a different view would, it seems to me, carry a risk of unfairness and 

injustice to genuine ‘village green’ claimants, on a piece of land which had always 

seemed to be openly available for ‘local public’ use, if such a claim could be 

thwarted by (say) allowing the land to become gradually more overgrown and 

difficult to use during the period before an application for registration comes to be 

made.  I entirely accept that if land had over a prolonged period been so overgrown 

that it had been practically impossible or extremely difficult to use it at all (for 

lawful sports and pastimes) during the 20 years before an application it would be 

hard to see how registration could lawfully be justified under Section 15 just 

because evidence showed there had been extensive use in the distant past. 

 

11.31. But here, in my judgement on the evidence, there is a case where there was more 

extensive use in the past (with lesser vegetation), which has gradually transformed 

into lesser but still significant levels of recreational use, as far as has continued to 

be practicable with the overgrowing vegetation.  In these circumstances it seems to 

me that a ‘village green’ claim can be validly made out, even if current and recent 

levels of use are noticeably less than they had been at some earlier period about 

which evidence had been given. 

 

11.32. All of this is of course subject to the very important point that use of the land must 

be discounted (in a Commons Act context) to the extent that it was use of fixed 

routes across the land to get from one point to another (and activities incidental to 

such crossing), rather than recreational use of the land more extensively. 

Page 67



55 
 

 

11.33. This exception from relevance applies most clearly to use of the public footpath, 

and the short length of all-purpose public highway, which cross this land, and 

activities incidental to such use.  However, it is clear also that use of other fixed 

footpaths across land, as routes to get from A to B, even if not formally registered 

as public footpaths, cannot ‘count’ towards establishment of ‘lawful sports and 

pastimes’ use of the land generally. 

 

11.34. Use of the north-west to south-east public footpath across the land (which use was 

referred to in some of the evidence) must therefore be discounted from the claim 

here, along with any activities which were merely incidental to such path usage.  

Likewise there was no evidence at all that the public carriageway (with pavements) 

of part of Orchard Drive which crosses the south-eastern part of the site was ever 

used for any other purpose than that of public highway.  Indeed all parties 

represented at the Inquiry were agreed that the public highway of Orchard Drive 

should be excluded from the application site, whatever happens in relation to the 

rest of the application. 

 

11.35. There was some further evidence of use at times of other routes across this land as 

part(s) of journeys to get from A to B, or as part of (for example) circular walking 

routes around the village.  Taking all of these matters into account, however, I was 

satisfied, on the ‘balance of probabilities’ test, that there was still sufficient other 

evidence to show the requisite ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ use of the land as a 

whole, as distinct from use of footpaths as crossing routes, even during the latter 

decades (including the 20 years before the application date) during which the land 

has for significant periods been more overgrown. 

 

11.36. That leaves the question of what should be done (in a formal sense) about the 

specific parts of the site on which any paths or fixed routes were physically 

situated.  I have already indicated that it was agreed among those present at the 

Inquiry that the part of Orchard Drive within the application site should be 

excluded from it.  I agree with that. 

 

11.37. Then there are the public footpath itself, and the visible trackways leading across 

the northern part of the site to individual properties from Tirmynydd Road.  

Although these parts of the site are clearly used for activities (i.e. for access to 

properties, and for ‘normal’ public footpath use) which are not ‘lawful sports and 

pastimes’, the evidence convinced me that they are also on parts of the site which 

are very much used for the ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ activities which take place 

on the land generally.  Indeed the evidence suggested that the parts of the site near 

to and around these features have probably been among the more intensively used 

parts of the site for such activities. 

 

11.38. It therefore does not seem to me to be appropriate to contemplate removing the 

land physically occupied by the public footpath or the access tracks from the 

application site.  There was nothing at all to suggest that use of these small pieces 

Page 68



56 
 

of the land for footpath or access purposes is in any way incompatible with 

registration or use as a ‘village green’, or that normal courteous ‘give and take’ 

would not apply as between ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ users and ‘route users’.  

The same applies with even more force to any other routes across the land (which 

were not in any event identified by the evidence) which may at times be used as 

paths or routes ‘from A to B’ around the village, as well as forming part of the 

larger whole used for ‘lawful sports and pastimes’. 

 

11.39. The final point which I need to consider under this sub-heading is what view 

should be taken of the small part of the application site which lies to the east or 

south-east of Orchard Drive, and will be separate from the rest of the site once 

Orchard Drive itself has been excluded. 

 

11.40. At the end of the Inquiry the represented Objector (the Somerset Trust) asked that 

this land should be excluded from registration, whatever might happen in relation 

to the rest of the application site.  This was on the basis that (it was suggested) 

there had been no real evidence to show that this particular area within the site had 

been used for lawful sports and pastimes. 

 

11.41. It is true that the evidence produced for the Applicant had not (as far as I could see) 

directed its focus specifically at that small area.  Nevertheless the evidence for the 

Applicant, both written or oral, was in general given in relation to the entirety of 

the application site, and thus including this south-eastern area, which is of a 

generally similar character to much of the remainder of the site.  No case was 

pursued (by cross-examination, for example) with the Applicant’s witnesses, 

suggesting that this particular area should be excluded or treated differently, and no 

evidence at all was produced by any of the objectors in relation to this particular 

point. 

 

11.42. I entirely accept that the onus to prove its case (on the balance of probabilities) still 

lies upon the Applicant, not on the objectors.  However the correct view to take, in 

my judgment, is that if the Applicant in this case is to be properly adjudged to have 

sufficiently proved its case in support of its application (which is what I conclude it 

has done), it has done so in respect of the whole site for which it applied (except 

for Orchard Drive itself, which the Applicant agrees should be excluded).  There is 

no reason, on the evidence which I have received and found persuasive (on the 

balance of probabilities) in relation to the whole site, to exclude from that overall 

finding the small part to the east/south-east of Orchard Drive. 

 

 

“As of Right” 

“… for a period of at least 20 years” 

“… continue to do so at the time of the application” 

 

11.43. In the particular circumstances of this case it appears to me to be appropriate to 

consider all these aspects of the statutory criteria together under one sub-heading, 

because of the particular argument pursued by the Objectors (and in particular the 

Page 69



57 
 

represented Objector, the Somerset Trust) in relation to the “as of right” test, to the 

effect that permission to use the land had been given, at least during the last two 

years (approximately) before the date of the application.   

 

11.44. There was not in the event any effectively pursued argument by any objector that 

local people (or the public generally) enjoyed any kind of statute-based right to use 

the land here for recreation.  The Somerset Trust (through its Counsel) expressly 

disclaimed at the Inquiry any argument that the pre-existing status of this land as 

registered common land gave to the public a statutory right to use this land for air 

and exercise.  To the extent that the Objector Edenstone Homes Ltd (not 

represented at the Inquiry) might be said still technically to have been arguing that 

Section 193(1) of the Law of Property Act 1925 gave such a right, the argument is 

untenable.  It was established with complete clarity by the Applicant (and accepted 

by the Somerset Trust) that the condition in that particular section that the land 

affected must have been before 1974 within a Borough or Urban District is not met 

in this case.  No objector argued that the public (or local inhabitants) have enjoyed 

any other relevant statutory right to use this land. 

 

11.45. The only respect in which the “as of right” criterion within Section 15 calls for 

specific consideration therefore is in relation to the licence granted on September 

2013 by the Somerset Trust to the ‘Common Good Trust of Three Crosses’ in 

respect of this land.  Reference was also made at the Inquiry (and in earlier 

exchanges) to another licence which was granted in the summer of 2014 by letter, 

to enable the re-installation at the extreme northern tip of the application land of 

replica fittings relating to an historic well which had been previously operational 

there.  However it is impossible to see how on any basis that particular licence 

could have been argued expressly or implicitly to have given local people 

‘permission’ to use the application land generally for recreation, or ‘lawful sports 

and pastimes’. 

 

11.46. Thus it is only really the Licence granted on 28
th

 September 2013 which needs to 

be addressed more fully.  This clearly did relate to the land of the present 

application site, correctly and sensibly excluding the area of the public highway of 

Orchard Drive.  It was granted by the Somerset Trust, as owners of the land to the 

‘Common Good Trust of Three Crosses’ as licensee.  I was not given any 

substantial information as to the precise status of the licensee trust.  From its name 

it would appear to have the well-being of the village of Three Crosses as an 

objective, but I note in passing that it appears to be a legally distinct entity from the 

present Applicant, the Three Crosses Community Council. 

 

11.47. The Licence was for a period of two years, but the only rights it granted were “The 

right to cut/mow the Premises during the Licence Period and to take away the 

grass/trimmings”.  The evidence I received suggested that this licence had been 

acted on to a limited degree, and had led to the mowing of what several witnesses 

referred to as the current ‘cut paths’ on the land, where (I was told) some of the 

former ‘animal tracks’ (or tracks created by previous human use) had been 

widened to make them easier to walk on.  I saw some of these ‘cut paths’/tracks on 

Page 70



58 
 

my site visits, and indeed the series of photographs produced on behalf of the 

Applicant (as referred to above) show some of them quite clearly. 

 

11.48. It may well be, as a matter of common sense, that the granting of this licence by the 

landowner in September 2013 reflected some sort of implicit recognition on the 

owner’s part that local people were already using the application land 

recreationally (in what would have been an ‘as of right’ way), and that this Licence 

might make things easier for them.  Or it might equally have reflected a recognition 

that local people might like to use the land, which was more what counsel for the 

Somerset Trust sought to suggest.  There was no clear evidence either way on what 

must remain a matter of conjecture, and no clarifying evidence was produced for 

any of the Objectors. 

 

11.49. Therefore, basing my conclusions on the facts and evidence which are available, I 

have to say that it seems to me impossible reasonably to construe a formal Licence 

given to a Common Good Trust merely to “cut/mow the Premises” as representing 

a sufficient ‘permission’ to local inhabitants as a whole to use the land 

recreationally, so as to transform the position from the previously occurring ‘as of 

right’ use (as I have found it to be) to use by permission, or ‘by right’.  In my 

judgment the cutting/mowing Licence of September 2013 was entirely insufficient 

and inadequate to amount to either an express or an implied ‘permission’ to Three 

Crosses inhabitants as a whole to use this land for lawful sports and pastimes. 

 

11.50. Furthermore it was expressly conceded on behalf of the Somerset Trust at the 

Inquiry that, even if the 28
th

 September 2013 Licence had amounted to a 

permission to local people to use the land from that date onwards (for two years), 

the legal consequence would simply have been to bring into effect Subsection 

(7)(b) of Section 15 of the 2006 Act.  That subsection provides in substance that 

where a permission to use land is granted after 20 years ‘as of right’ use has 

already taken place, the permission is to be disregarded in determining whether the 

‘as of right’ use continued.  This clearly only applies (in my understanding) to 

permissions granted since the 2006 Act has been in effect, but this proviso is of no 

concern in relation to a ‘permission’ said to have been given in late 2013, several 

years after the Act came into force in Wales. 

 

11.51. Thus, as Counsel for the Somerset Trust acknowledged, even if the licence granted 

in September 2013 had granted local people implied (or express) permission 

thereafter to use this land, the only practical consequence for the present dispute 

would be to ‘move’ the 20 year period of primary evidential concern ‘back’ from 

November 1995 – November 2015 to September 1993 – September 2013. 

 

11.52. The view which I have very clearly reached on the balance of the evidence is that 

‘as of right’ recreational use of this land by the local people of Three Crosses has 

taken place continuously for a period going back much further than 1993, right 

through to September 2013 and beyond. 

 

Page 71



59 
 

11.53. Thus even if the September 2013 Licence were correctly to be regarded as a 

‘permission’ to local people to use this land, the Applicant has still in my judgment 

made out and proved its case for registration of this land as a town or village green, 

by virtue of Section 15(7)(b). 

 

11.54. My preferred view and judgment is that there was not an effective ‘permission’ of 

a relevant kind granted in September 2013, so that the question is properly looked 

at on the basis of the “period of at least 20 years” ending at the time of the 

application in November 2015.  However, as just explained, even if the September 

2013 licence did render use thereafter ‘by right’, the evidence still requires that the 

application should succeed. 

 

Other matters 

 

11.55. At the Inquiry it was acknowledged on behalf of the represented Objector, the 

Somerset Trust, that Section 53 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 has no bearing 

on the present case.  However the suggestion that it might have some bearing was 

first raised in the objection made jointly on behalf of the Somerset Trust and 

Edenstone Homes Ltd.  The latter objector has not (as far as I am aware) explicitly 

withdrawn this point, so I should just note that I have considered it, and am clearly 

of the view that the Somerset Trust’s concession was correct.  This particular 

provision (under the 2015 Welsh Act) does not in my understanding have any 

relevance to the present case. 

 

11.56. Inevitably when there are a number of initial objectors, and only one of them is 

formally represented at the eventual oral hearing (in this case the Inquiry), the case 

‘evolves’ to some extent, and not every point made at an early stage is necessarily 

pursued with vigour later by the represented party.  I should therefore note in 

passing that I have had regard to all of the points of objection made at all stages on 

behalf of the two eventually non-participating (at the Inquiry) Objectors, Edenstone 

Homes Ltd and the Gower Commoners Association.  To the extent that they 

(whether as part of joint or individual objection statements) went beyond the case 

eventually pursued for the Somerset Trust, they do not in my judgment contain any 

points or arguments of substance which would tend to lead to different conclusions 

or recommendations from those I make in this Report. 

 

11.57. The short objection made on behalf of the Gower Commoners’ Association did not 

really make any points of objection which are actually relevant to Section 15 of the 

Commons Act 2006.  Indeed, as was noted by the Applicant, the Association 

appeared to acknowledge at least that some use had been made of the application 

land [by people of the village], and stated that it (the Association) had cut back 

growth on the land for a number of years.  If anything those comments were 

slightly supportive of the Applicant’s case, but I do not rely on them in reaching 

the conclusions on the evidence which I have formed. 

 

Page 72



60 
 

11.58. The apparent fact (learned from other evidence) that the Gower Commoners 

Association had expressed support for a putative (but not yet made) application to 

de-register the present application site as Common Land, and ‘replace’ it by adding 

other ‘exchange’ land to the common, does not in my view have any relevance to 

the present proceedings. 

 

11.59. I also note again in passing that a representation in support of the application (but 

not formally forming part of the Applicant’s case) was received at an early stage 

from Dr Marion Howells of Fairwood Cottage, 1 Chapel Road, Three Crosses.  I 

have borne it in mind, but it is not essential to any of the conclusions I have 

reached. 

 

11.60. Finally in this regard I note that parties on both sides of this present dispute made 

some reference (in written material, and very briefly at the Inquiry) to the point that 

this site had been considered in a town and country planning context as a potential 

site for future residential development.  As I had indicated in the Directions issued 

before the Inquiry, and repeated (again very briefly) at the Inquiry, this point has 

no relevance at all to the statutory criteria under Section 15 of the Commons Act 

2006.  I am however aware of observations which have been made in various 

judicial decisions in the ‘town or village green’ context, about the need to 

scrutinise village green applications, and the evidence in support of them, with 

considerable care when there is any suggestion that the prevention of unwarranted 

development might be part of the motivation for an application.  I have borne that 

in mind, but my clear conclusion on the evidence is that use of this land by local 

people for lawful sports and pastimes is something which has taken place over 

many decades (going back long before any suggestion of ‘planning’ proposals on 

this land), in a way which fully meets the criteria of Section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. 

 

 

Final Conclusion and Recommendations 

 

11.61. As I have just indicated, my clear conclusion on the evidence and submissions in 

this case is that the Applicant has succeeded in showing, on the balance of 

probabilities, that the criteria requisite for Registration under Section 15(2) of the 

Act are met in this case.  As explained above, this is so regardless of the view taken 

of the Licence granted in September 2013 for the cutting/mowing of the land. 

 

11.62. The only exception to this relates to the part of the original application site 

consisting of a length of the public highway (carriageway plus footways either 

side) known as Orchard Drive.  It was a matter of agreement between the parties 

represented at the Inquiry that this portion of land should be excluded from the 

application site, and that is plainly correct in my view.  It also clearly causes no 

prejudice to any actual or potential party. 

 

11.63. It was also agreed by the represented parties that the Registration Authority, which 

is also (in another of its statutory functions) the local Highway Authority for the 

area, could provide an accurate plan showing the extent of the public highway to be 

excluded in this regard. 

Page 73



61 
 

 

11.64. The Council as Registration Authority/Highway Authority has indeed provided 

such a plan, and I attach it as Appendix III to this Report.  When I refer in my 

concluding paragraph (below) to “the amended application site”, I mean the 

original application site, minus the part of it which is included in the public 

highway of Orchard Drive (carriageway and footways), as shown on the plan at 

Appendix 3. 

 

11.65. In the light of all that I have set out above, my recommendation to the Council as 

Registration Authority is that the ‘amended application site’ (as defined in the 

previous paragraph) should be added to the statutory Register of Town or Village 

Greens, pursuant to the Applicant’s application under Section 15(2) of the 

Commons Act 2006, for the reasons given in my Report. 

 

11.66. I note that in this particular case the land of the amended application site is 

included within land already registered as common land within the statutory 

Register of Common Land as currently maintained under the same Act.  It is my 

understanding that there is no reason why the same piece of land should not be 

included in both of these registers, and in the event no party to these proceedings 

ultimately argued otherwise.  There is (as far as I am aware) no formal requirement 

that it must be noted in either one of these registers that the same land is also 

registered in the other one.  However it is clearly of potential benefit to users of 

these registers that this circumstance should be so noted.  Accordingly I make the 

further recommendation to the Registration Authority that (once this has occurred) 

a note should be included in the Register of Common Land that the land of the 

amended application site is also included in the Register of Town and Village 

Greens, and that the corresponding equivalent note (about the pre-existing common 

land registration) should be included with the new entry to be inserted in the 

Register of Town or Village Greens. 

 

 

 

 

 

ALUN ALESBURY 
21

st
 December 2016 

 

Cornerstone Barristers 

2-3 Gray's Inn Square 

London 

WC1R 5JH 

Page 74



A 
 

APPENDIX I 

 

APPEARANCES AT THE INQUIRY 
 

 

 

FOR THE APPLICANT (Three Crosses Community Council) 

 

Mr Paxton Hood-Williams (Chairman of the Applicant) 

 

He called: 

 

Ms Vanessa Cashmore, of 22 Chapel Road, Three Crosses 

Mr Wynne Griffiths, of 17 Joiners Road, Three Crosses 

Mr David Phillips, of 43 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses 

Mr (Henry) John Hobbs, of 41 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses 

Ms Joanne Rees-Thomas, of 46 Dunvant Road, Three Crosses 

Mrs Mary Hobbs, of 31 Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses 

Mr Daniel Pugh Jones, of 17 Pant y Dwr, Three Crosses 

Ms Sally McGregor, of 41 Joiners Road, Three Crosses 

Mr Warren Smart, of 28 Llwyn Derw, Three Crosses 

 

 

FOR THE OBJECTOR – The Somerset Trust 

 

Mr Matthew Dale-Harris, Counsel 

- Instructed by Messrs Morgan LaRoche 

PO Box 176, Bay House, Phoenix Way, Swansea SA7 9YT 

 

He called no witnesses 

 

No other party appeared or was represented. 

  

Page 75



B 
 

APPENDIX II 

 

LIST OF NEW DOCUMENTS PRODUCED TO THE INQUIRY 

 

 

NB.  This (intentionally brief) list does not include the original application and supporting 

documentation, the original objections, or any material submitted by the parties or others 

prior to the issue of Directions for the Inquiry.  It also excludes the material contained in the 

prepared, mainly paginated bundles of documents produced for the purposes of the Inquiry by 

the Applicant and the Objector Edenstone Homes Ltd (albeit that this objector did not in the 

event appear at the Inquiry).  All of that material was provided to the Registration Authority, 

the relevant other parties and myself as complete bundles (or in a small number of cases as 

clearly identified accompanying documents). 

 

 

BY THE APPLICANT: 

 

Written Note of Opening Submissions 

List of Witnesses 

Written Note of Closing Submissions (with additional/amendment sheets) 

 

 

BY THE OBJECTOR – The Somerset Trust: 

 

Written Note of Opening Submissions 

Written Note of Closing Submissions 

 

 

BY THE REGISTRATION AUTHORITY: 

 

Plan showing extent of Adopted Highway in vicinity of application site (now Appendix III) 

 

Page 76



Page 77



Bay Area
Team Leader

Liam Jones - 635735

Area 1
Team Leader: 

Ian Davies - 635714

Area 2
Team Leader: 

Chris Healey - 637424

Castle
Mayals

Oystermouth
St Thomas

Sketty
Uplands

West Cross

Bonymaen
Clydach

Cwmbwrla
Gorseinon
Landore

Llangyfelach
Llansamlet

Mawr
Morriston

Mynyddbach
Penderry

Penllergaer
Penyrheol

Pontarddulais
Townhill

Bishopston
Cockett
Dunvant
Fairwood

Gower
Gowerton

Killay North
Killay South
Kingsbridge

Lower Loughor
Newton

Penclawdd
Pennard

Upper Loughor

Members are asked to contact the relevant team leader for the ward in which the 
application site is located, should they wish to have submitted plans and other 
images of any of the applications on this agenda displayed at the Committee 

meeting.

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE

Report of the Head of Planning & City Regeneration

to Chair and Members of Planning Committee 

DATE: 7TH FEBRUARY 2017

Phil Holmes
BS(Hons), MSc, Dip Econ
Head of Planning & City Regeneration

Page 78

Agenda Item 6



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017

CONTENTS

ITEM APP. NO. SITE LOCATION OFFICER 
REC.

1 2016/3401/FUL 122 Eaton Crescent, Uplands, Swansea, SA1 4QR APPROVE
Change of use from residential (Class C3) to a 
HMO for 6 people (Class C4) including minor 
external alterations

2 2016/3406/FUL 57 Ysgol Street, Port Tennant, Swansea, SA1 8LG APPROVE
Change of use from residential dwelling (Class 
C3) to a HMO for 5 people (Class C4)

3 2016/1670 Gower Play, Clyne Common, Swansea, SA3 3JB APPROVE
Retention of climbing frame

Page 79



TWO STAGE VOTING 

Where Members vote against officer recommendation, a two stage vote will 
apply.  This is to ensure clarity and probity in decision making and to make 
decisions less vulnerable to legal challenge or awards of costs against the 
Council.

The first vote is taken on the officer recommendation.

Where the officer recommendation is for “approval” and Members resolve not 
to accept this recommendation, reasons for refusal should then be formulated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote.

The application will not be deemed to be refused unless and until 
reasons for refusal have been recorded and approved by Members.  The 
reason(s) have to be lawful in planning terms.  Officers will advise specifically 
on the lawfulness or otherwise of reasons and also the implications for the 
Council for possible costs against the Council in the event of an appeal and 
will recommend deferral in the event that there is a danger that the Council 
would be acting unreasonably in refusing the application.

Where the officer recommendation is for “refusal” and Members resolve not to 
accept this recommendation, appropriate conditions should then be debated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote.  For reasons of probity, Member 
should also confirm reasons for approval which should also be lawful in 
planning terms.  Officers will advise accordingly but will recommend deferral if 
more time is required to consider what conditions/obligations are required or if 
he/she considers a site visit should be held.  If the application departs from 
the adopted development plan it (other than a number of policies listed on 
pages 77 and 78 of the Constitution) will need to be reported to Council and 
this report will include any appropriate conditions/obligations.

The application will not be deemed to be approved unless and until 
suitable conditions have been recorded and confirmed by means of a 
second vote.

Where Members are unable to reach agreement on reasons for refusal or 
appropriate conditions as detailed above, Members should resolve to defer 
the application for further consultation and receipt of appropriate planning and 
legal advice. 

Page 80



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL

 WARD: Uplands - Bay Area
Location: 122 Eaton Crescent, Uplands, Swansea, SA1 4QR 

 
Proposal: Change of use from residential (Class C3) to a HMO for 6 people (Class 

C4) including minor external alterations 
 

Applicant: Mr Andrew Wood  
 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
POLICIES 
 
UDP - EV1 - Design  
New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good design. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 
 
UDP - EV9 - Development in Conservation Areas  
Development within or adjacent to a Conservation Area will only be permitted if it would 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting. (City 
& County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
UDP - HC5 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  
Proposals for the conversion of dwelling or non-residential properties to HMO's will be permitted 
subject to a set of defined criteria including the effect upon residential amenity; harmful 
concentration or intensification of HMO's in an area, effect upon the external appearance of the 
property and the locality; effect on local car parking and highway safety; and adequate refuse 
storage arrangements. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 
100023509 

Page 81



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 

ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
UDP - AS6 - Parking/Accessibility  
Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
SITE HISTORY 
App Number Proposal Status Decision Date  

2016/3401/FUL Change of use from 
residential (Class C3) to a 
HMO for 6 people (Class 
C4) including minor 
external alterations 

PDE  
  

83/0894/03 DORMER 
CONSTRUCTION AS 
FLAT FOR SINGLE 
PERSON 

APP 25.08.1983 
  

79/0090/08 PART USE AS A 
DWELLING AND PART 
ACCOMMODATION FOR 
WEEKLY BOARDERS 
FROM DUMBARTON 
SCHOOL 

APP 22.02.1979 
  

78/0811/08 USE AS OFFICES OBJ 11.09.1978 

78/0810/08 USE AS A HOME OR 
INSTITUTION 

APP 13.09.1978 
  

78/0809/08 USE AS A SCHOOL NOBJ 11.09.1978 

78/0808/08 USE AS BOARDING 
HOUSE OR GUEST 
HOUSE 

REF 11.09.1978 

78/0807/08 USE AS SINGLE 
DWELLING OR 
MULTIPLE OCCUPATION 

APP 11.09.1978 
  

2016/1350 Use of property as 19 bed 
HMO (application  for a 
Certificate of Existing 
Lawful Use) 

WL 08.08.2016 
 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
Neighbours: The application was advertised in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2012 (as amended) through the display 
of a site notice and in the press as development within a Conservation Area. In addition to this 
adjoining properties were individually consulted. 

Page 82



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
ONE PETITION OF OBJECTION has been received containing 32 signatures which raised the 
following concerns:   
 
1. Over-density of HMOs in the area. 
2. Parking issues. 
3. Increase in refuse. 
4. Impact on residential amenity and quality of life of existing residents 
 
In terms of a breakdown of addresses, amongst other unclear addresses,  the petition contains 
addresses from The Grove, Sketty Road, Terrace Road, Uplands Terrace, Brynmill Road, 
Ernald Place, Glanmor Park Road, Clydach Road, Waterloo Place, Knoll Avenue, St Helens 
Avenue, Finsbury Terrace, Windsor Street, Pinewood Road, Derwen Fawr Road, Cherry Grove, 
Vivian Road, Westbourne Road and Cameron Road. 
 
ELEVEN INDIVIDUAL LETTERS OF OBJECTION have been received from properties including 
Nos. 75, 78, 84, 85, 87 and 118 Eaton Crescent which raise the following concerns: 
 
1. Our street already has numerous HMO properties. This causes problems with congestion 

and parking. 
2. Uplands has the most houses in multiple occupation  
3. No justification for any more 
4. Parking to the rear will rarely be used as access is down a narrow lane to the rear of the 

building. 
5. New residents likely to park on street 
6. Concerns about refuse management 
7. Concerns with litter, parking, driving issues and noise 
8. This application is not in the long term interest of permanent residents of Uplands. 
9. Loss of a potential family home when young families are moving back to the street in 

former HMO's 
10. Oversaturated with HMO's 
11. No cars have ever been parked at the rear of this property. 
12. Access to the parking area is via a narrow lane and poorly lit 
13. Service road to parking area is hazardous for present and increased traffic 
14. Eaton Crescent now lies in a Conservation Area and changing houses into HMOs does 

not fit in with the ethos. 
15. Maintenance of family homes should be a priority. 
16. The high concentration of HMO's in the area has reached a level which is having an 

adverse impact upon our community of permanent residents.  
17. Further HMOs are not needed as there is no shortage of such accommodation in the 

area.  
18. HMOs are frequently noisy as well as messy and this makes bringing up children on the 

street a sometimes challenging experience. 
19. This will create a 'super HMO' for the new owner 19 already existing. 
20. Parking is already a problem on the street.  
21. Rear service lane is unsuitable to access rear of property more cars will park on street 
22. To have another HMO in Eaton Crescent will increase the current problems.  

Page 83



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
Highways: The current parking standards allow for up to six people in a property without the 
need for any additional parking. Prior to the introduction of the C4 Classification (for between 3 
& 6 persons) in March 2016 up to six people could share without the need for planning 
permission. 
 
Given that the parking standards do not reflect the new use Class C4 and based on recent 
appeal decisions, I do not consider that a refusal from highways could be justified at appeal 
despite my ongoing concerns regarding the cumulative impact of increasing sizes of HMO's in 
the area. 
 
As part of the HMO SPG a review of the existing parking standards which specifically relate to 
HMOs and purpose built student accommodation will be included. This should be in place by 
March 2017 and will take into account data specific to Swansea and not generic information for 
Wales as a whole. In the interim the existing SPG on parking is the relevant document that any 
Inspector would use in a Planning appeal situation.  
 
This application is for a change of use from C3 to C4 (for 6 persons) hence it is still on or below 
the six person threshold. 
 
The plans indicate a parking area to the rear of the site that can accommodate 6 cars. This 
would fully comply with the CCS Parking Standards. In addition cycle parking is shown as being 
available in the basement area.  
 
On that basis I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to 
conditions.  
1. The dwelling being used by no more than 6 persons in the interest of highway safety. 
2. Cycle Parking to be provided in accordance with the submitted details prior to beneficial 
occupation of the HMO. 
3. The car parking area as indicated being made available prior to beneficial occupation of the 
HMO, and maintained for parking purposes only in perpetuity. 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is reported to Committee for decision at the request of Councillor Nick Davies.  
A petition of 32 signatures has been received to support the call in procedure.  
 
Description 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use from residential dwelling (Class C3) to 
HMO for 6 people with associated fenestration alterations at 122 Eaton Crescent. 
 
The existing accommodation is set over four floors, with a lounge and kitchen to the ground, 2 
living rooms/bedrooms to the first floor, 3 bedrooms to the second floor and an open attic area. 
The proposal seeks to provide a lounge and kitchen to the ground floor, 2 bedrooms to the first 
floor, 3 bedrooms to the second floor and an attic bedroom to the third floor. The basement area 
would provide bike/bin storage.  
 

Page 84



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
Plans indicate a new roof light within the roof plane to serve the bedroom with at the fourth floor.  
 
The application site is located within the Ffynone and Uplands Conservation Area 
 
Site History 
 
The property namely 122 and 124 was converted prior to 1979 to provide one large building 
adapted as a residential home for the aged. From 1979 to 1994 the property was a boarding 
house for students and pupils from Dumbarton House School. Following the closure of the 
school in 1995 the property was adapted to provide student accommodation. In 2003 the 
property was registered as a 19 bedroom HMO with a separate 5 bedroomed self-contained 
house. The owner of the property occupied the self-contained house. 
 
A certificate of lawful use was issued on 8th August 2016 (ref:2016/1350) as it was considered 
that based on the evidence provided and on the balance of probability, part of the property at 
122-124 Eaton Crescent had been used as a 19 bed HMO for a period in excess of 10 years.  
The red line area for the certificate application specifically excluded the application property 
which is the subject of this application.  
 
For clarification, this application seeks planning permission to change the use of the self-
contained house within the application site to a 6 bedroom HMO.  
 
Main Issues 
 
The main issues for consideration during the determination of this application relate to the 
principle of this form of use at this location and the resultant impact of the use and the 
development upon the residential amenities of the area, highway safety and the impact of the 
proposal on the character and appearance of the Ffynone Conservation Area, having regard for 
the provisions of the Swansea Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance document entitled 'Swansea Parking Standards' and the site history. 
 
The Supplementary Planning Guidance 'Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Purpose 
Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) has recently gone out to public consultation. The 
consultation period runs from 23rd January until 5th March 2017. Whilst a draft document has 
been produced, until the document has been through consultation and Adopted formally, it is not 
a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
 
Principle of Use 
 
Up until March 2016 planning permission was not required for the use of a property as a HMO 
for up to 6 people and as such there has been historically a large concentration of HMO 
properties in Uplands which has happened predominately without planning permission being 
required. 
 
Following concerns raised by Local Authorities throughout Wales in respect of areas with a high 
concentration of HMOs an amendment to the Use Class Order was made introducing a 
separate C4 use for HMO properties with more than 2 people living in them. The amendment 
was made in order to safeguard the confidence of residents in areas with large numbers of 
HMOs, while at the same time protecting the rights of those people living in them. 

Page 85



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
It is acknowledged that large concentrations of HMOs can bring their own problems to local 
areas, however whilst Swansea Local Authority has now produced a SPG related to HMOs this 
is currently at consultation stage and until formally adopted does not carry any weight.  
 
Policy HC5 of the Swansea UDP supports the conversion of dwellings to HMOs subject to 
compliance with the set criteria: 
 
(i) There would be no significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of noise, 
nuisance and/or other disturbance 
(ii) The development would not contribute to harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in 
a particular area 
(iii) There would be no adverse effect upon the external appearance of the property and the 
character of the locality, 
(iv) There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway safety, and 
(v) Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided  
 
The criteria of the above is addressed below: 
 
Would the proposal result in a significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of 
noise, nuisance and/or other disturbance? 
 
On the basis of the information provided, the proposal will result in an increase in the number of 
bedrooms from 5 to 6, as the two rooms on the first floor could easily be used as bedrooms. A 
large family could occupy this large four storey property under the extant lawful use of the 
premises and as such it is not considered that the use of the premises for up to 6 people as a 
HMO would result in an unacceptable intensification of the use of the building over and above 
what could be experienced which could warrant the refusal of this application. As such the 
proposed use will not result in unacceptable noise and disturbance which could reasonably 
warrant the refusal of this application. The proposal is considered to respect residential amenity 
in compliance with the provisions of Policies EV1, EV40 and HC5 of the Swansea UDP. 
 
Would the development contribute to a harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in a 
particular area? 
 
In 2015 the Welsh Government commissioned a study into the impact of houses in multiple 
accommodation (HMOs) concentrations on local communities in certain areas across Wales. 
The Welsh Government identified that HMOs make an important contribution to the provision of 
housing for those unable to buy or rent smaller accommodation but the study revealed common 
problems associated with high concentrations of HMOs including damage to social cohesion, 
difficult access to the area for owner occupiers and first time buyers, increases in anti-social 
behaviour, noise, burglary and other crime, reduction in the quality of the local environment, a 
change in the character of the area, increased pressure on parking and a reduction in provision 
of community facilities for families and children, in particular pressure on schools through falling 
rolls. The research recommended that the definition of a HMO be changed and that the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 be amended to give Local Authorities the 
power to manage the development of HMOs with fewer than seven residents, which previously 
would not have required planning permission. 

Page 86



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
Following on from the change in legislation the Welsh Government published a document 
entitled 'Houses in Multiple Occupation Practice Guidance (February 2016) HMOs. Within this it 
is identified that HMOs provide a source of accommodation for certain groups which include 
students temporarily resident and individuals and/or small households unable to afford self-
contained accommodation. It further identifies the concerns, as set above, that were raised in 
the study into HMOs as well as setting out good practice measures in relation to the 
management of HMOs. 
 
It is evident from visiting the site and viewing the Councils own records that there is a high level 
of properties in multiple occupation along Eaton Crescent. Eaton Crescent comprises a wide 
mix of house styles most being substantial properties set along both sides of 'The Crescent', 
some being homes for the elderly, self-contained flats, HMO's and family houses. Using 
evidence held by our Environmental Health Department there are currently 24 HMO licenses 
active (as of the 23rd January 2017) along Eaton Crescent as listed on the public register. There 
are approximately 155 properties on this road (it is acknowledged that some of these properties 
are in flats) and based on these figures approximately 15% of dwellings within this road are 
licensed HMO properties. The approval of this application would take the number of licensed 
HMOs within Eaton Crescent to 25 which is approximately 16% of the properties on the road.  
 
It is clear that approval of the application would result in the addition of a further HMO into a 
ward area that already comprises a concentration of HMOs, however whilst this is the case 
there is no empirical evidence that leads conclusively to the conclusion that approval of this 
additional HMO would result in a harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in this area or 
street. In the absence of a percentage or other similar calculation based approach it is difficult to 
determine what number of HMOs in an area would constitute a 'harmful concentration'. As such 
whilst this application will result in further concentration of HMOs it cannot be regarded that this 
is a harmful concentration such that it complies with the aims of this criterion. 
 
There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway safety 
 
Having consulted the Head of Transportation and Engineering it is acknowledged that the 
current Parking Standards allow for up to six people in a property without the need for any 
additional parking. Prior to the introduction of the C4 Classification (for between 3 and 6 
persons) in March 2016 up to six people could share without the need for planning permission. 
Given that the parking standards do not reflect the new use Class C4 and based on recent 
appeal decisions, the Head of Transportation does not consider that a refusal from highways 
could be justified at appeal despite ongoing concerns regarding the cumulative impact of 
increasing sizes of HMO's in the area. 
 
This application is for a change of use from C3 to C4 (for 6 persons) hence it is still on or below 
the six person threshold. The plans indicate a parking area to the rear of the site that can 
accommodate 6 cars. This would fully comply with the CCS Parking Standards. In addition cycle 
parking is shown as being available in the basement area.  
 
The site is in a sustainable location and is well served by public transport and local amenities as 
well as being located within walking distance of the University and the City Centre. Therefore 
subject to appropriately worded conditions the proposal is not considered to have any greater 
impact on highway safety or parking over and above the existing extant use of the property in 
compliance with the provisions of Policies EV1, HC5 and AS6. 

Page 87



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided 
 
The site has a large enough rear garden to accommodate refuse bins and as such it is 
reasonable to suggest these could be provided and agreed via an appropriately worded 
condition. 
 
Visual Amenity and Impact upon the Conservation Area 
 
In order to facilitate the provision of the additional accommodation within the roof space a roof 
light is proposed within the roof plane. Subject to a condition to agree details, this is considered 
to be acceptable in visual terms and in keeping with the character and appearance of the host 
property and would preserve the character and appearance of the street scene within the 
Ffynone and Uplands Conservation Area in compliance with Policies EV1, HC5 and EV9.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Turning to the impact on residential amenity, it is not considered that the addition of the window 
to serve the bedroom in the roofspace gives rise to any unacceptable overlooking over and 
above that which currently exists. As such the development is considered to respect the 
residential amenities of the neighbouring properties in compliance with the provisions of Policies 
EV1 of the Swansea UDP. 
 
Response to Consultations 
 
Notwithstanding the above a petition of objection and individual letters of objection have been 
received which raised concerns relating to the impact of the proposal upon the number of HMOs 
in the area, parking, residential amenity, impact on character of an area. The issues pertaining 
to which have been addressed above.  
 
Concern has been raised with respect litter issues associated with HMO properties, however 
this is a matter covered under Environmental Health Legislation and not something which could 
be taken into account during the consideration of this planning application. The concerns in 
relation to the access to the parking area have been noted however the Head of Transportation 
has raised no highway objection to the proposed access and an appropriate condition is 
recommended to ensure the parking area as indicated is provided. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The provision of an additional HMO at this location is considered to be an acceptable land use 
at the property. There is no evidence to suggest that changing the use of the dwelling in to a 
HMO would result in a harmful concentration of HMOs within this area. No highway objection 
has been raised and suitable spaces are set out for the provision of parking, cycle storage and 
waste storage. The provision of a roof light preserves the character of the Ffynone and Uplands 
Conservation Area.  As such the development is considered to be an acceptable form of 
development which respects visual amenity, residential amenity and highway safety, in 
accordance with the provisions of Policies EV1, EV9 and HC5 of the Swansea UDP. Approval is 
recommended. 

Page 88



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
Regard has been given to the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under Part 2, 
Section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the WBFG Act"). In 
reaching this decision, the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the ways of working 
set out at Part 2, Section 5 of the WBFG Act and consider that this recommendation is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or 
more of the public bodies' well-being objectives set out as required by Part 2, Section 9 of the 
WBFG Act. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the date of 

this decision. 
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990. 
 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: Site Location Plan, received 2nd December, 2016; SK/01: Existing floor 
plans, SK/03: Existing block plan, SK/04: Proposed block plan, received on 15th 
November 2016, SK/02 Rev A: Proposed floor plans, SK/05 Rev A: Existing and 
proposed elevations, received 31st January 2017. 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 
 
3 Notwithstanding the plans submitted and prior to the beneficial occupation of the 

development hereby approved, details of the car parking area including surfacing, 
drainage and any retaining wall details, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning. The car parking area shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the beneficial occupation of the development and be retained for such 
purposes at all times. 

 Reason: In the interests of local car parking, highway safety, drainage and visual 
amenity. 

 
4 Prior to the beneficial occupation of the HMO commencing facilities for the secure 

storage of a minimum of six cycles shall be provided and available for use in accordance 
with details shown on the proposed basement plan SK02 received 15th November 2016. 
The cycle parking shall be retained and available for use in perpetuity.  

 Reason: In the interests of providing facilities for sustainable transport. 
 
5 Prior to beneficial occupation of the HMO commencing, details of a bin storage area for 

refuse and recycling to serve the HMO shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The bin storage area shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the beneficial occupation of the development and be 
retained for such purposes at all times.  

 Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

Page 89



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3401/FUL
 
6 Notwithstanding the plans submitted and prior to its installation details which shall include 

full specification, materials and siting of the roof light which shall be of a conservation 
style, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
roof light shall be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the beneficial 
occupation of the development.  

 Reason: To protect the historical and architectural importance of the host dwelling within 
the Conservation Area. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and County 

of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the 
consideration of the application: EV1, EV9, AS6 and HC5 

 
2 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that may be 

required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
 

Page 90



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL

 WARD: St. Thomas - Bay Area
Location: 57 Ysgol Street, Port Tennant, Swansea, SA1 8LG 

 
Proposal: Change of use from residential dwelling (Class C3) to a HMO for 5 

people (Class C4) 
 

Applicant: Mrs. Helen Ryan  
 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
POLICIES 
 
UDP - EV1 - Design  
New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good design. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 
 
UDP - AS6 - Parking/Accessibility  
Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
UDP - HC5 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  
Proposals for the conversion of dwelling or non-residential properties to HMO's will be permitted 
subject to a set of defined criteria including the effect upon residential amenity; harmful 
concentration or intensification of HMO's in an area, effect upon the external appearance of the 
property and the locality; effect on local car parking and highway safety; and adequate refuse 
storage arrangements. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
 

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 
100023509 

Page 91



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
SITE HISTORY 
App Number Proposal Status Decision Date  

2016/3406/FUL Change of use from 
residential dwelling (Class 
C3) to a HMO for 5 people 
(Class C4) 

PDE  
 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS: 
 
Neighbours: The application was advertised in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2012 (as amended) by neighbour notification 
letters sent to Nos. 56 & 58 Ysgol Street and through display of a site notice dated 2nd 
December 2016.  
 
30 LETTERS OF OBJECTION have been received which are summarised as follows:  
 
1. Too many HMO's in the street;  
2. Lack of parking in the street; 
3. On street parking pressure leading to disputes between residents; 
4. Fire safety concerns; 
5. The character of the area is changing; and 
6. Noise and antisocial behaviour. 
 
The letters have been received from occupiers of properties along Ysgol Street. 
 
Pollution Control Division: No objection 
 
Highways: The current Parking Standards allow for up to six people in a property without the 
need for any additional parking. Prior to the introduction of the C4 Classification (for between 3 
and 6 persons) in March 2016 up to six people could share without the need for planning 
permission. 
 
Given that the parking standards do not reflect the new use class C4 and based on recent 
appeal decisions I do not consider that a refusal from highways could be justified at appeal 
despite my ongoing concerns regarding the cumulative impact of increasing sizes of HMO's in 
the area. 
 
As part of the HMO SPG currently being drafted a review of the existing parking standards 
which specifically relate to HMO's and purpose built student accommodation will be included. 
This should be in place by March 2017and will take into account data specific to Swansea and 
not generic information for Wales as a whole. In the interim the existing SPG on parking is the 
relevant document that any Inspector would use in a Planning appeal situation. 
 
This application is for a change of use from C3 to C4 (for 5 persons) hence it is still below the 
six person threshold. 
 
The applicant has confirmed (January 2017) that a garage to the rear of the site is to be 
removed to make way for a single parking space. Access to this area is off an adopted rear 
lane. 

Page 92



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
Parking on street is unrestricted.  
 
The planning statement claims that cycle storage will be made available and this is shown on 
the plans. Its inclusion can mitigate for the lack of car parking facilities albeit that one parking 
space is being made available.  
 
On that basis I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to: 
 
1. The dwelling being used by no more than 5 persons in the interest of highway safety; and 
2. Cycle Parking to be provided in accordance with the submitted details prior to beneficial 

occupation of the HMO. 
 
Applicant's Supporting Statement 
 
The following statement has been submitted by the applicant:  
 
I note there have been 31 objections from local residents in response to my planning application 
to convert 57 Ysgol Street from residential (Class C3) to HMO for 5 people (Class C4) 
 
The majority of the objections relate to parking issues.  There have been more cars parking in 
the Port Tennant area over the last 10 years but the majority of this can be attributed to the 
development of the SA1- which offers very limited parking, so people park their cars in Port 
Tennant and then walk across the bridge/road to the SA1. I am aware the current Parking 
Standards allow for up to 6 people in a property without the need for any additional parking.  
However, I do appreciate the residents’ concerns and have allowed for 1 designated parking 
space to the rear of the premises within my application.  This area can be seen on the site plan.  
In addition cycle storage will be made available for 5 cycles and is also shown on the plans to 
the rear of the property. 
 
A comment has also been raised with regards to the safety of the house.  In the event that 
planning is granted then before an HMO certificate is issued numerous safety checks have to be 
undertaken which include replacing existing doors/frames with fire doors/frames that comply to 
certain standards, smoke/carbon monoxide detectors in every room.   
 
Appropriate refuse storage arrangements have been provided.  There is already a lean-to for 
existing refuse and a further 3 x40 litre bins will also be provided. 
 
I have checked the HMO register with Swansea Council and cannot see any HMO's listed for 
Ysgol Street. 
 
A few comments have been made with regards to noise and anti-social behaviour.  I already 
have another HMO in Brynmill and are not aware of any complaints being made to the 
University, council or police.  I manage this property myself having recently complied with the 
requirements for Rent Smart Wales and I am now a registered licenced Landlord.  I am 
originally from Port Tennant, my Uncle lives opposite the house on Ysgol Street with my father 
around the corner on Danygraig road.  Matters of antisocial behaviour would be a matter for the 
police, but I certainly would not renew any contract for a tenant if they were being disrespectful 
to neighbours.  

Page 93



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
APPRAISAL: 
 
This application is reported to Committee for decision at the request of Councillor Joe Hale. 30 
individual letters of objection have also been received to support the call in procedure.  
 
Description 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use from residential (Class C3) to a 5 
bedroom HMO (Class C4) at No. 57 Ysgol Street, Port Tennant, Swansea.   
 
The existing dwelling is two storey 3-bedroom mid terrace property which is situated within the 
residential area of Port Tennant. The area comprises rows of traditionally designed terraced 
properties.  
 
No external alterations are proposed to the host dwelling, however, it is proposed to demolish 
the existing garage to the rear of the property and provide one car parking space accessed from 
the adopted rear lane.    
 
Main Issues 
 
The main issues for consideration during the determination of this application relate to the 
principle of this form of use at this location and the resultant impact of the use upon the 
residential amenities of the area and highway safety having regard for the provisions of the 
Swansea UDP and the Supplementary Planning Guidance document entitled 'Swansea Parking 
Standards'. 
 
The Supplementary Planning Guidance 'Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Purpose 
Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) has recently gone out to public consultation. The 
consultation period runs from 23rd January until 5th March 2017. Whilst a draft document has 
been produced, until the document has been through consultation and adopted formally, it is not 
a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
 
Principle of Use 
 
Up until March 2016 planning permission was not required for the use of a property as a HMO 
for up to 6 people and as such there has been historically a large concentration of HMO 
properties in some parts of Swansea which has happened predominately without planning 
permission being required.  
 
Following concerns raised by Local Authorities throughout Wales in respect of areas with a high 
concentration of HMOs an amendment to the Use Class Order was made introducing a 
separate C4 use for HMO properties with more than 2 people living in them. The amendment 
was made in order to safeguard the confidence of residents in areas with large numbers of 
HMOs, while at the same time protecting the rights of those people living in them.  
 
It is acknowledged that large concentrations of HMOs can bring their own problems to local 
areas, however whilst Swansea Local Authority has now produced a SPG related to HMOs this 
is currently at consultation stage and until formally adopted does not carry any weight. 

Page 94



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
Policy HC5 of the Swansea UDP supports the conversion of dwellings to HMOs subject to 
compliance with the set criteria: 
 
(i) There would be no significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of noise, 

nuisance and/or other disturbance 
 
(ii) The development would not contribute to harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs 

in a particular area 
 
(iii) There would be no adverse effect upon the external appearance of the property and the 

character of the locality, 
 
(iv) There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway safety, and 
 
(v) Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided 
 
The criteria of the above is addressed below: 
 
Would the proposal result in a significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of 
noise, nuisance and/or other disturbance? 
 
On the basis of the information provided, it is acknowledged that the proposal would result in the 
increase of two bedrooms to provide a five bedroom property. A large family could occupy the 
property under the extant lawful use of the premises and as such it is not considered that the 
use of the premises for up to 5 people as a HMO would result in an unacceptable intensification 
of the use of the building over and above what could be experienced as a dwelling house.  
 
As such the proposed use will not result in unacceptable noise and disturbance which could 
reasonably warrant the refusal of this application. The proposal is considered to respect 
residential amenity in compliance with the provisions of Policies EV1, EV40 and HC5 of the 
Swansea UDP. 
 
Would the development contribute to a harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in a 
particular area? 
 
In 2015 the Welsh Government commissioned a study into the impact of houses in multiple 
accommodation (HMOs) concentrations on local communities in certain areas across Wales. 
The Welsh Government identified that HMOs make an important contribution to the provision of 
housing for those unable to buy or rent smaller accommodation but the study revealed  common 
problems associated with high concentrations of HMOs including damage to social cohesion, 
difficult access to the area for owner occupiers and first time buyers, increases in anti-social 
behaviour, noise, burglary and other crime, reduction in the quality of the local environment, a 
change in the character of the area, increased pressure on parking and a reduction in provision 
of community facilities for families and children, in particular pressure on schools through falling 
rolls. The research recommended that the definition of a HMO be changed and that the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 be amended to give Local Authorities the 
power to manage the development of HMOs with fewer than seven residents, which previously 
would not have required planning permission. 

Page 95



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
Following on from the change in legislation the Welsh Government published a document 
entitled 'Houses in Multiple Occupation Practice Guidance (February 2016) HMOs. Within this it 
is identified that HMOs provide a source of accommodation for certain groups which include 
students temporarily resident and individuals and/or small households unable to afford self-
contained accommodation. It further identifies the concerns, as set above, that were raised in 
the study into HMOs as well as setting out good practice measures in relation to the 
management of HMOs. 
 
From viewing the Councils own HMO register, there are currently no HMOs registered along 
Ysgol Street (as of the 26th January 2017),  however, planning permission was recently granted 
for the change of use of No. 54 Ysgol Street to a HMO for 5 people (planning application no: 
2016/3388/FUL refers) and an application is currently being considered for the change of use of 
No. 89 Ysgol Street to a HMO for 5 people (planning application no: 2016/3617/FUL refers). It 
should be noted, however, that outside of the Castle and Uplands Wards only larger properties 
are captured by Mandatory Licensing. As a result there may be instances where HMOs exist in 
the area albeit that they would have been implemented prior to the use class change in 
February 2016 and not required planning permission and are not subject to licensing 
requirements. 
 
In the absence of a percentage or other similar calculation based approach, it is difficult to 
determine what number of HMOs in an area would constitute a 'harmful concentration'. Given 
there are limited numbers of HMOs in this area, without empirical evidence, it is regarded that 
this is not a harmful concentration such that it complies with the aims of this criterion. 
 
There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway safety 
 
Having consulted the Head of Transportation and Engineering it is acknowledged that the 
current Parking Standards allow for up to six people in a property without the need for any 
additional parking. Prior to the introduction of the C4 Classification (for between 3 and 6 
persons) in March 2016 up to six people could share without the need for planning permission. 
Given that the parking standards do not reflect the new use Class C4 and based on recent 
appeal decisions, the Head of Transportation does not consider that a refusal from highways 
could be justified at appeal despite ongoing concerns regarding the cumulative impact of 
increasing sizes of HMO's in the area. 
 
This application is for a change of use from C3 to C4 (for 5 persons) hence it is still  below the 
six person threshold and complies with the guidance set out in the Adopted SPG on Parking 
Standards.  As noted earlier in the report, the proposal comprises the demolition of the existing 
garage to the rear to allow for a single car parking space with access from the adopted rear lane 
and cycle storage. This would allow for the creation of a parking space as well as cycle storage 
which can be utilised to serve the HMO. 
 
Whilst the concerns of the objectors regarding potential parking issues from the proposal are 
noted the scheme complies with the provisions outlined in the SPG and provides a parking 
space and cycle storage provision to serve the use. It should be noted that Local Planning 
Authorities are unable to refuse planning permission on the basis of there being existing parking 
problems within an area unless it can be clearly demonstrated that a proposal would give rise to 
problems that would both exacerbate an existing issue that can be evidenced and that the lack 
of parking would lead to a highway safety issue resulting in both conflict and harm. 

Page 96



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
In view of the above, subject to appropriately worded conditions the proposal is not considered 
to have any greater impact on highway safety or parking over and above the existing extant use 
of the property in compliance with the provisions of Policies EV1, HC5 and AS6. 
 
Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided 
 
An area for bin storage is proposed to the rear of the property.   
 
Response to Consultations 
 
Notwithstanding the above, thirty letters of objection were received which raised concerns 
relating to local car parking and highway safety, noise and disturbance and the concentration or 
intensification of HMOs in the area. The issues pertaining to which have been addressed above.  
 
Issues in respect of antisocial behaviour including noise and fire safety are covered under 
separate legislation via Environmental Health, the Building Regulations or the Police and as 
such cannot be taken into consideration during the determination of this application. 
 
Conclusion 
 
On the basis of all material considerations it can be regarded that the application is acceptable. 
The HMO will not result in a harmful concentration of HMOs within the area, there will be no 
adverse impact upon the visual amenities of the area, the residential amenities of neighbouring 
properties and highway safety having regard for the provisions of Policies EV1, AS6 and HC5 of 
the Swansea UDP. As such subject to conditions approval is recommended.  
 
Regard has been given to the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under Part 2, 
Section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the WBFG Act"). In 
reaching this decision, the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the ways of working 
set out at Part 2, Section 5 of the WBFG Act and consider that this recommendation is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or 
more of the public bodies' well-being objectives set out as required by Part 2, Section 9 of the 
WBFG Act. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE, subject to the following conditions; 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the date of 

this decision. 
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990. 
 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: location plan received on 21st November 2016 and floor plans received 
on 22nd November 2016. 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 

Page 97



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/3406/FUL
 
3 Prior to the beneficial occupation of the HMO commencing, the car parking area shall be 

laid out, completed and available for use, in accordance with plans to be submitted and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and the car parking spaces shall remain 
available for their designated use for the lifetime of the use. 

 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety. 
 
4 Details of facilities for the secure and undercover storage of five cycles and storage of 

refuse shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the beneficial use of the development and 
shall thereafter be retained for the approved use and not used for any other purpose. 

 Reason: In the interests of providing facilities for sustainable transport, highway safety 
and residential amenity. 

 
5 No more than five residents shall live at the property, as part of the HMO hereby 

approved, at any one time. 
 Reason: In order to control the density of the development, in line with the proposal, 

having regard to the scale of the existing use and parking provision within the locality. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and County 

of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the 
consideration of the application: EV1, EV9, AS6 and HC5. 

 
2 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that may be 

required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
 
 

Page 98



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670

 WARD: Bishopston - Area 2
Location: Gower Play, Clyne Common, Swansea, SA3 3JB 

 
Proposal: Retention of climbing frame 

 
Applicant: Gower Play  

 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
POLICIES 
 
UDP - EV21 - Rural Development  
In the countryside non-residential development will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that it is beneficial for the rural economy, or it meets overriding social or economic 
local needs, or it is appropriate development associated with farm diversification, sustainable 
tourism or nature conservation, or it provides an acceptable economic use for brown field land 
or existing buildings, or it is essential for communications, other utility services, minerals or 
renewable energy generation. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
UDP - EV1 - Design  
New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good design. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 
 
 

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 
100023509 

Page 99



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
UDP - EV22 - Countryside General Policy  
The countryside throughout the County will be conserved and enhanced for the sake of its 
natural heritage, natural resources, historic and cultural environment and agricultural and 
recreational value through: 
i) The control of development, and  
ii) Practical management and improvement measures. 
(City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
UDP - EV23 - Green Wedges  
Within green wedges development will only be permitted if it maintains the openness and 
character of the green wedge and does not contribute to the coalescence of settlements or 
adversely affect the setting of the urban area.  (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development 
Plan 2008) 
 
SITE HISTORY 
App Number Proposal Status Decision Date  

A00/0056 ERECTION OF LINK 
CORRIDOR BETWEEN 
SPORTS HALL AND MAIN 
SCHOOL BUILDING 
(AMENDMENT TO 
PLANNING PERMISSION 
95/0900 GRANTED ON 
29TH SEPTEMBER 1995) 

APP 18.02.2000 
  

98/1131 CONSTRUCTION OF 
NEW VEHICULAR 
ACCESS AND AMENDED 
CAR PARKING AND 
INTERNAL TRAFFIC 
CIRCULATION LAYOUT 

APP 06.10.1998 
  

2016/1670 Retention of climbing 
frame 

PDE  
 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
The application was advertised on site and two individual letters sent to neighbouring occupiers.  
A PETITION of OBJECTION containing 79 signatures has been received with a covering 
statement, together with ONE individual letter OBJECTION all of which are summarised as 
follows: 
 
o A retrospective planning application has been submitted with no red line showing the 

extent of the application site and also no existing drawings and no dimensions. 
o No ecological habitat assessment submitted 
o There has never been planning permission for the use of the field as a playing area 
o The climbing frame falls under Class D2 and therefore a change of use of the land is 

required. 
o The proposal is contrary to national and local policy 
o The proposal has a significant detrimental impact in terms of noise and disturbance upon 

the neighbouring occupiers 

Page 100



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
o There is permission for further growth within the Campion Gardens complex bringing 

units even closer to this noise source. 
o The proposal has an unacceptable visual impact 
o The premises operates 7 days a week from 10am - 6pm 
o The proposal is contrary to policy contained within the emerging LDP. 
 
The Gower Society - We refer to the above application that has also been drawn to our 
attention by one of our members who resides in Willow Court. We would like to comment as 
follows : 
 
1. The application is inadequate because it does not show the exact location of the play 

area and its proximity with other property. 
2. The application does not make it clear if the play area is directly connected with the 

Nursery School. Is it a separate enterprise? 
3. The play area is a development in the Green Wedge EV23 and Development in the 

Countryside EV20/21 at the rear of Willow Court and Campion Gardens, both occupied 
by either elderly patients in care or mainly elderly people who have retired to what was 
(and they thought) a quiet and peaceful location. 

4. This development has been carried out without Planning Permission or consideration for 
those that are affected by the inevitable noise of, albeit, children at play. It is regrettable 
that this has proceeded in an insensitive manner without any apparent consultation for 
those inevitably affected. 

5. The scale of the development is virtually of an industrial scale and totally out of character 
with its location. 

6. In addition we are worried that the developers have future intentions to extend this 
commercial development to include teenagers and adult groups. 

 
We have no alternative but to object to this application and please take these comments into 
account when making your decision. 
 
Councillor Keith Marsh - I have not had the time to complete my submission, but I trust you 
will have enough to analyse.  
 
As discussed, please see below my comments/objections to this application as follows: 
 
1) Policy EV1 (Design) states - "New development shall accord with the following, etc." 

a) Be appropriate in terms of scale, height , massing, etc. 
b) Integrate with adjacent spaces, etc. 
c) Not result in detrimental impact on local amenity in terms visual impact, privacy or 

disturbance, etc. 
 

Due to its design it does not meet the criteria set out in this policy and will clearly have a 
detrimental effect on those occupants of those apartments immediately adjacent to the 
site, especially during the opening hours for 7 days a week which are 10.00am to 
6.00pm. as advertised. 
 
There is a need for developments of this nature to be resisted if it impinges on the 
amenities of nearby neighbours, as in this case. 

Page 101



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
2) Policy EV22 (Countryside General Policy) states - "The countryside in the County will be 

preserved and enhanced etc. for the sake of its natural heritage etc. including 
recreational values through control of development.  

 
This policy seeks to encourage and attract investment and is a reason why many people 
choose to live in the area. The installation of the equipment clearly does not entirely meet 
this policy as it is installed in an area which was primarily used as pasture for livestock 
and is therefore, to all intents and purposes, agricultural. As far as I am aware, there has 
not been an application for "Change of Use" from agricultural to enable it to be used for 
other purposes. This land lies outside the curtilage of the main site, Craig-y-Nos and is 
apparently leased. 

 
3) Policy EV23 (Green Wedges) states - "Within these areas development will only be 

permitted if it maintains the openness and character, etc." Clearly the proposal does not 
maintain the purpose of the Green Wedge and would appear not provide essential 
outdoor recreational activities. 

 
4) Policy EV40 (Air, Noise and Light Pollution) states - "Development proposals will not be 

permitted that would cause or result, among other things, harm to health and local 
amenity because of levels of noise, etc. As I expand below I quote these policies as a 
possible basis for objection. 

                
5) Noise - currently the sounds emanating from the site are affecting the amenities of the 

neighbours living in the Willow Court Apartments. The majority of whom are quite elderly 
and bought their properties in order to enjoy a quiet lifestyle in the latter years of their 
lives. Many of them have previously, prior to the installation of the play equipment, 
enjoyed afternoon naps which are often interrupted by clients of Gower Play. 

 
6) Noise - likewise for the near residents of Campion Gardens Nursing Home where some 

are near the end of their lives. 
 
7) Visual impact - when viewed from the windows of the apartments overlooking the site, the 

equipment is seen as unattractive and out of place. 
 
8) The use is not confined to Nursery aged children, but includes older ones including 

teenagers. (There is the intention, apparently, to offer the site for use by  companies for 
use in team-building events. There does not seem to be any indication on the application 
that this is, indeed, an intended use in the future. I am aware that this comment may not 
be considered relevant to the application, but I see no reason why enquiries should not 
be made.) 

 
9) Parking - currently there is limited space within the curtilage of the Treetops Nursery and 

some on the area outside the premises. There would seem to be no separate access to 
area in which the equipment is sited. The outside area is fronting on to the B4436, 
Mayals Road and has no kerbing to demarcate the extent of parking available. This area 
is also subject to "Rights of Common". 

 
I believe there is a petition being submitted which I understand does contain >30 names. 

Page 102



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
May I request therefore, that the application is presented to the Planning Committee for 
consideration. 
 
May I request that the Committee visits the site and views it from one of the apartments 
which overlook it, please.  

 
Bishopston Community Council - Objects to the application on the following grounds: 
 
o Noise problems for local residents 
o Opening hours should be reduced 
o Traffic at this area is a problem now, it will increase the problem 
o Is it possible for the site to be monitored and a renewal application applied for at a 3 year 

cycle? 
 
Head of Transportation and Engineering - No highway objection 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the retention of a climbing frame on land to the rear of the 
Tree Tops Nursery/Gower Play site(Former Graig y Nos School), Clyne Common, Swansea. 
 
The project involves one large piece of apparatus that encompasses slides, climbing frames, 
rope bridges etc. and replicates a castle/fortress in its appearance.  The application site is a 
large flat grassed area set behind the Tree Tops Nursery and Gower Play buildings, situated 
within an area of open countryside and the West Cross/Newton Green Wedge. 
 
Background 
 
The application site formerly operated as part of Graig Y Nos Private School until 2014.  It has 
since been acquired and is operated by Tree Tops Nursery with Gower Play (an ancillary part of 
the operation), offering indoor soft play for toddlers and the application climbing frame offering 
outdoor play for older children.  The climbing frame measures 12.1m in width, 15.6m in length 
and has a maximum height of 5.7m Of note in this instance is that the site benefits from an 
authorised and established use within Class D1 (non-residential institutions) and that no change 
of use has occurred.   
 
Policy Issues 
 
Bearing in mind that an outdoor playing area has always (in recent history) existed on the site, 
the main issue for consideration with regard to this application is the impact upon visual amenity 
of the area which is designated as open countryside, and a Green Wedge having regard to 
Policies EV1, EV21, EV22 and EV23, of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development 
Plan 2008 (UDP). There are in this instance no additional overriding considerations arising from 
the provisions of the Human Rights Act. 
 
Policy EV21 sets criteria for the consideration of non-residential development in the countryside 
and supports proposal that are beneficial to the economy, or rural employment and provide an 
acceptable economic use for previously developed land.   

Page 103



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
Policy EV22 reinforces the primary objective that the countryside will be protected for its own 
sake while EV23 seeks to maintain the openness and character of the Green Wedge. This is 
reinforced by UDP Policy EV1 which seeks to ensure that new development follows set 
objectives of good design and quality to ensure that it is appropriate to its local context. 
 
Residential amenity 
 
In recent years (since the mid 2000's onward) the adjoining site known as Campion Gardens - a 
residential care home and retirement complex - has extended and intensified.  Willow Court is 
immediately to the east of the climbing frame (subject to this application). There is a separation 
distance of some 35m+ between the climbing frame and the side elevation of the Willow Court 
properties. The climbing frame is sited some 15m from the residential garden to its west. These 
separation distances are considered sufficient enough as to not give rise to any adverse 
overlooking impacts from users of the climbing frame into these neighbouring properties. 
 
The application site formed the playing field of the school and could be used by school pupils at 
any time. It can equally be used at any time by users of the Tree Tots Nursery and users of the 
associated Gower Play facility.  As the site can (and is) lawfully used as an outdoor play area, 
the installation of the play equipment has not resulted in a material change of use of the land.  
 
Furthermore, it is considered that given the lawful use of the site, the climbing frame does not 
give rise to the creation of increased levels of adverse noise and disturbance (on neighbouring 
occupiers) materially above and beyond what neighbours could experience if the land was used 
for alternative lawful purposes (playing field for outdoor games etc). It is therefore not 
considered that the application should not be refused on such grounds. 
 
Furthermore, it is not considered that the climbing frame has any overbearing or overshadowing 
impact on nearby residential properties, given its position within a central location within the site. 
 
Visual Amenity 
 
In terms of visual amenity, the application site is bound to the east and west by neighbouring 
residential properties, and to the south by open countryside.  The application site is currently 
screened by a combination of existing mature trees and planting, supplemented by close board 
timber fencing. Furthermore, whilst large in size, it is nevertheless considered to be subordinate 
to the host buildings.  
 
It is also noted that whilst the structure is visible from neighbouring properties, it is not prominent 
from public vantage points.  It occupies a concealed position to the rear of the host buildings in a 
largely screened location, which ensures its visual impact is minimised. Although the proposed 
climbing frame is large and tall, given the size of the area within which it sits, together with the 
screening described above, it is not considered to be detrimental to the visual amenities of the 
area nor the surrounding countryside/green wedge, to such an extent that warrant the refusal of 
the application. 
 
It is accepted that the climbing frame can be seen from some windows of neighbouring 
properties, and it is accepted that the climbing frame has some degree of visual impact. 
However, the extent of that impact is not considered sufficiently harmful to warrant or sustain a 
recommendation of refusal.  

Page 104



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
Response to points of objection 
 
Notwithstanding the above, a petition and letters of objection has been received.   
 
Matters relating to impacts upon residential amenity have been discussed in detail above.  
 
Matters relating to noise are also addressed above. However in the event that this planning 
application is approved and a statutory nuisance occurs, this is a matter that could be controlled 
entirely by separate legislation.  
 
With regard to highway concerns, the Head of Transportation and Engineering is satisfied that 
the proposal will not impact upon current highway safety standards and therefore raises no 
objection.   
 
Whilst the proposal constitutes unauthorised development as the structure was installed without 
planning permission first being obtained, the unauthorised erection of the structure without the 
necessary planning permission is not a criminal offence.  Whilst the situation is regrettable, this 
should have no bearing on the determination of this planning application, neither positively or 
negatively.  
 
It is suggested in the representations received, that the submission does not include a red line 
plan, existing plans or dimensioned drawings.  This is not the case, and the application would 
not have been accepted as a valid submission without such information.   
 
It is also noted that no ecological survey has been submitted in support of the application.  No 
such survey is considered necessary in this instance.   
 
With regard to the climbing frame being considered as a Class D2 use (assembly and leisure), 
as indicated above, the play equipment is considered to be ancillary to the established Class 
D1of the Tree Tops Nursery/Gower Play (non-residential institutions) use. 
 
Finally it is suggested that the application site does not benefit from planning permission for use 
as an associated playing area for the school.  The objectors are however relying on a site 
location plan extracted from the 1983 permission for the change of use of the building from a 
children's home to a school (83/1197 refers).  It is in fact true that the referenced application did 
not include the application site. However, subsequent to the 1983 permission, planning 
permission was granted in March 1984 for the use of the application site as school playing fields 
(84/0454 refers). Therefore the allegations that the land use is unauthorised and that a change 
of use is required are inaccurate.   
 
Conclusion 
 
In view of the above, and having regard to all material considerations including the Human 
Rights Act, it is considered that the proposal represents an acceptable form of development 
which complies with Policies EV1, EV21, EV22 and EV23 of the City and County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan.   
 

Page 105



PLANNING COMMITTEE – 7TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO: 2016/1670
 
Regard has been given to the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under Part 2, 
Section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the WBFG Act"). In 
reaching this decision, the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the ways of working 
set out at Part 2, Section 5 of the WBFG Act and consider that this recommendation is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or 
more of the public bodies' well-being objectives set out as required by Part 2, Section 9 of the 
WBFG Act. 
 
Approval is therefore recommended. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
APPROVE, subject to conditions: 
 
1 This planning permission relates to the following approved plan: Drwg No 

GENPL/JE/0012 - Location, Block, Layout and Elevations, received on 7th November 
2016. 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that may be 

required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
2 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and County 

of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the 
consideration of the application: Policies EV1, EV21, EV22 and EV23. 

 
 
 
 

Page 106



Report of the Head of Planning and City Regeneration

Planning Committee – 7 February 2017

PLANNING APPLICATION REF: 2016/1604

Change of use from residential (Class C3) to HMO for 4 people (Class C4)

3 Lewis Street, St Thomas Swansea SA1 8BP

1.0 Background

1.1 The application was reported to Planning Committee on the 6th December 2016 with 
the recommendation that planning permission be approved subject to conditions. 
Members did not accept the recommendation but resolved that the application be 
deferred under the two stage voting process so that they could seek further advice 
and guidance with respect formulating a reason(s) for refusing the development. It 
was advised that the application will not be deemed to be refused unless and until 
reasons for refusal have been recorded and approved by members.

1.2 The item was further reported to the 10th January 2017 Planning Committee with an 
item report setting out the issues and confirming the recommendation of officers to 
approve the application. At the meeting itself members again did not accept the 
recommendation and resolved that the application be refused. Reasons for refusal 
were not formulated by members and the application was deferred in order to require 
a parking survey of the street to be undertaken and consideration of the impact of the 
development upon amenity by virtue of ‘other disturbance’.

1.3 Since the 10th January 2017 the Council has received notification from the Planning 
Inspectorate that an appeal has been made against the non-determination of the 
application and the start date of the appeal is 18th January 2017. Prior to June 2015 
on receipt of such an appeal the jurisdiction to determine the application would 
transfer to the Welsh Ministers as an appeal. However, in June 2015, The Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)(Wales)(Amendment) 
Order 1995 came into effect. Article 9 of the Order provides Local Planning 
Authorities with an additional period of four weeks to determine the planning 
application on receipt of such an appeal. The expiry of the four weeks ends on 7th 
February 2017 following which time the decision would transfer to the Planning 
Inspectorate. 

1.3 A copy of the report to Planning Committee on 6th December 2016 and item report of 
10th January 2017 is attached as Appendix A.

2.0 Main Issues

2.1 Members did not formulate clear grounds for refusing the application at the previous 
committee meeting. It is not proposed to re-issue the advice in relation to the key 
issues which have already been well documented in the committee report of 6th 
December 2016 and the more recent Item Report of 10th January 2017 other than to 
provide comment on the issues raised by members at the January 2017 committee.

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



2.2 Members will need to be aware of the advice on the award of costs in planning 
appeals in Welsh Office Circular 23/93: Award of Costs incurred in Planning and 
other (including Compulsory Purchase Order) Proceedings’. The circular states that 
Planning Authorities are not bound to adopt, or include as part of their case, the 
professional or technical advice given by their own officers, or received from 
statutory bodies or consultees. However, they will be expected to show they had 
reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to such advice, and be 
able to produce relevant evidence to support the decision. If they fail to do so, costs 
may be awarded against the Authority.

Car Parking and Highway Safety

2.3 With regard to car parking, it is clear that there is no off-street dedicated car parking 
available for use by the HMO given the terraced nature of the property with no rear 
parking provision. Similarly, however, there is no off-street car parking available for 
the existing dwellinghouse. Parking on the street is laid out and restricted as a 
Controlled Parking Zone. The Adopted SPG Parking Standards does not seek 
additional parking provision for small scale HMOs given that there would be a 
requirement for 3 parking spaces for the existing 3 bedroom property and 3 spaces 
for up to 6 sharing as part of a HMO. The Highway Authority has been consulted and 
raised no objection to the application and conditions have been suggested to control 
the number of persons residing as part of the HMO to 4 and for cycle parking 
provision.

2.4 Should members take a contrary view to officers and consider that the application is 
not acceptable on grounds of car parking and highway safety clear reasons would 
need to be provided to justify a reason for refusal and departing from adopted 
parking standards. 

2.5 At the January 2017 committee members discussed the matters relating to car 
parking and highway safety and members considered that the provision of a car 
parking survey of the road would enable further consideration of issues of parking 
and highway safety.

2.6 The Highway and Transportation Section installed a camera to record street parking 
in Lewis Street.  The camera survey covered the period from approximately 11 am 
on Tuesday 24th January 2017 to 8am on Wednesday 25th January 2017.  This 
covered traffic movements and parking demand within the street for daytime and 
overnight during that period.

2.7. The camera survey indicates that for most of the time significant capacity was 
available for parking, however, there was a period from 6pm on Tuesday 24th where 
additional demand took place and subsequent footage indicated parking congestion 
up until 9:30 pm, when cars then began to disperse.  This would appear to be 
attributable to people attending the Church and vehicles were gone by 10pm.  The 
street remained relatively quiet with significant spare capacity for the remainder of 
the night continuing into the morning where the last footage recorded at 8am showed 
spare capacity.

2.8. The survey, although only taken over a period of one day, demonstrates that there is 
capacity within Lewis Street for parking notwithstanding that the proposal does not 
result in a requirement for additional parking. On this basis officers have no reason to 
depart from the advice given to officers and remain of the view that the application is 
acceptable on its planning merits.

Page 108



Noise, Nuisance and Disturbance

2.9 During the January 2017 committee meeting potential concerns were raised 
regarding HMOs causing noise issues over and above that of dwellinghouses and 
comments were made about consideration of providing sound proofing measures. 
Officers have further consulted with the Pollution Control Section. They confirm that 
the property is located in an area where development is exposed to relatively high 
noise levels, however, it is reasonable to attribute this to the highway network into 
Swansea near the application site. They further confirm that it would not be 
reasonable to request acoustically treated active ventilation units. Further comments 
received advise that there is no data to support the statement that HMOs cause 
more of a noise problem than non-HMOs and the same goes from HMOs causing 
less of a noise problem than non HMOs.

2.10 On the basis of the above there is no reason to conclude that the proposed HMO 
would result in noise or disturbance issues over and above that of a dwellinghouse or 
require that sound proofing works are undertaken.  

3.0 Conclusion

3.1 My original report to Planning Committee on 6th December 2016, and Committee of 
10th January 2017 recommended approval of the application and I have received no 
evidence to change this recommendation. However, it is recognised that the 
Committee may not accept my recommendation and should this be the case, any 
decision to refuse the application will need to take into account my advice given 
above and in the officer report.

3.2 Clear reasons need to be given and if members do not resolute reasons for refusal 
the application will continue to be decided as an appeal against non-determination by 
the Planning Inspectorate. Similarly if members do resolve reasons to refuse the 
application the appeal process will continue and the Authority will be required to 
produce a Written Statement documenting the evidence surrounding the reasons for 
refusing the application.

4.0 Recommendation

4.1 The application be approved in accordance with the recommendation set out in 
Appendix.

If however the Committee does not consider that the application should be approved, 
the reason(s) for refusal should take into account the advice given above.

Contact Officer: Liam Jones Extension No: 5735
Date of 
Production:

30th January 2017 Document Name: 3 Lewis Street – 
2016/1604

Page 109



APPENDIX A 
 
ITEM APPLICATION NO: 2016/1604

 WARD: St. Thomas - Bay Area

Location: 3 Lewis Street St. Thomas Swansea SA1 8BP 
 

Proposal: Change of use from residential (Class C3) to 4 bedroom HMO (Class C4) 
 

Applicant: Mr Brian Harris  
 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
POLICIES 
UDP - EV1 - Design  
New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good design. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 
 
UDP - HC5 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  
Proposals for the conversion of dwelling or non-residential properties to HMO's will be permitted 
subject to a set of defined criteria including the effect upon residential amenity; harmful 
concentration or intensification of HMO's in an area, effect upon the external appearance of the 
property and the locality; effect on local car parking and highway safety; and adequate refuse 
storage arrangements. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 
UDP - AS6 - Parking/Accessibility  
Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan 2008) 
 

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 
100023509 

Page 110



SITE HISTORY 
App Number Proposal Status Decision Date  

2016/1604 Change of use from residential 
(Class C3) to 4 bedroom HMO 
(Class C4) 

PDE  
 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
Neighbours: The application was advertised in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2012 (as amended) by neighbour notification 
letters sent to Nos. 67, 68 & 69 Sebastopol Street and Nos. 2 & 4 Lewis Street and through 
display of a site notice dated 24th August 2016. FIFTEEN LETTERS OF OBEJCTION have 
been received which are summarised as follows: 
 
1. Noise and disturbance; 
2. Antisocial behaviour including litter; 
3. Increased on-street car parking pressure; 
4. Highway safety; 
5. Health implications; 
6. Loss of community spirit and cohesion; 
7. Change in the character of the area; 
8. Loss of value of properties; and 
9. Precedent for similar development. 
 
THREE PETITIONS OF OBECTION were also received with 50, 44 and 33 signatures which 
reiterate concerns above.  
 
Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water: Request for standard condition and informative. 
 
Pollution Control Division: I have viewed the application and have the following comment to 
make: 
 
In 2012, Welsh Government carried out strategic noise mapping to meet the requirements of the 
Environmental Noise Directive (Directive 2002/49/EC) and the Environmental Noise (Wales) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended).  The maps show that the proposed development is exposed to 
noise levels in excess of 65dB LAeq,16 and 60dBLnight.  According to TAN11: Noise (1997) the 
development falls into Category C. In Category C planning permission should not normally be 
granted. Where it is considered that permission should be given, for example, because there are 
no alternative quieter sites available, conditions should be imposed to ensure a commensurate 
level of protection against noise. 
 
In this circumstance, it would not be reasonable to request acoustically treated active ventilation 
units but if during renovations the façade windows are being replaced it would be advisable for 
the applicant to contact the Division regarding any mitigation measures. 
 
Highways:  
 
The current Parking Standards allow for upto six people in a property without the need for any 
additional parking. Prior to the introduction of the C4 Classification (for between 3 and 6 
persons) in March 2016 upto six people could share without the need for planning permission. 

Page 111



 
Given that the parking standards do not reflect the new use class C4 and based on recent 
appeal decisions I do not consider that a refusal from highways could be justified at appeal 
despite my ongoing concerns regarding the cumulative impact of increasing sizes of HMO's in 
the area. 
 
As part of the HMO SPG currently being drafted a review of the existing parking standards 
which specially relate to HMO's and purpose built student accommodation will be included. This 
should be in place by March 2017and will take into account data specific to Swansea and not 
generic information for Wales as a whole. In the interim the existing SPG on parking is the 
relevant document that any Inspector would use in a Planning appeal situation. 
 
This application is for a change of use from C3 to C4 (For 4 persons) hence it is still below the 
six person threshold. 
 
No dedicated car parking is available for use by the dwelling. Parking on the street is laid out 
and is covered by the Controlled Parking Zone that exists in this and the surrounding streets. 
The HMO would be eligible for two parking permits, as would be the case if it was a single 
dwelling so there is no change in that regard.  
 
There is a rear yard area where cycle parking could be provided to mitigate for the lack of car 
parking facilities.  
 
On that basis I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to: 
1. The dwelling being used by no more than 4 persons in the interest of highway safety. 
2. Cycle Parking to be provided in accordance with details to be submitted for approval to the 
LPA, to mitigate for the lack of car parking availability. 
 
APPRAISAL: 
 
This application was initially reported to be considered at the 1 November 2016 Planning 
Committee, however, it was deferred by members for a site visit. 
 
Description 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use from residential (Class C3) to a 4 
bedroom HMO (Class C4) at No. 3 Lewis Street, St Thomas, Swansea.   
 
The existing dwelling is two storey 3-bedroom terrace property which is situated on the edge of 
the suburban area of St. Thomas in close proximity of Fabian Way and SA1 beyond. The area 
comprises rows of traditionally designed terraced properties.  
 
No external alterations are proposed and as such the proposal will have no impact on visual 
amenity. 
 
Main Issues 
 
The main issues for consideration during the determination of this application relates to the 
principle of this form of use at this location and the resultant impact of the use upon the 
residential amenities of the area and highway safety having regard for the provisions of the 
Swansea UDP and the Supplementary Planning Guidance document entitled 'Swansea Parking 
Standards'. 

Page 112



 
Principle of Use 
 
Up until March 2016 planning permission was not required for the use of a property as a HMO 
for up to 6 people and as such there has been historically a large concentration of HMO 
properties in some parts of Swansea which has happened predominately without planning 
permission being required.  
 
Following concerns raised by Local Authorities throughout Wales in respect of areas with a high 
concentration of HMOs an amendment to the Use Class Order was made introducing a 
separate C4 use for HMO properties with more than 2 people living in them. The amendment 
was made in order to safeguard the confidence of residents in areas with large numbers of 
HMOs, while at the same time protecting the rights of those people living in them.  
 
It is acknowledged that large concentrations of HMOs can bring their own problems to local 
areas, however the Local Planning Authority has not produced any evidence or Supplementary 
Planning Guidance as of yet to quantify the harm caused by the concentration of these types of 
uses. 
 
Policy HC5 of the Swansea UDP supports the conversion of dwellings to HMOs subject to 
compliance with the set criteria: 
 
(i) There would be no significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of noise, 

nuisance and/or other disturbance 
 
(ii) The development would not contribute to harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs 

in a particular area 
 
(iii) There would be no adverse effect upon the external appearance of the property and the 

character of the locality, 
 
(iv) There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway  safety, 

and 
 
(v) Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided 
 
The criteria of the above is addressed below: 
 
Would the proposal result in a significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of 
noise, nuisance and/or other disturbance? 
 
On the basis of the information provided, the proposal would result in an increase of  one 
bedroom to provide a four bedroom property. A large family could occupy the property under the 
extant lawful use of the premises and as such it is not considered that the use of the premises 
for up to 6 people as a HMO would result in an unacceptable intensification of the use of the 
building over and above what could be experienced as a dwelling house.  
 
As such, the proposed use will not result in unacceptable noise and disturbance which could 
reasonably warrant the refusal of this application. The proposal is considered to respect 
residential amenity in compliance with the provisions of Policies EV1, EV40 and HC5 of the 
Swansea UDP. 

Page 113



 
Would the development contribute to a harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in a 
particular area? 
 
In 2015, the Welsh Government commissioned a study into the impact of houses in multiple 
accommodation (HMOs) concentrations on local communities in certain areas across Wales. 
The Welsh Government identified that HMOs make an important contribution to the provision of 
housing for those unable to buy or rent smaller accommodation but the study revealed  common 
problems associated with high concentrations of HMOs including damage to social cohesion, 
difficult access to the area for owner occupiers and first time buyers, increases in anti-social 
behaviour, noise, burglary and other crime, reduction in the quality of the local environment, a 
change in the character of the area, increased pressure on parking and a reduction in provision 
of community facilities for families and children, in particular pressure on schools through falling 
rolls. The research recommended that the definition of a HMO be changed and that the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 be amended to give Local Authorities the 
power to manage the development of HMOs with fewer than seven residents, which previously 
would not have required planning permission. 
 
Following on from the change in legislation the Welsh Government published a document 
entitled 'Houses in Multiple Occupation Practice Guidance (February 2016) HMOs. Within this it 
is identified that HMOs provide a source of accommodation for certain groups which include 
students temporarily resident and individuals and/or small households unable to afford self-
contained accommodation. It further identifies the concerns, as set above, that were raised in 
the study into HMOs as well as setting out good practice measures in relation to the 
management of HMOs. 
 
From viewing the Councils own HMO register, there are currently no known HMOs along Lewis 
Street, however that is not to say that there aren't any in this location which have been used pre 
March 2016. Given the Local Planning Authority has no record of any other HMO properties on 
Lewis Street, the use of this property as a HMO would not result in a harmful concentration of 
HMOs in this particular area.  
 
In the absence of a percentage or other similar calculation based approach, it is difficult to 
determine what number of HMOs in an area would constitute a 'harmful concentration'. Given 
there are limited numbers of HMOs in this area, without empirical evidence it is regarded that 
this is not a harmful concentration such that it complies with the aims of this criterion. 
 
In support of the Councils position on this matter regard needs to be had for a recent appeal 
decision at No 8 Alexander Terrace (Ref: 2016/0873). The application was refused by Members 
contrary to Officer recommendation for the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposal, in combination with existing Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) within 

Alexandra Terrace will result in a harmful concentration and intensification of HMOs in 
the street and wider area. This cumulative impact  will result in damage to the 
character of the area and social cohesion with higher levels of transient residents and 
fewer long term households and established families. Such impact will lead in the long 
term to communities which are not balanced and self-sustaining. As a result the proposal 
is contrary to Policy HC5 criterion (ii) of the Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008) 
and the National Policy aims set out in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 8 January 2016) of 
creating sustainable and inclusive mixed communities. 

Page 114



 
2.  Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that additional off-street car 

parking provision can be provided within the site curtilage to serve the use of the property 
as a HMO. Accordingly the proposal, for up to 6 residents, would increase the demand 
for on-street parking in an already congested area and as such would be detrimental to 
the existing residents / car owners and the free flow of traffic, contrary to the 
requirements of Policy HC5 criterion (iv) and Policy AS6 of the Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan (2008). 

 
Whilst the Inspector acknowledged the transient nature of multiple occupancy dwellings, the 
percentage of properties under an existing HMO licence amounting to 42% in the street and 
noted the evidence submitted in relation to age and economic profiles and household tenure, 
she concluded that there was no detailed evidence before her to demonstrate that the resulting 
property would be occupied by students or that its change of use would materially alter existing 
social structures and patterns. 
 
Furthermore it was felt that the proposed use would clearly serve to meet a particular housing 
need and the surrounding area offers a broad mix of uses. For these reasons the Inspector did 
not consider that the appeal proposal would run counter to the objectives of securing a 
sustainable mixed use community. 
 
Additionally, whilst it was felt the development resulted in an increased population density, the 
site is sustainably located and provides accommodation that would be suitable for students or 
young professionals studying or working nearby. Whilst the Inspector acknowledged the 
concerns raised about the occupancy fluctuations during the summer months, she did not 
consider it would have a significant adverse effect on the local community particularly as many 
students remain in the local area to undertake seasonal jobs or volunteering activities and many 
people living in the local area will similarly take family holidays at this time. On this basis the 
appeal was allowed. 
 
There would be no significant adverse effect on local car parking and highway safety 
 
No dedicated car parking is available for use by the dwelling. Parking on the street is laid out but 
is not restricted. There is a rear yard area where cycle parking could be provided to mitigate for 
the lack of car parking facilities. In view of the above, the Head of Transportation and 
Engineering has recommended that no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to: 
 
1. The dwelling being used by no more than 4 persons in the interest of highway safety; and  
 
2. Cycle parking to be provided in accordance with details to be submitted for approval to 

the LPA, to mitigate for the lack of car parking availability. 
 
Appropriate refuse storage arrangements can be provided 
 
An area for bin storage is proposed to the rear of the property.   
 
Response to Consultations 
 
Notwithstanding the above, fifteen letters of objection have been received and three petitions of 
objection which raised concerns relating to noise and disturbance, local car parking and 
highway safety and the concentration or intensification of HMOs in the area. The issues 
pertaining to which have been addressed above.  

Page 115



 
Issues in respect of antisocial behaviour including noise and the management of refuse 
collection are covered under separate legislation via Environmental Health or the Police and as 
such cannot be taken into consideration during the determination of this application. With regard 
to concerns in respect of impact of the proposal on health and loss of value of properties, these 
issues are not material planning considerations. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is considered that the Local Authority has no evidence to suggest that the use of this property 
as HMO would result in a harmful concentration of HMOs within this area. Furthermore the 
proposal would have an acceptable impact upon the visual amenities of the area, the residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties and highway safety having regard for the provisions of 
Policies EV1, AS6 and HC5 of the Swansea UDP and approval is recommended. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the date of 

this decision. 
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990. 
 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: block plan, site location plan received on 10th August 2016. Existing and 
approved floor plans, dated 22nd August 2016.  

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 
 
3 Details of facilities for the secure and undercover storage of four cycles and storage of 

refuse shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the beneficial use of the development and 
shall thereafter be retained for the approved use and not used for any other purpose. 

 Reason: In the interests of providing facilities for sustainable transport, highway safety 
and general amenity. 

 
4 No more than four residents shall live at the property, as part of the HMO hereby 

approved, at any one time.  
 Reason: In order to control the density of the development, in line with the proposal, 

having regard to the scale of the existing use and parking provision within the locality. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that may be 

required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
2 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and County 

of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the 
consideration of the application: EV1, HC5 and AS6. 

 
 

Page 116



Report of the Head of Planning and City Regeneration

Planning Committee – 10th January 2017

PLANNING APPLICATION REF: 2016/1604

Change of use from residential (Class C3) to HMO for 4 people (Class C4)

3 Lewis Street, St Thomas Swansea SA1 8BP

1.0 Background

1.1 This application was reported to Planning Committee on the 6th December 
2016 with the recommendation that planning permission be approved subject 
to conditions. Members did not accept the recommendation but resolved that 
the application be deferred under the two stage voting process so that they 
could seek further advice and guidance with respect formulating a reason(s) 
for refusing the development. The application will not be deemed to be 
refused unless and until reasons for refusal have been recorded and 
approved by Members.

1.2 In reaching a decision Members will need to consider advice on the award of 
costs in planning appeals in Welsh Officer Circular 23/93 : ‘Award of Costs 
incurred in Planning and other (including Compulsory Purchase Order) 
Proceeding’. The circular states that Planning Authorities are not bound to 
adopt, or include as part of their case, the professional or technical advice 
given by their own officers, or received from statutory bodies or consultees. 
However, they will be expected to show they had reasonable planning 
grounds for taking a decision contrary to such advice, and be able to produce 
relevant evidence to support the decision. If they fail to do so, costs may be 
awarded against the Authority.

1.3 A copy of the report to Planning Committee on 6th December 2016 is attached 
as Appendix A.

2.0 Main Issues

2.1 Members did not formulate clear grounds for refusing the application at the 
committee meeting, however, comments are made below on the various key 
material planning considerations that need to be taken into account in this 
instance having specific regard to the criteria of Policy HC5 of the City and 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. There are no external physical 
alterations proposed so in this instance the main material planning 
considerations are noise, nuisance and disturbance, the concentration and 
intensity of HMO’s in the area, car parking and refuse arrangements. More 
detailed comment is provided in each of the sub-headings below.

Noise, Nuisance and Disturbance

2.2 As documented in the officer report the proposal would result in the increase 
of one bedroom to provide a four bedroom property. A large family could 
occupy the property under the lawful use, and the number of bedrooms could 
be increased to four without requiring planning permission. 

Page 117



There is no evidence before the Authority to suggest that the level of noise, 
nuisance  and disturbance associated with the proposed use as a HMO, for 
use for up to four persons, would generate significant noise, nuisance or 
disturbance over and above that of a family home. As a result officers do not 
consider that refusal of the application on this basis could be warranted. The 
Police and the Councils Environmental Health Department have the power to 
tackle antisocial behaviour and other noise related issues. If Members 
disagree with this and take a view that the change of use would result in harm 
to amenity particularly by virtue of noise and disturbance evidence will need to 
provided in order to demonstrate this harm. Policy HC5 criteria (i) is of 
relevance and members will need to demonstrate that there would be a 
significant adverse effect upon residential amenity by virtue of noise, nuisance 
and/or other disturbance to justify refusal on this basis. 

2.3 Concentration and Intensity of HMO’s 

There are no existing known HMO’s along Lewis Street and so it would not be 
possible to argue that the introduction of a new single four bedroom HMO 
would result in a harmful concentration or intensification of HMOs in the area 
under the provisions of Policy HC5 criteria (ii). There is no evidence to 
suggest that approval of this application would result in any material harm on 
this basis.  Whilst the formulisation of a Supplementary Planning Guidance 
document for HMOs may impose percentage restrictions on the number of 
HMOs in areas, it is not considered reasonable to impose a blanket ban upon 
them within specific areas. It should be recognised that HMOs provide a 
valuable and important contribution towards the provision of affordable 
housing.

Car Parking and Highway Safety

2.4 With regard car parking, it is clear that there is no off-street dedicated car 
parking available for use by the HMO given the terraced nature of the property 
with no rear parking provision. Similarly, however, there is no off-street car 
parking available for the existing dwellinghouse. Parking on the street is laid 
out and restricted as a Controlled Parking Zone. The Adopted SPG Parking 
Standards does not seek additional parking provision for small scale HMOs 
given that there would be a requirement for 3 parking spaces for the existing 3 
bedroom property and 3 spaces for up to 6 sharing as part of a HMO. The 
Highway Authority has been consulted and raised no objection to the 
application and conditions have been suggested to control the number of 
persons residing as part of the HMO to 4 and for cycle parking provision.

2.5. Should members take a contrary view to officers and consider that the 
application is not acceptable on grounds of car parking and highway safety 
clear evidence would need to be provided to justify a reason for refusal and 
departing from adopted parking standards. 

Refuse Arrangements

2.3 A sufficient level of space in which to provide refuse storage can be provided 
to the rear of the property and this can be adequately controlled via an 
appropriately worded condition. There is no evidence to suggest that the use 
of the property as a HMO for up to four people would generate specific refuse 
issues over and above the extant use of the property as a residential property. 
There are powers under Environmental Health legislation to control the 
management of such properties in this respect.Page 118



3.0 Conclusion

3.1 My original report to Planning Committee on 6th December 2016 
recommended approval of the application and I have received no evidence to 
change this recommendation. However, it is recognised that the Committee 
may not accept my recommendation and should this be the case, any 
decision to refuse the application will need to take into account my advice 
given above and in the officer report.

4.0 Recommendation

4.1 The application be approved in accordance with the recommendation set out 
in Appendix.

If however the Committee does not consider that the application should be 
approved, the reason(s) for refusal should take into account the advice given 
above.

Contact Officer: Ryan Thomas Extension No: 5731
Date of 
Production:

22nd December 2016 Document Name: 3 Lewis Street – 
2016/1604

Page 119



Report of the Head of Planning and City Regeneration

Planning Committee – 7 February 2017

PLANNING APPEAL DECISION ITEM REPORT

PLANNING APPLICATION REF: 2016/1268 
PLANNING APPEAL REF: APP/B6855/A/16/3157365

Side extension and alterations to roof of existing commercial premises
Former Century Works At Frederick Place, Llansamlet

1.0 Background

1.1 Planning permission was granted for a two storey side extension and roof alterations 
at the premises on 19th October 2015 (ref: 2015/0915). The applicant subsequently 
commenced the development prior to discharging the relevant conditions and 
constructed a larger extension on the same footprint as that previously approved. 
Several residents contacted the Council which resulted in an enforcement 
investigation and subsequently the submission of this retrospective application. 

1.1 The application, seeking planning permission for the erection of a side extension and 
alterations to roof of existing commercial premises, was validated by the Council on 
23rd June 2016. The application was recommended for approval subject to 
conditions by officers, although given there was a call in request, and receipt of a 
petition in excess of 30 signatures, it was required to be reported to the 2nd August 
2016 Planning Committee for decision.

1.2 At the committee meeting Members did not accept the officer recommendation citing 
concerns relating to the impact of the proposal on residential amenity and visual 
amenity. 

1.3 The application was refused  by the Council for the following reasons by decision 
notice dated 11th August 2016:

1.  The proposal, by virtue of its scale, massing and design in close proximity to the 
rear of properties on Peniel Green Road would have a significant detrimental impact 
on the residential amenity of the occupiers of the those properties. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policies EV1 and EC3 of the Adopted City and County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008).

2. The proposal, by virtue of its scale and design would have a detrimental impact on 
the character of the host building and the surrounding area, to the detriment of the 
visual amenities of the area. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies EV1 and 
EC3 of the Adopted City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008).

2.0 Planning Appeal

2.1 Following the decision of the Council to refuse planning permission for the proposal 
the applicant appealed to the Planning Inspectorate (‘PINS’) which was lodged as a 
valid appeal on 21st September 2016.

2.2 The appeal was considered by an independent Planning Inspector appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers and was allowed on 10th January 2017. A copy of the appeal 
decision is appended to this report. Page 120

Agenda Item 8



2.3 To summarise the issues the inspector considered that the appeal raised two main 
issues and these were considered to be:

 The living conditions of neighbouring occupants; and 

 The character and appearance of the area 

The living conditions of neighbouring occupants

3.4 The Inspector noted that Nos 244 and 246 Peniel Green Road lie closer to the 
development than other properties and lack visual screening. However, the Inspector 
considered that the northern elevation of the extension was some distance from the 
dwellings and the pitched roof form of the extension significantly offsets its scale and 
bulk. The Inspector considered the distances are sufficient to avoid significant 
overbearing on the adjacent properties or a material reduction in sunlight or daylight. 
It was further considered that there would be no actual overlooking from four high 
level windows and any perception of overlooking could be overcome by a condition 
requiring obscure glazing. 

3.5 In order to prevent the use of the extended building impacting on residential amenity, 
the Inspector imposed a condition restricting hours of operation. In addition, 
conditions were attached requiring details of any external lighting and CCTV to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  

3.6 The Inspector concluded on this issue that, subject to conditions, the development 
accords with the objective of UDP Policies EV1 and EC3.

The character and appearance of the area 

3.7 The inspector noted that whilst predominantly residential in character, the immediate 
area has a varied appearance and the light industrial buildings of the appeal site sit 
within this varied context. In nearby views from Frederick Place the comparatively 
low level of the appeal site reduces the prominence of the existing structures. 
Viewed from the south and west, the two storey pitched roof element further screens 
the partially-completed side extension and, similarly, would conceal views of the 
proposed raised roof of the rear manufacturing wing. Whilst the side extension is 
readily visible from near to the road junction, and glimpsed views can be obtained 
from Peniel Green Road, its height and form is not dissimilar to other buildings 
nearby. The appeal scheme would therefore not unacceptably increase the visual 
prominence of the site and would accord with the design objectives of UDP policies 
EV1 and EC3 and reflect the guidance in  TAN 12.

4.0 Consideration of the issues

4.1 Each planning application must be considered on its own merits having regard to the 
development plan; however, relevant appeal decisions can be material 
considerations and can therefore be given weight in the determination of individual 
planning applications. 

4.2 The decision indicates that where conditions can make a development acceptable, 
an application should be approved with the necessary conditions attached. Members 
should be aware that when an application is determined at an appeal, an Inspector 
may take a more lenient view than the Local Planning Authority and conditions may 
not be as restrictive as considered necessary. In this case, the condition in relation to 
hours of operation allows a greater degree of use than the condition that was 
attached to the original planning application for the site. Page 121



The original condition stated that no machinery could be operated, no process 
carried out and no deliveries taken at or dispatched from the site outside the hours of 
08.00 hours to 18.00 hours weekdays and 08.00 to 12.00 hours on Saturdays, and 
these activities could not take place on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. The new 
condition, whilst reducing the hours the extension could be used on weekdays, does 
not prevent use on Saturday afternoons, Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.  

5.0 Recommendation

5.1 The appeal decision be noted.

Contact Officer: Ian Davies Extension No: 5714
Date of 
Production:

27th January 2017 Document Name: Appeal Report – Century 
Works

Page 122



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 04/01/17 Site visit made on 04/01/17 

gan Paul Selby  BEng (Hons) MSc 
MRTPI 

by Paul Selby  BEng (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 10.01.2017 Date: 10.01.2017 

  

Appeal Ref: APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

Site address: Works, Frederick Place, Llansamlet, Swansea SA7 9RY 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 
appointed Inspector. 

· The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant planning permission. 

· The appeal is made by Lakeside Window Systems Ltd against the decision of City and County of 
Swansea Council. 

· The application Ref 2016/1268, dated 17 June 2016, was refused by notice dated 11 August 
2016. 

· The development is Side extension and alterations to roof of existing commercial premises. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for Side extension and 
alterations to roof of existing commercial premises at Works, Frederick Place, 
Llansamlet, Swansea SA7 9RY, in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 
2016/1268, dated 17 June 2016, subject to the conditions set out in the schedule to 
this decision letter. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The development has been partially completed. Notwithstanding the description of 
development given in the planning application, I have considered the appeal on the 
basis that it seeks retrospective planning permission for Side extension and alterations 
to roof of existing commercial premises. 

3. Based on the submitted materials and from what I saw on my site visit it is clear that 
the existing building has been vacant for some time. It is nevertheless common 
ground that the existing lawful use on the site appears to be for light industrial and 
storage purposes under Use Classes B1 and B8. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are the effect of the development on: a) the living conditions of 
neighbouring occupants, with particular regard to overlooking, overbearing and 
overshadowing; and b) the character and appearance of the area. 

Page 123



Appeal Decision APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

 

 

    2 

 

Reasons 

5. The appeal relates to land fronting Frederick Place, from which vehicular access is 
obtained, and situated north of the railway line and Llansamlet railway station and to 
the rear of properties on Peniel Green Road. The site accommodates a vacant light 
industrial building complex comprising two and single storey pitched roofed structures 
and more recent flat roofed insertions. A newly built extension lies partially completed 
within a side courtyard. Block walls of varying height mark the northern boundary of 
the site, beyond which lie mature trees and shrubs within the neighbouring gardens. 

Living conditions 

6. Whilst the partially-completed side extension has been constructed as per the 
submitted details of the appeal scheme, the footprint is the same as that already 
permitted under planning permission ref: 2015/0915. The appeal scheme would 
increase the eaves height of the permitted side extension by around 1 metre and 
would feature high-level windows in the northern and southern elevations. Four of 
these windows would face onto the side courtyard and across the site boundary 
towards the residential properties on Peniel Green Road. 

7. The dwellings to the east of the adjacent substation are some distance from the side 
extension and largely screened by mature trees and shrubs. However, Nos 244 and 
246 Peniel Green Road lie closer to the side extension on land slightly lower than the 
appeal site, and lack visual screening. Nevertheless, I saw that the northern elevation 
of the extension lies some distance from the neighbouring dwellings. Despite the 
increased eaves and ridge height, the pitched roof form significantly offsets its scale 
and bulk when viewed from the north. Whilst the extension is somewhat higher and 
wider than other nearby residential buildings, and its location to the south of the 
neighbouring dwellings would be likely to result in some overshadowing following 
completion, the distances are sufficient to avoid significant overbearing on the 
adjacent properties or a material reduction in the amount of sunlight or daylight within 
the gardens when compared to the permitted scheme. 

8. Views between habitable room windows in the adjacent dwellings and the four north-
facing windows in the side extension would be possible. However, given that the sills 
of the four high level windows would be substantially above floor level, there would be 
no actual overlooking, and any perception of overlooking would be adequately 
mitigated by a condition requiring the installation of obscure glazing.  

9. The necessity of these high-level windows has been questioned by some. From what I 
saw on my site visit the windows would increase the amount of light internally and 
thus assist in maximising the operational use of the building. Whilst I do not dispute 
that rooflights may achieve similar, I must determine the scheme on the basis of the 
submitted plans. Given the eaves height and position of the windows in both 
elevations, opportunities to insert a mezzanine floor would be substantially limited, 
but even were the building to be modified internally, obscure glazed and non-openable 
windows would secure an appropriate level of privacy for adjacent residents. 

10. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential impacts of a manufacturing 
operation on the living conditions of neighbours, in particular in relation to potential 
noise and disturbance, but also from security measures including floodlighting and 
CCTV. Whilst the appeal scheme would result in only a modest increase in the volume 
of the already permitted buildings on the site, and no increase in floorspace, the use 
of the extended building during the early morning or into the late evening would have 

Page 124



Appeal Decision APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

 

 

    3 

 

the potential to affect the living conditions of nearby residents. A condition restricting 
the hours of operation of the use would, however, satisfactorily mitigate any harmful 
impacts in this regard. Whilst the security of the site would be improved by it being 
brought back into use, due to the increased height of the side extension and in the 
interests of protecting the living conditions of neighbouring residents I consider it 
necessary to impose a condition requiring the location of external lighting and CCTV to 
be agreed with the local planning authority. 

11. For these reasons, subject to the conditions referred to above I conclude that the 
appeal development would accord with the design and amenity objectives of policies 
EV1 and EC3 of the Swansea Unitary Development Plan (UDP). 

Character and appearance 

12. Whilst predominantly residential in character, the immediate area has a varied 
appearance, featuring a range of types and styles of houses interspersed with other 
buildings of various heights, materials and forms. The light industrial buildings of the 
appeal site sit within this varied context, within the confines of the railway cutting. 

13. At the site frontage, Frederick Place rises towards the south on a concrete 
embankment prior to crossing the railway line. In nearby views from Frederick Place 
the comparatively low level of the appeal site reduces the prominence of the existing 
structures. Viewed from the south and west, the two storey pitched roof element 
further screens the partially-completed side extension and, similarly, would conceal 
views of the proposed raised roof of the rear manufacturing wing. Whilst the side 
extension is readily visible from near to the road junction, and glimpsed views can be 
obtained from Peniel Green Road, its height and form is not dissimilar to other 
buildings nearby. The appeal scheme would therefore not unacceptably increase the 
visual prominence of the site. 

14. Furthermore, the pitched roof of the side extension, whilst around 2 metres higher to 
the ridge than the permitted monopitch roof, more appropriately reflects the form of 
the older structures on the appeal site and the architectural styles of the immediate 
locality. Consequently, despite the increased height, the appeal scheme would 
represent an improvement in the coherence of the light industrial complex as a whole 
and would better reflect the prevailing context. For these reasons I conclude that the 
appeal development would accord with the design objectives of UDP policies EV1 and 
EC3, and would reflect the guidance set out in Technical Advice Note 12 – Design. 

Other Matters 

15. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential traffic generation arising from the 
appeal scheme and related impacts on highway and pedestrian safety, with anecdotal 
evidence of accidents near to the junction of Peniel Green Road and Frederick Place 
being cited. I saw on my site visit that Peniel Green Road accommodates a high 
volume of traffic, and the presence of bus stops, a railway station and community 
facilities in the area generates a reasonable amount of pedestrian traffic. Traffic lights, 
however, assist in the safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians at the intersection 
with Frederick Place. Despite the close proximity of the appeal site access to the 
junction, there is good visibility into, and for, oncoming traffic, and adequate space 
within the site for delivery and service vehicles to manoeuvre and turn. Double yellow 
lines outside the site would assist in deterring ad-hoc parking on the street arising 
from the use of the appeal development. The Highways Authority has not raised any 
objections and, subject to an appropriate condition to secure staff and visitor parking 

Page 125



Appeal Decision APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

 

 

    4 

 

and adequate space for delivery and service vehicles, I also consider that the 
increased volume of the buildings for mixed B1/B8 use would not materially affect the 
safety of pedestrians and highway users. Whilst I note the concerns of residents that 
the building could host a showroom for products manufactured on the site, anything 
beyond an ancillary use would require planning permission.  

16. Measures to deal with surface water run-off are indicated on the submitted plans. I 
note that the statutory bodies have not raised any objections in this regard, but a 
previous condition requiring details of drainage to be agreed with the Council was not 
discharged prior to construction commencing. Subject to securing the sustainable 
drainage of the site via a condition, I consider the appeal scheme to be acceptable. 

17. As the already-constructed and proposed extensions represent a relatively minor 
change to the existing buildings on the site, I consider that the appeal scheme would 
not result in any unacceptable impacts on species or natural habits.  

18. A railway tunnel runs beneath the site and there are mineworks in the vicinity, but I 
note that no objections have been raised by the statutory bodies in this regard, with 
the Coal Authority indicating that it is satisfied with the conclusions of the Site 
Investigation Report. Whilst I do not dispute that the site accommodates steep 
changes in ground levels at its periphery and that the culvert may funnel winds, from 
what I saw on site there did not appear to be any overriding reasons why the 
extensions could not be completed satisfactorily and safely. In any event, structural 
details, including foundations, would be subject to Building Regulations.  

19. Concerns have been raised in relation to airborne pollution and potential fire risks, but 
detailed matters concerning the use or handling of pollutants and harmful substances 
such as asbestos are covered by separate legislation and I afford them limited weight. 
I note the reference to a potential boundary dispute, but that is a private matter and I 
have not had regard to it. Similarly, I have not afforded weight to potential effects on 
property values as that is not a relevant planning consideration. Comments have also 
been made regarding the blocking up of a public right of way but that is subject to 
separate legislation and is not before me. 

20. I understand the concerns of local residents regarding the construction of an extension 
for which there was no planning permission. Nevertheless, the appellant is able to 
make a retrospective application to regularise the breach of planning control. From 
what I saw on site, it appeared to me that the dimensions and siting of the half-built 
extension reflected the drawings, but irrespective of this I have based my decision on 
the details set out in the submitted plans and the merits of the scheme. 

21. I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG 
Act). In reaching my decision, I have taken into account the ways of working set out 
at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I consider that this decision is in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the 
Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

Conditions 

22. Other than the standard plans condition, which is necessary in the interests of proper 
planning, other conditions have been suggested to which I have had regard. 

Page 126



Appeal Decision APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

 

 

    5 

 

23. A condition requiring the installation of obscure glazed, unopenable high level windows 
within the northern elevation is necessary to avoid perceived overlooking and 
adequately protect the privacy of neighbouring residents. Also in the interests of the 
residential amenity, conditions are necessary to limit the hours of operation of the 
use, and to secure floodlighting and CCTV according to pre-agreed details. 

24. A condition requiring the use of matching materials in the external surfaces of the 
permitted buildings is necessary in the interests of the character and appearance of 
the area. To ensure an adequate standard of highway and pedestrian safety, I have 
imposed a condition to provide and maintain manoeuvring space for vehicles and an 
appropriate level of visitor and staff car parking in accordance with the submitted 
plans. In order to secure acceptable site drainage, it is necessary to impose a 
condition requiring the submission of details of a sustainable drainage scheme and/or 
other measures to deal with surface water and land drainage, with tests for the 
proposed soakaway carried out in accordance with recognised standards. 

Conclusion 

25. For the reasons given above, and having regard to all other matters raised, I conclude 
that the appeal should be allowed. 

 

Paul Selby 

INSPECTOR 

 

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 

 

1) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: Site Location Plan; Proposed Layout; Front Parking Area; 
Rear Parking and Turning Area; Proposed Ground Floor Extension; Proposed 
Front Elevation; Proposed Rear Elevation; Proposed Side Station; Proposed Side 
Courtyard; Proposed Site Station Side. 

2) Prior to the first beneficial use of the extension hereby permitted, the top row of 
windows on the northern elevation (facing the courtyard) shall be fitted with 
obscure glazing and shall be unopenable, and shall be retained as such for the 
lifetime of the development. 

3) The use shall not be carried out outside the hours of 08:00 to 16:30. 

4) Prior to the first beneficial use of the extension hereby permitted, details of 
locations for CCTV cameras and security lighting shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, and retained as approved 
thereafter. 

5) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
extension shall match those used in the existing building. 

6) Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby permitted, space shall 
be laid out within the site in accordance with drawings ‘Front Parking Area’ and 

‘Rear Parking and Turning Area’ for cars to be parked, for the loading and 
unloading of vehicles, and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave 

Page 127



Appeal Decision APP/B6855/A/16/3157365 

 

 

    6 

 

the site in forward gear, and shall thereafter be kept available for such purposes 
for the lifetime of the development. 

7) Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby permitted, full details 
of a scheme for the comprehensive and integrated drainage of the site showing 
how surface water and land drainage will be dealt with shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. This scheme shall include 
details of a sustainable drainage system for surface water drainage and/or 
details of any connections to a surface water drainage network. Details should 
include the results of soakaway tests carried out in strict accordance with BRE 
Digest 365 or the equivalent CIRIA document. The development shall not be 
brought into beneficial use until the works have been completed in accordance 
with the approved drainage scheme, and this scheme shall be retained and 
maintained as approved thereafter. 

Page 128



Report of the Interim Head of Legal & Democratic Services

Planning Committee – 7 February 2017

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

Purpose: To consider whether the Public should be excluded from 
the following items of business.

Policy Framework: None.

Reason for Decision: To comply with legislation.

Consultation: Legal.

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that:
1) The public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 

item(s) of business on the grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as set out in the Paragraphs listed below of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007 subject 
to the Public Interest Test (where appropriate) being applied.
Item No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A

10 17

Report Author: Democratic Services

Finance Officer: Not Applicable

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith – Interim Head of Legal & Democratic 
Services (Monitoring Officer)

1. Introduction

1.1 Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, allows a 
Principal Council to pass a resolution excluding the public from a meeting 
during an item of business.

1.2 Such a resolution is dependant on whether it is likely, in view of the nature of 
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members 
of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to them 
of exempt information, as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 
1972.

2. Exclusion of the Public / Public Interest Test

2.1 In order to comply with the above mentioned legislation, Cabinet will be 
requested to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
item(s) of business identified in the recommendation(s) to the report on the 
grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
set out in the Exclusion Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

2.2 Information which falls within paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 18 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended is exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

2.3 The specific Exclusion Paragraphs and the Public Interest Tests to be applied 
are listed in Appendix A.

2.4 Where paragraph 16 of the Schedule 12A applies there is no public interest 
test.  Councillors are able to consider whether they wish to waive their legal 
privilege in the information, however, given that this may place the Council in a 
position of risk, it is not something that should be done as a matter of routine.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 The legislative provisions are set out in the report.

4.2 Councillors must consider with regard to each item of business set out in 
paragraph 2 of this report the following matters:

4.2.1 Whether in relation to that item of business the information is capable of being 
exempt information, because it falls into one of the paragraphs set out in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended and reproduced 
in Appendix A to this report.

4.2.2 If the information does fall within one or more of paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 
18 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended,  the 
public interest test as set out in paragraph 2.2 of this report.

4.2.3 If the information falls within paragraph 16 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 in considering whether to exclude the public members 
are not required to apply the public interest test but must consider whether 
they wish to waive their privilege in relation to that item for any reason.

Background Papers:  None.
Appendices:               Appendix A – Public Interest Test.

Page 130



Appendix A

Public Interest Test

No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A
12 Information relating to a particular individual.

The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 12 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that to 
make this information public would disclose personal data relating to an 
individual in contravention of the principles of the Data Protection Act.  
Because of this and since there did not appear to be an overwhelming public 
interest in requiring the disclosure of personal data he felt that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining 
the public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the 
public from this part of the meeting.

13 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 13 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that 
the individual involved was entitled to privacy and that there was no overriding 
public interest which required the disclosure of the individual’s identity.  On that 
basis he felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked to consider 
this factor when determining the public interest test, which they must decide 
when considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting.

14 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).
The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 14 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that:

a)   Whilst he was mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them in relation to 
the spending of public money, the right of a third party to the privacy of 
their financial / business affairs outweighed the need for that information to 
be made public; or

b)   Disclosure of the information would give an unfair advantage to tenderers 
for commercial contracts.

This information is not affected by any other statutory provision which requires 
the information to be publicly registered.

On that basis he felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked 
to consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they 
must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the 
meeting.

Page 131



No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A
15 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 

contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the 
Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.
The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 15 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that 
whilst he is mindful of the need to ensure that transparency and accountability 
of public authority for decisions taken by them he was satisfied that in this case 
disclosure of the information would prejudice the discussion in relation to 
labour relations to the disadvantage of the authority and inhabitants of its area.  
On that basis he felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked 
to consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they 
must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the 
meeting.

16 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings.
No public interest test.

17 Information which reveals that the authority proposes:
(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment.
The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 17 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by the public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis he felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting. 

18 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime
The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 18 should apply.  His view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis he felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting.

Page 132



Document is Restricted

Page 133

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 17 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes.
	5 Application to Register Land at Tirmynydd Road, Three Crosses, Swansea as a Town or Village Green.
	village green append a
	village green append b
	village green append c

	6 Determination of Planning Applications under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.
	CONTENTS PAGE - 7TH FEBRUARY 2017
	05.2 - Two Stage Voting UPDATED
	SCHEDULE - 7TH FEBRUARY 2017

	7 Planning Application 2016/1604 - 3 Lewis Street, St Thomas, Swansea.
	Appendix A - 2016 1604 - 3 Lewis Street
	10.01.17 - Lewis Street Item Report

	8 Former Century Works - Appeal Decision.
	appeal decision century works

	9 Exclusion of the Public.
	10 Enforcement Action.

